Council Meeting Agenda

December 6, 2021
6:00 p.m.

Call to Order and INVOCation .....coouiiiiiiieee e Mayor Ed Hooks
Report of the Election Results and
Acceptance by City COUNCIl c..ovvvviiiiiiiiiicee e, Stephanie Shaw, City Clerk
Swearing in of Elected Officials-
a. Councilmember Elect Tim Bradley ......coovovivieiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee e, Mrs. Shaw
b. Councilmember Elect Jonathan White ..........cccooiiiiii Mrs. Shaw
c. Councilmember Elect Montrena Hadley ..........ccccooovviiin, Judge Larry Brown, Jr.
Appointment of Mayor Pro-Tem . ..., Mayor
Recognition of Outgoing Councilmembers Everette Greene
AN JIHT AUITOTT oo Mavyor
PUDIC COMMEBNES v, Mavyor
CONSENT ABENUA 1 oo Mayor
a. Approval of Minutes- November 1, 2021
b. Encroachment- 104 S. Fourth Street
c. Final Plat- The Villas on Fifth, Phase 3A
d. 2022 Regular Meetings and FY 2022-2023 Budget Calendar
e. Council Meeting Procedure- Amendment- Post Covid
2020-21 Financial Statements and Audit ...................... Daphna Schwartz, Finance Director

Patricia Rhodes, Stout Stuart McGowen & King LLP

AJOUIMIMENT L., Mayor



2021 MUNICIPAL ELECTION
11/02/2021
ABSTRACT OF VOTES
FOR

ALAMANCE COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA

INSTRUCTIONS

The county board shall prepare abstracts of all the ballot items in triplicate originals. The county board shall retain one of the
triplicate originals, and shall distribute one each to the city or town clerk for the municipality and the State Board of Elections. The
State Board of Elections shall forward the original abstract it receives to the Secretary of State {(GS § 163-182.6)

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF ALAMANCE

The County Board of Elections for said county, having opened, canvassed, and judicially determined the original returns of the
election in the precincts in this county, held as above stated, do hereby certify that the attached is a true abstract thereof, and
contains the number of legal ballots cast in each precinct for each office or referendum named, the name of each person or

choice voted for, their party affiliation (where applicable), and the number of votes cast for each person or choice for the item
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This is the 9th day of November, 2021.

Board Secretary Boa

, Chairman of the County Board of

true and correct, according to the returns
made to sald Board.

IN TESTIMONY WHERKOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed my notarial seal this the 9th day of November, 2021.

/
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official Si Signature of Netary Publ;c Prmted/Typed Name of Notary Public

' ‘ DAWN R HURDLE \
My Commission Expires: L/’ /7 —,,’200'2 'I/ , NOTARY PUBUC E
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2021 MUNICIPAL ELECTION
11/02/2021
ABSTRACT OF VOTES
FOR

ORANGE COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA

INSTRUCTIONS

The county board shall prepare abstracts of all the ballot items in triplicate originals. The county board shall retain one of the
triplicate originals, and shall distribute one each to the city or town clerk for the municipality and the State Board of Elections. The
_ State Board of Elections shall forward the original abstract it receives to the Secretary of State (GS § 163-182.6)

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF ORANGE

“The County Board of Elections for said county, having opened, canvassed, and judicially determined the original returns of the
- -election in the precincts in this county, held as above stated, do hereby certify that the attached is a true abstract thereof, and
- “contains the number of legal ballots cast in each precinct for each office or referendum named, the name of each person or

choice voted for, their party affiliation (where applicable), and the number of votes cast for each person or choice for the item
named.

This is the 9th day of November, 2021,

. . oay:d Ch |r N Bo Member

Board Secretary Board Member

This day personally appeared before me, ‘SCUY\/LL CQ?\ , Chairman of the County Board of

Elections, who being duly sworn, says the abstract of votes herein contained is true and correct, according to the returns
made to said Board.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and affixed my notarial seal this the 9th day of November, 2021.

Yasha! Porco Papn Rachel Louce Raper

Official Signature of Notary Public Printed/TypedWARQ: Public
g v \g»‘s:ew

My Commission Expires: Q / 93 / @O D(ﬂ
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City Council Meeting
Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building
Monday, November 1, 2021

The Mebane City Council met for its regular monthly meeting at 6:00 p.m., Monday, November 1,
2021 in the Council Chambers of the Glendel Stephenson Municipal Building located at 106 East
Washington Street.

Council Present: City Staff Present:

Mayor Ed Hooks City Manager Chris Rollins

Mayor Pro-Tem Jill Auditori Assistant City Manager Preston Mitchell
Councilmember Tim Bradley City Attorney Lawson Brown
Councilmember Patty Philipps Development Director Cy Stober
Councilmember Sean Ewing Recreation and Parks Director Aaron Davis
Councilmember Everette Greene Public Utilities Director Kyle Smith

City Clerk Stephanie Shaw

The meeting was livestreamed via YouTube. The video can be accessed through the following link:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8L30g39Eqsg

Mayor Hooks called the meeting to order. Mr. Bradley gave the invocation.

During the Public Comment Period, Matt Dail, Branch Manager of the Mebane Public Library,
shared library updates as follows:

e Internet upgrades as recommended by the City’s IT Director Kirk Montgomery
e New hours of operation
e Recent $500 donation by the Mebane Women'’s Club

Mr. Dail thanked Mr. Montgomery for his support and help regarding the internet upgrades and
he also thanked the Mebane Women’s Club for their generous donation.

Also, during the Public Comment Period, Mary McFarland, 307 N. Wilba Road, shared her concerns
with the recent street light change outs. She shared that In October, just outside her home, a new
led street light bulb was installed even though there was nothing wrong with the original bulb. She
said that the new light is too bright especially for a residential area and that is disturbs her sleep.
She shared a photo which showed how bright the light is during early morning hours. She said on
Clay Street there are three different types of light bulbs all casting different shades of light which
she does not understand. She feels there is too much light pollution in Mebane. She said that she
did not recall any discussion regarding changes being made to the lighting and questioned if there
is a policy in place. She concluded her comments by saying if the light change out to LED’s is being
dictated by Duke Energy, we “The City” need to tell Duke Energy what we want, not the other way
around.

Mr. Bradley shared that were discussions regarding lighting due to public safety concerns,
specifically in the area between First Streets and Wilba Road, so staff was addressing those
concerns. Ms. McFarland said she understands but there was nothing wrong with this particular
light. She said perhaps there should be other light(s) installed in the darker areas instead of
brightening existing lights. She requested that this matter be looked into further.

Carl Bradley concluded the Public Comment Period with a comment regarding the recent
Halloween Parade downtown, stating that it was a good event.

Mayor Hooks presented Consent Agenda as follows:

a. Approval of Minutes-
i. September 13, 2021 Regular Meeting
ii.  October 4, 2021 Regular Meeting
b. ABC Board Reappointment- Chip Foushee
c. Recreation Drone Policy
d. MYSA Field Use Contract Renewal for 2022-2025


https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8L30q39Eqsg

Grant Project Ordinance

Budget Ordinance, Capital Project, and Grant Project Amendment

Quarterly Financial Report

Final Plat for the Right of Way Dedication- Mebane Townes, Phases T-2, T-3, and T-4
Final Plat- Cambridge Park, Phase 2B

j. Final Plat- Summerhaven East, Phase 1

> @ =0

Ms. Auditori stated, after reviewing the proposed Recreation Drone Policy and the current FAA
drone regulations, the proposed policy felt unfriendly as is prohibits all use of drones in the parks
facilities, ball fields and any open public spaces. She cited an example of a child that may get a
drone as a gift and the child may live in an apartment so they go to a park where no one else is.
She feels it would be perfectly acceptable to fly the drone, stating that the FAA regulations already
prohibit flying of drones over groups of people or sporting events, so that regulation would take
care of any potential problems.

Recreation and Parks Director Aaron Davis said when he drafted the policy, his number one
concern was for the safety of all the patrons in the parks. He said he recently spoke with several
drone authorities which shared some new information with him and he is happy to revise the
policy and bring back to Council for consideration.

Mr. Bradley suggested that there be an approval process in place which would grant folks
permission to fly the drone.

Mr. Greene made a motion, seconded by Ms. Philipps, to approve the Consent Agenda as
presented with the removal of item c. Recreation Drone Policy. The motion carried unanimously.

ltem 3e.

Grant Project Ordinance for the City of Mebane American Rescue Plan Act of 2021:
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

BE IT ORDAINED by the city council of the City of Mebane, North Carolina that, pursuant to Section
13.2 of Chapter 159 of the General Statutes of North Carolina, the following grant project
ordinance to replace the previously established special revenue fund established on June 7, 2021,
is hereby adopted on November 1, 2021:

Section 1: This ordinance is to establish a budget for a project to be funded by the Coronavirus
State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds of H.R. 1319 American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (CSLFRF).
The City of Mebane has received the first tranche in the amount of $2,591,329 of CSLFRF funds.
The total allocation is $5,182,478, with the remainder to be distributed to the town within 12
months. These funds may be used for the following categories of expenditures, to the extent
authorized by state law.

1. Support public health expenditures, by funding COVID-19 mitigation efforts, medical expenses,
behavioral healthcare, and certain public health and safety staff;

2. Address negative economic impacts caused by the public health emergency, including economic
harms to workers, households, small businesses, impacted industries, and the public sector;

3. Replace lost public sector revenue, using this funding to provide government services to the
extent of the reduction in revenue experienced due to the pandemic;

4. Provide premium pay for essential workers, offering additional support to those who have borne
and will bear the greatest health risks because of their service in critical infrastructure sectors;
and,

5. Invest in water, sewer, and broadband infrastructure, making necessary investments to improve
access to clean drinking water, support vital wastewater and stormwater infrastructure, and to
expand access to broadband internet.



Item 3f.

BE IT ORDAIMNED by the Council of the City of Mebane that the Budget Ordinance for the Fiscal Year beginning
July 1 2021 as duly adopted on June 7, 2021, the Water Resource Recovery Facility [WRRF) Renovation
Capital Project Fund, |the WRRF Expansion Capital Project Fund, and American Rescue Flan Grant Froject Fund,

, i3 hereby amended as follows:

ARTICLE |
APPROPRIATIONS Current Budget Change Revised
Budget
Revenue Bond Debt Proceeds
WRRF Rencvation Capital Project Ordinance 57,344,176 51,557 766 58,901,942
Water and Sewe.r Fund Utility Maintenance 84,240,479 £1900000 56,140,479
(GKM Pump Station Reroute)
Water and Sewer Non-departmental
(refunding of the 2014 Graham-Mebane water plant 51,823,036 52,771,058 54 594 094
upgrade)
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds
CSLFRF Grant Project Ordinance 55,182,478 ($3,310,000) 51,872,478
WRRF Expansion Capital Project Ordinance 5925,000 53,310,000 $4,235 000
FY 2020-21 Carryforward
General Fund - Recreation and Parks 52,478,023 577,913 52 555,936
General Fund - Sanitation $1,759,477 54 500 51,763,977
Water and Sewer Fund - Engineering 5285,000 5S40 000 $325 000
ARTICLE 1l
REVEMUES Current Budget Change Revised
Budget
Revenue Bond Debt Proceeds
WRRF Renovation Capital Project Ordinance 57,344,176 51,557 766 58,501,942
Water and Sewer Fund 5123,000 54 671,058 54 794 058
Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds
CSLFRF Grant Project Ordinance 55,182,478 [53,310,000) 51,872,478
WRRF Expansion Capital Project Ordinance 5925,000 53,310,000 $4,235 000
FY 2020-21 Carryforward
Appropriated Fund Balance - General Fund 53,200,469 S82 413 53,282 882
Appropriated Fund Balance - Water and Sewer Fund 51,916,468 540,000 51,956,468

This the 1st day of November, 2021.

A public hearing was held on a request from A Samet Property LLC, is requesting to rezone a
portion of the +/- 12.69-acre unaddressed property, GPIN 9815303841, located south of Smith
Drive and Development Center Drive. Mr. Stober presented the request. He stated that the
property has been divided by the NC HWY 119 Bypass. The applicant requests to rezone the +/-
8.88-acre portion west of the right-of-way to M-2, with the remaining +/- 3.81-acre portion to the
east of the right of way to remain as R-20. This will create a split-zoned property; however, the
property owner has committed to subdividing the property accordingly. The property is currently
vacant and located within the Mebane Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction. The surrounding zoning
includes M-2, M-2, R-20, and R-12. The surrounding properties on the west side of NC 119 include
light industrial, warehouse and vacant industrial uses. The surrounding properties to the east of
NC 119 include single-family residential and vacant residential uses. The portion of the property
to be rezoned is located in the G-4 Secondary Growth Area and is adjacent to the NC 119/US 70
G-1 Mixed Use Growth Area. The proposed rezoning is consistent with the guidance provided
within Mebane By Design, the Mebane Comprehensive Land Development Plan. The proposed
rezoning will be consistent with the adjacent M-2 properties to the west of the bypass.



Josh Dry, Development Manager of Samet Corporation, 309 Gallimore Dairy Rd, Suite 102,
Greensboro, NC 27409, spoke on behalf of the applicant. Mr. Dry explained that they are only
seeking to rezone the western portion of the property to coincide with the rest of the North
Carolina Industrial Center. They have no plans to rezone the residential eastern portion.

No one from the public spoke. Mr. Greene made a motion, seconded by Ms. Philipps, to close the
public hearing. The motion carried unanimously. Ms. Philipps made a motion, seconded by Mr.
Ewing, to approve the M-2 zoning as presented and a motion to find that the application is
consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development Plan
Mebane By Design. The motion carried unanimously.

A public hearing was held on a request from various property owners for adoption of an Ordinance
to Extend the Corporate Limits. Mr. Brown spoke concerning the request. He explained that the
property is a voluntary non-contiguous annexation containing approximately 115.399 acres
located on West Ten Road in Orange County. He further explained that the property requesting
to be annexed is also the same property to be considered during the upcoming public hearing for
the Buckhorn Business Centre conditional rezoning. Mr. Brown stated, in the past, Council has
combined such matters into one public hearing and if Council desired, both of tonight’s public
hearings concerning this property could be combined, however, separate motions on each request
would still be needed, with a decision on the annexation being first.

Ms. Philipps made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing to combine the public hearings. The motion
carried unanimously.

Mr. Stober presented the request. He explained that Al. Neyer is petitioning the City for action on
fourteen parcels: rezoning of one B-2-zoned parcel in the City limits and the annexation and zoning
of thirteen (13) parcels totaling +/-128.77 acres outside the City’s ETJ in Orange County to M-2(CD)
(Light Manufacturing, Conditional) for the “Buckhorn Business Centre.” The subject properties
have frontage along US Interstates 40/85, West Ten Road, and Buckhorn Road at the intersection
with Rabbit Run. All properties within and immediately surrounding the project site are within
Orange County’s designated Buckhorn Economic Development District (BEDD). All properties
north of the project site and across the interstate corridor are zoned M-1 (Heavy Manufacturing)
by the City of Mebane. Most of the immediately surrounding properties to the east, west, and
south are zoned R-1 (Rural Residential) by Orange County. There is one property to the east that
is zoned O/RM (Office/Research and Manufacturing) by Orange County. There is also a GC-4
(General Commercial) Orange County zoning district to the southeast of the project site and has
frontage at 6405 West Ten Road. The properties to the south of West Ten Road are all in an AR
(Agricultural Residential) Orange County zoning district. A site plan showing a three-phased
development of six lots has been provided for consideration and to show the highest potential
intensity of use on the property, with a condition allowing for layout and design flexibility. The plan
calls for six lots to be developed in three phases, as well as two lots that will presently remain
undeveloped but may be developed but would have to come back for further public hearing and
Council consideration before being developed. A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was conducted for
the project with focus on the intersections at the interchange as well as Washington Street and
Buckhorn Road, Buckhorn Road and West Ten Road and West Ten Road and Bowman Road. Turn
lane requirements were found to be necessary at all entrances, including having dual turn lanes
to exit the proposed project site with continued monitoring on interchange intersections for
possible traffic lights. Also noted was a recommendation for coordination with the Petro Truck
Stop for access from Rabbit Run.

Mr. Bradley questioned whose responsibility it is to “monitor” the intersection for possible future
signalizing. Mr. Stober said a conversation with DOT would determine that responsibility. Mr.
Bradley said there are several developments that are converging on that interchange off of 1-40,
so he feels that needs to be determined sooner than later.



Justin Parker, 4509 Creedmoor Road, Suite 201, Raleigh, NC 27612, representative and Market
Leader for Al Neyer, spoke regarding the request. First, Mr. Parker gave an update for property
located at 6016 West Ten Road, announcing that Thermo Fisher Scientific will be occupying
building one on that property late Summer of 2022. He shared details about Thermo Fisher
Scientific and expressed his excitement.

Mr. Parker continued by addressing Mr. Bradley’s concerns about the monitoring the intersection
for possible signalization. He said as a condition of Council’s approval, they commit to pay for the
stop lights to be installed at that interchange to alleviate the current and future traffic operations
at that location. Mr. Parker referenced the PowerPoint slide of the illustrative site plan which
depicted a breakdown of the six (6) lots/buildings. He stated that Al. Neyer will donate Lot 1 to the
City for the construction of a future fire station. He said they will purchase and grade the land so
it is ready for the future development. He shared that they hosted a public meeting in late August
to discuss the proposed development with surrounding property owners.

Mr. Bradley said that Mr. Stober shared the building layout would be nonbinding and would be
redrawn based on the needs of the occupants but he questioned if the landscape buffering would
remain the same no matter the layout. Mr. Parker assured Council that the landscape buffering
would stay the same, stating that they are 50 feet along the interstate and 100 feet everywhere
that the development adjoins residential property, except for the northwest corner which is
related to a stream crossing and mitigating the impact on that stream.

Mr. Ewing asked if there was any opportunity to use the same drive with Petro. Mr. Parker said
yes, there is active dialog currently taking place with Petro.

Mayor called for public comments. No one present at the meeting spoke.

Mr. Brown read aloud the following three (3) comments received via email. He prefaced before
reading the comments aloud, that as far back as 1981, Orange County has designated this property
as a commercial transitional activity node.

Good evening city council. | am writing to you today in regards to the rezoning for the Buckhorn

Business Center. As | stated with the 6016 West Ten rezoning, | am aware that the Buckhorn

Business Center does lay within the planned Buckhorn Economic Development District. Therefore,

| will not object to this project outright but | truly hope that any plans that meet the approval of
city council take the local traffic and environmental impact into consideration.

| see from the traffic impact analysis that there are some added lanes that the developer plans to
put in at entrances on West Ten and Buckhorn. They seem to meet the minimum required by the
TIA. If | were a direct nejghbor of this property, | would ask whose property those road expansions
impact and if this is something that eminent domain automatically takes care of or if those property
owners get a say about what happens to their road front property.

Another traffic concern for those of us not directly next door to this site is the general increase of
tractor trailer traffic. It is already happening to me multiple times a week that tractor trailers
coming out of the truck stop are pulling in front of oncoming traffic causing the need for extreme
braking. | have spoken to other neighbors and they have experienced the same thing. This is an
already unsafe situation that | worry will get worse with more tractor trailers on the road.

As stated above tractor trailers entering Buckhorn are already a concern and we have not even
seen the effects of Medline and 6016 West Ten tractor trailer traffic. | see the TIA recommend
“monitoring” which is appreciated but | truly feel it is a bit lackluster if the city’s plans are to
continue to encourage industrial development in the BEDD. If we also factor in the new housing
developments that are creeping east on Bowman Rd, we are in for a significant increase in traffic



at the Buckhorn interchange and | hope that we can act a bit more proactively instead of waiting
for something bad to happen.

It is truly heartbreaking to see the agricultural land around me turning into an industrial area. | ask
you as someone who understands the city’s need for growth to continue to consider those of us in
this area that moved here specifically for the rural feel.

I also cannot help but bring up the environmental impact of increased traffic trailer traffic to our
green areas. We are in a climate crisis and to continue to build and develop rural land into
warehouses that feed the continuing growth of pollutants feels short sighted and frankly like a
money-making grab for those at the top at the cost of all citizens. Choosing "greener" options is
not always the instant profit an individual or city might be looking for but we will be paying a much
larger longer-term cost if we do not start to consider what we are doing to our environment instead
of how we can best line our pockets.

Thank you for your time and consideration.
Sincerely,

Fiona Johann
5016 Johann Lane
Mebane, NC 27302

* ok k

Hello, Mebane City Council,

Regarding the rezoning for the Buckhorn Business Center, | would encourage the Council to actively
study what is under consideration through the eyes and interests of the residents that live in and
around that immediate area. Decisions should be made that protect the residents’ quality of life
and contribute to the conservation of our precious rural environment within that area. Please keep
in mind that rezoning proposals that come before the Council are often driven by decisions made
based solely on optimizing profit from lifting zoning restrictions that have protected land from
environmental degradation for generations. The Council is the residents’ only hope for
representation of their families” interests and for protecting their quality of life. Buffers, noise
abatement, light pollution controls based solely on what is legislated as allowable have too often
failed to prevent the actual negative impacts and personal costs of rezoning and the opening up of
land for active commercial speculation. Traffic concerns alone should signal the need for more
study of specific plans for development in this area and for prudent restrictions brought to the table
that would protect our neighbors'interests. The Mebane City Council is their only voice at the table.
Please represent their concerns.

Thank you.
John Dempsey

Kk Kk

Good evening, City Council members,

I am writing to you to ask that you consider the impact of the Buckhorn Business Center upon the
rural environment of Alamance and Orange Counties. The increased tractor trailer traffic and its
added pollution will increase Global Warming that is creating a Climate Crisis that we must act
now to reverse.

The increased trailer traffic will bring increased traffic to the area and endanger the neighbors
and commuters who pass through the area. Careful traffic planning will be needed to avert the
increased danger of encounters with trailer trucks headed to and from this Center.



Any added impervious ground cover will further add to the degradation of the environment. The
least the Council members could do would be to require that the UDO be amended to require that
all ground cover be permeable so as to protect our adjacent water systems, ground water, and
wells from toxic run-off.

I am a citizen of Orange County who moved to this area because of its rural beauty. |, like many
residents of Orange and Alamance Counties, want to see this beauty preserved, now and for our
future generations, and who place the long-term health of our planet and those who live on it,
above the short-sighted desire for profits today.

Respectfully,

Andrea T. Riley
1204 Brokhollow Road
Efland, NC 27243

* ok ok

Ms. Philipps asked Mr. Parker to address some of the traffic issues, specifically the turn lanes that
will be present, both on Buckhorn Road and at the West Ten Road entrance. Mr. Parker requested
Traffic Engineer Josh Reinke address Ms. Philipps request.

Before Mr. Reinke came up, Mr. Rollins shared that previously when Al.Neyer came before Council
regarding property on south West Ten Road, they made a $200,000 contribution for future traffic
improvements in that area. NCDOT has estimated that the signalization for the north and south
on/off ramps to cost $232,000. The discussion was that $170,000 of that $200,000 will be applied
to the construction of the signalization at the on/off ramps, the other will come directly for Al
Neyer. He said as Council is familiar with other similar projects, the City will need to enter into a
Municipal Agreement with NCDOT to agree with the project and to accept the funding from Al.
Neyer to cover that cost.

Mayor Hooks asked if there was as timeline to when the traffic lights would be installed. Mr.
Mitchell said that it is staff’s understanding that the Municipal Agreement would be brought to
Council for approval, then the project would begin as soon as NCDOT is able to begin the project.
It is not dependent upon any phases of the proposed project.

Mr. Bradley asked for clarification regarding a comment in one of the letters read aloud that
referenced land acquisition for the turn lanes through eminent domain. Mr. Rollins said that it is
always the City’s goal to never use eminent domain on development projects, not on this project
or any other projects. The developer would be responsible for working within the existing right-
of-way that is there which means the road can be widened within the existing right-of-way, if there
is not existing right-of-way, the developer would be responsible for dealing with the property
owner to acquire land.

Josh Reinke, Engineer with Ramey Kemp and Associates, 5808 Faringdon Place, Raleigh, NC, stated
they were hired to conduct a TIA and a macro assessment letter, the later not being required but
more so thought of as a proactive step looking forward into the future. They took into
consideration any possible development that could take place as far out as 2030. He stated they
also conducted an update TIA to address any safety concerns with the shifting of the driveway
along West Ten Road.

Mr. Parker added that the site will have single sided load docks.

Carl Bradley shared concerns with truck traffic exiting the property if no traffic signals are in place.



Mr. Reinke stated there will be multiple points of access, along with the spacing of the driveways
they have no safety concerns.

Mr. Ewing asked what the vision is for the west bound and east bound traffic. Mr. Reinke said their
projections had 60% of the cumulative traffic straight from Buckhorn Road and heading to the
interstate. Projections detailed in the study.

Ms. Auditiori said she wanted to reiterate that eleven (11) of the fourteen (14) parcels are already
zoned Office/Research and Manufacturing in Orange County. Mr. Stober said yes. Ms. Auditori
said, so what is really driving this request is not a significant change in existing zoning, rather the
applicant desires to be incorporated into the City limits, therefore in order to do that, Council must
adopt zoning to reflect Mebane’s zoning, not Orange County’s zoning. Mr. Stober said that is
correct.

Mr. Bradley commended Mr. Parker and Thermo Fishers for their environmentally safe
commitments.

Mr. Bradley then made a motion, seconded by Mr. Greene, to close the public hearing. The motion
carried unanimously. Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Ms. Philipps, to adopt an Ordinance
to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Mebane, North Carolina to include the 115.399 acres.

Ms. Philipps made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, to Motion to approve the M-2(CD) zoning as
presented and a motion to find that the application is consistent with the objectives and goals in
the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land Development Plan Mebane By Design. The request is within
the City’s G-2 Industrial Primary (V) Growth Area “Part of BEDD and North of US-70”, an “...area
[that] is intended for more robust growth, primarily for light industrial purposes... [with] areas
immediately outside of these corridors, though, [that] are rural residential lots... (Mebane CLP,
p.72. The motion carried unanimously.

A Quasi-judicial pubic hearing was held on a request from DRPBS Hospitality, LLC, for an
amendment to a Special Use Permit previously approved by the Council in July 2019.

Mr. Brown announced the anyone that will speak on the matter needs to be sworn in. He also
requested that Council disclose any communications they may have had with the applicant prior
to tonight’s public hearing.

Mr. Bradley stated he has had no communication with anyone and can be fair and impartial.

Ms. Auditori stated she has had no communication with anyone and can be fair and impartial.
Ms. Philipps stated she has had no communication with anyone and can be fair and impartial.
Mr. Greene stated he has had no communication with anyone and can be fair and impartial.

Mr. Ewing stated he has had no communication with anyone and can be fair and impartial.

Clerk Shaw sworn in Cy Stober, Tim Smith and Rad Pandit.

Mr. Stober presented the request. He said that DRPBS Hospitality, LLC — Lowes Blvd Retail is
requesting amendment to the Special Use Permit 19-01 (“DRPBS Hospitality, LLC — Lowes Blvd
Retail”), a Planned Multiple Occupancy Group for a multi-tenant building located at the end of
Lowes Boulevard (ETJ), to allow for a 29% increase in hotel rooms and a corresponding redesign

of the parking lot for all three buildings. DRPBS Hospitality, LLC. owns the property and is already
approved to develop the property as detailed on the approved site plan and as follows:



Building Areas:
e Two 4-story hotels — 80 rooms each and 20,000 sf each (<5,000 sf meeting space)
o Phase 1 (West) & Phase 2 (East)
e One 2-story mixed-use office/retail building with offices over retail — Phase 3
o Retail = 5,000 sf
o Office — 5,000 sf
e Total: 50,000 sf
e Waivers:
o Landscaped buffer —UDO requires 20’ — The developer is requesting to reduce the
landscaped buffer to 10"

The applicant is requesting to increase the number of rooms in the Phase 1 hotel to 103 and a
parking plan that does not meet the number required of the Mebane Unified Development
Ordinance, requiring seventeen (17) spaces to be shared between the two hotels. The Mebane
UDO allows for combined parking but only in situations where the peak demands are not in conflict
or to allow for relief in meeting minimum parking space requirements. The applicant will also be
dedicating right of way for the extension of Lowes Boulevard, per the adopted Lowes Boulevard
Corridor Plan.

Tim Smith, P.E., Senior Project Manager at Summit Design and Engineering Services, 320 Executive
Court, Hillsborough, NC 27278 represented the applicant and provided a presentation of the
request, describing the history of the project and impact of the pandemic on the project. Mr. Smith
described in detail the previously approved plan and the proposed changes. He said with the
increase in rooms, came the required increase for parking spaces, so, they show nineteen (19)
shared spaces for parking on the site and he and the applicant feel it will work out fine between
the mixed uses of hotels and office use as there has been no issues in the past with two hotels and
shared parking. He said the Planning Board member Lori Oakley shared at the Planning Board
meeting that she had researched parking requirements by other jurisdictions and found that the
plan would meet the code in the other communities.

Mr. Ewing questioned who the other municipalities were. Mr. Stober said the municipalities
referenced were Burlington, Graham and Hillsborough, all using one (1) or in some cases .85,
specifically for hotels.

Mr. Smith shared elevation renderings of the hotel buildings. He stated that the findings of fact
and the building commitments remain the same as with the previously approved SUP.

Ms. Philipps questioned the reduced buffer. Mr. Smith stated that was included in the original SUP
approval.

After brief discussions regarding intersection traffic concerns, Mr. Stober said as Development
Director, he can commit to official City comments regarding the widening project will reflect
concerns shared tonight as well as any future TIAs that evaluate this intersection.

Ms. Philipps made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, to close the public hearing. The motion
carried unanimously.

Mr. Bradley asked if there was any way that the City could provide a condition that if the widening
of Hwy 119 and the changing of the signaling is not put in place prior to construction, that the
applicant would have to work with NCDOT to put in a fixed left turn signal.

Mayor Hooks asked if the City can request that NCDOT change the signalization now to a fixed left
turn instead of a caution signal. Mr. Rollins said we can ask but it is his understanding that the Hwy
119 widening project from Lowes Home Improvement to Trollingwood Road is funded and is the



State’s TIP. Mr. Stober confirmed that the funding is secure. Mr. Rollins said staff can make a
request for NCDOT to analyze that signal function. Mr. Stober stated he would relay the concerns
to NCDOQT.

Ms. Auditori asked Mr. Smith what the timeline is for the project. Mr. Smith replied that
construction should begin in the Summer of 2022 with a 2023 opening.

Ms. Auditori made a motion, seconded by Ms. Philipps, to approve the motion to approve the
special use permit amendment as presented and a motion to find that the application is both
reasonable and in the public interest because it finds that:

1. Will not materially endanger the public health or safety;

2. Will not substantially injure the value of adjoining or abutting property;

3. Will be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and

4. Will be in conformity with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive

Land Development Plan Mebane By Design.

The request is for a property within the City’s G-4 Secondary Growth Area, which is intended to
be “...generally residential and commercial in nature...” and Is consistent with the adopted Lowes
Boulevard Corridor Plan. The motion carried unanimously.

Mayor Hooks called for a brief break at 7:26pm. Mayor Hooks called the meeting back to order at
7:32pm.

Prior to the start of the next public hearing. Mr. Brown gave a brief explanation regarding the
differences between quasi-judicial, special use and conditional rezoning hearings.

A public hearing was held on a request from Kenyon’s Meat Market, c/o Darrin Kenyon, for a
rezoning of unaddressed Alamance County Parcel 163798 from O&I (Office and Institutional
District) to B-2 (General Business District). Mr. Stober presented the request. He stated that the
property is 1.55 acres is located inside the City limits and is currently vacant. The property has
two street frontages on Foust Road and S Fifth Street Extension. The lot currently meeting the
requirements for a B-2 zoning district. The property is in the G-4 Secondary Growth Strategy Area
and adjacent to the G-1 Cameron Lane Mixed-Use Primary Growth Strategy Area. The proposed
rezoning is consistent with the guidance provided within Mebane By Design, the Mebane
Comprehensive Land Development Plan.

Mr. Bradley stated that he received a letter indicating that the adjoining property owners were
not notified of the rezoning prior to the Planning Board meeting. Mr. Stober said that the North
Carolina General Statutes (NCGS) requires notification for public hearings only, however, the
Planning Board meetings are open meetings so Planning staff follows the same procedures for
Planning Board meetings as they do for public hearings. He said staff’s standard is to make sure
they follow NCGS and get all mailings out to land owners within 300 feet of any subject property
10-25 days prior to meetings. He said notification letters were sent out for the Planning Board
meeting on September 22" and letters for tonight’s public hearing were sent out on October 15%.

There was brief discussion regarding the various zoning districts near the subject area, including
O&Il zoning directly across the road from the subject property.

Paul Koonts, attorney representing the applicant, 3493 Forestdale Dr Suite #103, Burlington, NC
27215, presented the request. He stated that the request is a straight forward B-2 rezoning,
sharing that the Planning Board approved the request with a 4-3 vote. Some of the comments that
came out of the Planning Board process were related to Ms. Crisp’s property. He referenced the
zoning map and explained that the back portion of subject property that abuts Foust Road, adjoins
Ms. Crisp’s property. To address feedback from the Planning Board meeting, the applicant’s set



up a public meeting to talk with folks about their plans for the property. He stated that one
member of the community attended that meeting. Mr. Koonts said the applicant has modified
their request by reducing what they were originally wanting to rezone to B-2.

Mayor Hooks called for another break at 7:43pm so that the drawing could be scanned in so that
staff could make the drawing viewable by the public and the Council. Mayor Hooks called the
meeting back to order at 7:50pm.

He shared a sketch drawing that reflected the changes, explaining that the request would now be
a split zoning because the back portion of the property would continue to be O&l, the B-2 zoning
would only be for the front portion of the property. He stated that the applicant is modifying the
original request to be respectful of the adjoining residential property. Mr. Koonts further explained
that another modification is the removal of the drive on Foust Road, it has been eliminated
altogether. All of the traffic will enter and exit on Fifth Street. He said that the dumpster will be
located next to the back of the building.

Ms. Auditori asked for clarification about the trees and buffers on the rear portion of the property
that will now remain O&I. Mr. Koonts said nothing will be placed on the O&I portion of the
property, it will remain as is, with a 30-foot setback from the parking lot. All City buffer
requirements will be met.

Mr. Ewing asked if the dumpster will be fenced. Mr. Stober said that the City requires a minimal
8-foot tall screening around all dumpsters. The material must be opaque and meet all City
requirements.

There was discussion regarding buffer requirements for small lots. The drawing as shown meets
and exceeds the City’s requirements.

Ms. Auditori questioned if Council approves the request tonight, can an office could be built on
the back portion which will remain O&I. Mr. Stober replied, yes. It would be developable by right
as an O&l lot.

Mr. Ewing questioned if the lot is currently developable as O&I by right. Mr. Stober replied, yes.

Ms. Philipps questioned the water and sewer extension, stating that to her knowledge the utility
lines run down Foust Road but not Fifth Street. She asked if there would be minimal disruption to
current landscaping or conditions in that area.

Kyle Smith, Public Utilities Director, said that water and sewer are both available on Foust Road
and water is available on Fifth Street. He said with the project they are proposing, it would be a
simple service connection with minimal disturbance.

Mr. Ewing asked about the type of delivery trucks. Mr. Koonts stated they would be typical box
trucks. They would enter and drive to the rear of the property, unload and exit. There would be
approximately four or five trucks a week with deliveries being made during business hours.

Wilma Crisp, 110 Foust Road, Mebane, NC 27302, spoke in opposition of the rezoning request.
She said she is requesting one of two things, for the council to vote no to the rezoning or return
the matter back to the Planning Board. She stated that she sent to each Councilmember a copy
of the letter she submitted to the Planning Board members requesting notification of their vote
to change the zoning classification to commercial. She said at the Planning Board meeting, Mr.
Kenyon had no concrete plan for the type or size of building to be built or an infrastructure plan
to support the increased traffic, nor a plan for rerouting water, sewer and electrical systems.
Furthermore, he had no plan for addressing environmental or public health concerns when it



comes to rodents or insect control, trash and garbage removal, air pollution, light pollution, the
need for barrier fencing or the negative impact on home values and yet the Planning Board gave
him full authority to build whatever structure he wants on land that he does not own. She
referenced photographs which she submitted to the Council at the beginning of tonight’s meeting
which depict Kenyon’s current property, copies of photographs attached. She asked that Council
look at the photographs and then ask themselves how they would like seeing that in the middle of
their quiet neighborhood. She asked if Council would approve it for Mill Creek. If not, why would
Council vote to put it next to hers. She said that the meat market will destroy property values as
is done in black neighborhoods all over the country. There is mountains of research that goes back
hundreds of years on how quiet and gentle black neighborhoods are picked apart by highways,
strip malls and store fronts like Kenyon’s Meat Market in the name of progress leaving the
neighborhood in poverty and ruin. She implored Council to not let Mebane be guilty of that same
travesty. No resident was properly noticed by letter or signage before the Planning Board voted.
She said she was told that it was a secret by the property seller’s daughter. She respectfully
requested that Council reflect upon what she has said tonight and vote a resounding no to the
zoning change. If Council is unwilling to vote to end the matter tonight, then the Planning Board
needs to legally and properly notify residents, conduct impact studies and offer ample time to
present their views before moving the matter forward. She concluded with thanking the Council
for its time and consideration.

Schenita Randolph stated that she is a 16-year member and resident of Mebane and also as a
representative of Mebane’s Racial Equity Advisory Committee (REAC). She said she has been
following this matter, as a part of her charge from Council as part of her responsibility on the REAC,
along with some historical pieces of Mebane around land and racial equity. She asked Council to
consider seeking advisement from the REAC before moving forward with this matter because
there are some observations as a REAC that she has made.

Ms. Philipps requested to hear Ms. Randolph’s comments now.

Ms. Randolph shared her observations of racial equity sensitivities and a lack of transparency. She
expressed that this is an opportunity to pause for time to allow all parties to understand the
process so that the City is not perpetuating inequities which Council felt needed to be addressed.

Travis Albritton, REAC Co-chair, said when sensitive matters such as tonight’s hearing, which deals
with a historically legacy of land use as it relates to people of color in the community, he feels
Council should seek advisement from the REAC before voting. He expressed that people will have
more faith in the Council if they feel they have listened to all parties’ views.

Kiesha Bluford, REAC member, said that a vote tonight would be premature. She said when she
was notified about the meeting and the concerns from the community that would be affected, she
took time to look at the City’s Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). She first expressed concerns
with the notification process. Also listed as a concern was that no conditions were tied to the
rezoning and in the future the meat market could become another type of business even though
the applicant’s intention is for the business to be in place for generations, legacies on both sides
need to be respected. She said that the request has been changed and the affected residents
have not had time to study and research the new proposed plan. Ms. Bluford made several
references to the UDO regarding processes. She spoke in favor of Council honoring Ms. Crisp’s
request to send the matter back to the Planning Board for further review. She asked the Council
to consider additional time before voting.

Anthony Pierce said that the residents on Foust Road have lived there a long time. He spoke highly
of the neighborhood and the people that live there. He said the issue at hand is two legacies that
are trying to be preserved, the Kenyon’s and the legacy of the existing Foust Road community.
The families do not want to lose the feeling of a neighborhood. He requested that Council table



any action tonight and to have the Planning Board revisit the matter and perhaps ensure that
conditions are put in place, a conditional rezoning as opposed to a straight B-2 zoning.

Karen Oldham, owner of property adjacent to the subject property, spoke in favor of the rezoning
and spoke highly of the Kenyon family. She shared that her home place was taken with the NC 119
bypass. She also shared kind words and memories of growing up in that neighborhood.

John Kirby, lifelong Mebane resident and Eastern High School Football Coach, shared kind words
about the Kenyons and their business and spoke of all the good they have done for the Eastern
High School and the community. He stated that he respects all parties on both sides of this matter.

Steve Hensley, owner of subject property, spoke in favor of the rezoning. He shared that other
businesses have expressed interest in the property over the years but when he heard Keyon’s
Meat Market wanted to come there, he jumped at the chance. He said the Kenyon’s are good
people and the business will be an asset to the entire neighborhood. He said the new proposed
plan will not affect the residents on Foust Road.

Mr. Koonts gave closing remarks, reiterating the request as modified to a split zoning and shown
on the provided drawing.

Clerk Shaw read aloud for letters, attached.

Daughter of Wilma Crisp requested more time to research the matter further. She cited public
health concerns and wants to ensure her family has a safe place to live for years to come.

Ms. Randolph said the letters were great. In racial equity work, we focus on policy and procedure
and not personal so as a decision is made, it is important to follow policy and procedure and not
personal impact.

Ms. Auditori made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, to close the public hearing. The motion
carried unanimously.

Mr. Bradley said that mixed use zoning is in the Mebane Land Use Plan. He cited several locations
throughout the city with mixed use zoning. He also explained that the Planning Board is an
advisory board to the Council, they do not approve or disapprove of projects or development, that
action is done by the Council. He stated that the last comment by Ms. Randolph was appropriate
as this is not a popularity contest and it is also not a black and white issue. The Council looks at
land use and what is appropriate.

Mr. Bradley made a motion to approve the B-2 zoning as presented. and a motion to find that the
application is consistent with the objectives and goals in the City’s 2017 Comprehensive Land
Development Plan Mebane By Design. The request is for a property within the City’s G-4 Secondary
Growth Area and is generally commercial in nature (Mebane CLP, p.66). The motion carried
unanimously.

Mr. Greene seconded the motion and stated when he looked at the O&I permitted uses, he feels
this is best use of the land compared to what could go there.

Ms. Philipps suggested sending notification letters via certified mail in the future.

After brief discussions regarding O&I permitted uses, Mayor Hooks called for a vote on the motion.
The motion carried unanimously.



Mayor Hooks called for a break at 9:31pm. Mayor Hooks called the meeting back to order at
9:36pm.

A Public Hearing was held on a request from Guy Land for the adoption of an Ordinance to Extend
the Corporate Limits. Mr. Brown spoke concerning the request. He stated that the property is a
voluntary contiguous annexation containing approximately 0.300 acres located at 4710 Mrs.
White Lane in the Alamance County. Mr. Land plans to build a home on this property and would
like to tie onto the City’s water and sewer. Mr. Land was present and reiterated the request as
presented by Mr. Brown. Mr. Greene made a motion, seconded by Ms. Philipps, to close the public
hearing. Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ewing, to motion to adopt an Ordinance to
Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Mebane, North Carolina to include the .300 acres. The
motion carried unanimously.

Mr. Davis presented a request for approval of Recreation and Parks Commission Appointments for
2022. He explained that initially, Council selected six individuals that are serving staggered entry
terms of 1, 2, and 3 years. The two new members selected this year will begin a three-year term
and will be a big part of the Recreation and Parks Master Plan process and helping create new
special events and program ideas for the City. The qualifications of the seven candidates were
detailed in the applications provided in the Council packets.

Mr. Greene nominated Jay Bissette, lll. Ms. Philipps said she would support Mr. Greene’s
nomination as well as nominating Emily Powell. Ms. Philipps made a motion to such and was
seconded by Mr. Greene. The motion carried unanimously.

Mr. Davis presented a request for approval for the City to submit the T-Mobile Community Grant
for the “Fiddler Stage Cover”. He explained that when the Mebane Community Park was
completed, one amenity unable to initially be funded at the park was the completion of the
"amphitheater," specifically, a shade structure to keep performers from sun and/or rain in either
case. Inthe 2021 budget, the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) included future funds to construct
the amphitheater. The CIP listed a much more robust amphitheater that would include a larger
structure and multiple changes to the area already earmarked for the amphitheater. The new
structure will be much smaller in size than a standard amphitheater, but fit the current cement
slab and provide the needed shelter for smaller performances. This structure will also include
removable panels designed to keep sound in the park, rather than extending behind the structure
into the nearby neighborhood, as much as possible. T-Mobile is offering four periods to submit
proposals for community grants that can help with change and impact communities. The T-Mobile
Community Grant offers a maximum of $50,000 with no match required from the City that staff is
interested in pursuing. The overall estimated cost is $75,000. If the Council approvals submitting
for the grant and T-Mobile grant is awarded, Recreation staff will look for pursue additional private
sector funding.

Ms. Philipps said the proposed amphitheater is exactly what she had in mind. She made a motion,
seconded by Mr. Greene, to approval the City’s to submission for the T-Mobile Community Grant
for the “Fiddler Stage Cover”. The motion carried unanimously.

Mr. Stober presented a request for approval of Planning Board appointments. He explained that
the Mebane Planning Board has one (1) outstanding opening for appointment. The position will
fulfill the remainder of Mr. Thomas Vinson’s term, as a City representative, which expires 2023.
The Planning Department provided press releases, social media posts, and published legal
advertisements the weeks of September, 6, September 20, October 4, and October 18. The
qualifications of the three candidates were detailed in the applications provided in the Council
packets.



Mr. Greene nominated Susan Semonite, stating she is very knowledgeable and would do a great
job in this capacity. Mr. Ewing said he would like to nominate William Chapman as his family has
lived in the community for quite some time and he is very knowledgeable about land. Ms. Auditori
spoke highly of Ms. Semonite and said she would be in favor of her as well.

Mr. Bradley made a motion, seconded by Mr. Greene, to appoint Susan Semonite. The motion
carried unanimously.

Mr. Stober presented a request for adoption of a Downtown Exterior Improvements Grant. He
explained that in its deliberations of the Manager’s Recommended FY22 Budget, the Council
allocated $50,000 for Downtown Improvements as a matching funds grant program that will
reimburse an individual up to 50% of qualifying expenses for exterior improvements to a
Downtown property. The application details the criteria for individuals wishing to improve their
properties by addressing one of four categories:

- Fagade improvements;

- Outdoor seating;

- Exterior artwork; and

- Preservation of historic architecture and buildings.
Conditions apply to the municipal awards, which are available on a first-come, first-served basis.
The City must approve any encroachments into municipal rights of ways or easement, such as
sidewalk seating. The grant is provided as a reimbursement for qualifying expenses, requiring
proof of receipts. Applicants must provide a minimum of two quotes for the proposed project.
Applications for this municipal award will be accepted until February 15, 2022.

After discussion among Council and staff, it was decided that a timeframe should be added into
the application. It was a consensus of Council to set the time limit to one (1) year from date of
approval. Ms. Philipps made a motion, seconded by Mr. Greene, to adopt the Downtown Exterior
Improvements Grant, with the addition of the timeframe language, awarding and spending
municipal funds accordingly. The motion carried unanimously.

Mr. Brown asked, if now that the Council meetings are being held in person, does Council want to
continue to allow written comments for public hearings and public comments as adopted during
pandemic. After some discussion, Council directed Mr. Brown to amend the current policy to no
longer allow written comments to be read aloud into the official record and to bring it back for
consideration.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:00pm.



























| SUPPORT the relocation of Kenyon s Meat to 1204 S Fifth Street so they may not only grow and
expand their family owned business, they can grow and expand their continued faithful and dedicated
service to the community in Mebane and also surrounding communities. | drive from the other side of
Alamance county because of the quality of their meats, frozen and fresh goods and the friendly,
hometown atmosphere. Kenyon'’s truly appreciates their valued customers! It shows in their service and
quality!

Help them expand so that they may better serve our communities!

Expansion for Kenyon’s is a win win. They bring more business by gaining a larger store offering even
more products, more parking and MORE PEOPLE visiting and buying from Small Businesses.

Vote KENYON'S EXPANSION!

KATHY LYNCH

A Way To Go Travel Agency
422 Huffman Mill Rd
Burlington NC 27215
336-437-4612 cell

Join me on Facebook

Please be sure to check your destination for travel requirements:

https://apply.joinsherpa.com/travel-restrictions ?affiliateld=americanairlines




Stephanie Shaw
“

From: Kathy Lynch <klynch4travel@yahoo.com>
Sent: Tuesday, October 19, 2021 9:23 AM
To: Stephanie Shaw; Info
Subject: Fwd: Support Kenyon's
Ms. Lynch,

Thank you for your e-mail about this pending general rezoning request by Kenyon’'s Meat Market. | have
shared it with the City administration. The matter will be determined by the City Council in a public hearing
at their November 1 meeting, which begins at 6 p.m. at Mebane City Hall. If you wish for your comment to
be shared with the City Council, please provide it at the public hearing, either by speaking that evening or
e-mailing the City Clerk, as allowed by City ordinance and NC General Statutes.

Sincerely,
Cy Stober, AICP

Development Director

I

106 East Washington Street
Mebane, NC 27302
e 919563-9990

www.cityofmebane.com
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From: Kathy Lynch <klynch4travel@yahoo.com>
Sent: Sunday, October 17, 2021 11:44 AM

To: Cy Stober <cstober@cityofmebane.com>
Subject: Support Kenyon'’s

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
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From: Renee Whitt <april.whitt@duke.edu>
Sent: Tuesday, October 19, 2021 11:10 AM
To: Stephanie Shaw
Subject: Mebane City Council request for approval

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

Hi,

I am thankful for the service that Kenyon’s Meat Market has always provided for everyone. | am asking that this City
Council will approve what is needed for Kenyon's to remain a staple in this great city of Mebane. They have always gone
above and beyond for everyone by always giving back to the community. Now is the time to give back to them by giving
approval to be able to build on this legacy that promises to continue for generations. During times like these we need
families like Kenyon’s to continue what is great and always provides so much to the community. How amazing it will be
to share this legacy with people by granting their approval to build and help Mebane become even better.

Thanks for your time and consideration,
Jimmy, Vickie and Renee Whitt

Kind Regards,
Renee Whitt
DCRI Quality Assurance

DCRIQuality@duke.edu
https://dcrihome.dcri.org/qarc
919.668.8518
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From: Beth Brigham <bethscooking4du@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, October 19, 2021 2:21 PM
To: Cy Stober
Cc: Stephanie Shaw
Subject: Rezone to allow Kenyon's to build at 1204 S 5th St

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

This is regarding the proposed new location of the Kenyon Meat Market at 1204 S 5th St in Mebane.

We have been customers of Kenyon'’s for years and have found the owners to be responsible and concerned for our
community. Their daughter has been part of the business for years also and has committed to work with and run the
business when her parents step down so I'm confident that this business will continue to be as community oriented as it
is now for many years to come. The location they are proposing will be convenient for even more of our community
than where they are now. It seems it would fit perfectly along side the other businesses near by and along side homes
and apartments in that area. Remember when the neighborhood grocers were down the block and the only business
among single family homes? This isn’t the same but it worked and didn’t hurt any neighborhood. I’d have been thrilled
to have that business placed near our neighborhood. Please vote yes to rezoning for this business.

Beth Brigham

914 Palm Ct
Mebane NC 27302
919-928-6130

Sent from my iPhone
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From: Body Solutions <bodysolutionslic@yahoo.com>
Sent: Wednesday, October 20, 2021 9:40 AM
To: Stephanie Shaw
Subject: Letter regarding rezoning

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

Hello, My name is Dr. Karen Wilkinson. | have been an active member of the Mebane community for
25+ years now. | have watched Mebane grow and blossom into the beautiful place that it is. There
are many people to thank for that, including Darrin, Renea and Taylor Kenyon and the Kenyon's Meat
Market crew. They are all amazing people with big hearts, compassion for others and a drive and
desire to make Mebane the best place to live and do business.

They tirelessly give 100% of themselves to help provide the residents of Mebane what they need
every single day. During the pandemic they worked non-stop, going above and beyond to make sure
the residents of Mebane had food on their table and their staff was taken care of physically and
emotionally.

As for their rezoning request......I am in support of rezoning their desired new location to B2. There is
a dental office across from their desired location. There are 2 housing communities across the street,
and more coming...... | am sure they would love the close access to getting groceries. | don't feel that
B2 is unreasonable considering all the growth and development that has, and continues to occur, less
than a mile of this location. Residences, restaurants, hair salons, medical offices, grocery stores, and
other small businesses are within the surrounding mile.

We, as a community, should be encouraging not just small business' like this to build in Mebane, but
the Family themselves. You won't find many better! We are doing them and the City of Mebane a
disservice if this rezoning isn't approved. They have stood by our community and city...... it's now
time for the community and City to stand by them.

Sincerely,

Dr. Karen Wilkinson
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From: Wilson Aulbert <wilson4duke@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, October 20, 2021 8:15 PM

To: Stephanie Shaw

Subject: Rezoning to B2 Kenyon's Meat Market

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

>

> | would like to say that | am a long time resident of Mebane and have seen the town’s growth explode. | have seen the
approval of projects submitted by individuals and corporations that do not reside here and where here to only profit
without the best interest of the community.

>

> | have known Darrin Kenyon for over 40 years. | can tell you that he has the best interest of the community in mind.
This is evident by the fund raisers they have had for those in need in our community over the 13 plus years they have
been in business. This is a family that is well established in Mebane.

>

> In looking at that area of the proposed Meat Market you have Troutman Family Dentistry, Roc’s Barber Shop and the
First Source Equipment that is in close proximity to the Foust road neighborhood. If it’s not Kenyon’s there will be other
businesses coming into that area to occupy the property. The property owners in that area that have concerns over the
value of their property may want to look at the property values on Mebane Oaks road near Walmart.

>

> When Walmart was approved and allowed to build this was in a residential area. You had established neighborhoods
in that area that Walmart bordered.

>

> 1 would like to ask that the City Council approve the request to change the zoning to B2 for this lifelong Mebane
resident and small business owner that lives in and supports his community.

>

> Sincerely,

>

> Wilson Aulbert

>

>
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Stephanie Shaw

From: SarahEllie Penny <sarahpennync@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, October 25, 2021 5:50 PM

To: Stephanie Shaw

Subject: Kenyon's Meat Market

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

If it is possible can you please read it at the hearing? Thank You
City of Mebane
Department of Planning and Zoning

Mebane, NC 27302

October 17, 2021

City of Mebane,

My name is Sarah Ellie Penny, I'm fourteen years old and a native of the Mebane area. | am writing this letter to express
my support for Kenyon’s Meat Market to build and expand at 1204 South 5% Street in Mebane, NC.

I would like to share how Kenyon’s Meat Market has supported me over the years. As a senior Girl Scout, in the ninth
grade, Kenyon’s Meat Market have supported my cookie sales since | was a Daisy Girl Scout, for over eight years!
Kenyon's has allowed me to sell Girl Scout cookies at their location, indoors without standing outside in the winter
weather and enabled me to be the top seller in the county for 7 consecutive years. Selling cookies has taught me about
financial literacy, entrepreneurship, and teamwork. The Kenyon’s owners and staff have all supported me with my
cookie sales over the years during the entire sale and beyond until all my cookies were sold.

Kenyon’s Meat Market has not only tremendously supported my cookie sales, but also made donations to my
elementary and middle school over the years as well as supported other fundraisers that | have participated in over the
years. Kenyon's even sold my tomatoes when | grew them! Kenyon'’s supports local farmers and businesses! They always
say “yes” and they are happy to help!

Kenyon’s Meat Market is more than a store or business, they are a family to our community! During Covid, | witnessed
them going above and beyond to make sure customers had food available without price increases. Working tirelessly to
serve our community, Kenyon’s Meat Market is an amazing example of what a business should do, they give back to the
community, they are happy to see you every time you come into shop, they treat you like family! Mebane is blessed to
have Keyon’s Meat Market!!!

I simply can not say enough nice things about Kenyon’s Meat Market! They make our community better by being in
business! I've watched them support numerous individuals with needs due to illness or hardships over the years.
Kenyon'’s, the owners, and staff set an excellent example of compassion and support for people in our community. By
expanding their business, they will be able to serve more customers and make an even bigger positive impact in our
community. Itis my hope that the City of Mebane allows Kenyon’s the opportunity to grow and make our community
better.

Thank you,
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Stephanie Shaw

From: Tarah Enoch <tlenoch88@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, October 26, 2021 8:23 PM
To: Stephanie Shaw

Subject: Fwd: Kenyon's Meat Market

Tarah Enoch

Begin forwarded message:

From: Cy Stober <cstober@cityofmebane.com>
Date: October 25, 2021 at 5:15:23 PM EDT

To: Tarah Enoch <Tlenoch88 @gmail.com>
Subject: RE: Kenyon’s Meat Market

Ms. Enoch,

Thank you for your e-mail about this pending general rezoning request by Kenyon’s Meat Market. | have
shared it with the City administration. The matter will be determined by the City Council in a public
hearing at their November 1 meeting, which begins at 6 p.m. at Mebane City Hall. If you wish for your
comment to be shared with the City Council, please provide it at the public hearing, either by speaking
that evening or e-mailing the City Clerk, as allowed by City ordinance and NC General Statutes.

Sincerely,

Cy Stober, AICP

Development Director

656(1’[6

Positively Charming
106 East Washington Street
Mebane, NC 27302

919 563-9990
www.cityofmebane.com

From: Tarah Enoch <tlenoch88@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, October 22, 2021 1:29 PM

To: Cy Stober <cstober@cityofmebane.com>
Subject: Kenyon’s Meat Market

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
1
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Good afternoon,

I’'m writing this letter in support of the relocation and expansion of Kenyon’s Meat Market. | have known
Darrin and Renea for years and have watched them start this business from the ground up into what it is
today. It truly is a staple in the Mebane community! They go out of their way to provide not only a
wonderful business in a small town but also host many fundraisers to give back to their local customers
and community in general. This land would be a wonderful opportunity for them to continue to grow,
also providing local jobs within the area. More now than ever we should be supporting our local small
businesses. | 100% am standing behind them with the request for the rezoning of the lot and hope you
all do as well.

Thank you for your time!

Tarah Enoch
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Stephanie Shaw Q

From: slice@triad.rr.com

Sent: Wednesday, October 27, 2021 8:05 PM
To: Stephanie Shaw

Subject: Kenyon's Meat Market

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

For inclusion in the Nov 1 meeting - thank you.

I am writing in support of the moving of Kenyon's Meat Market from its current location to 1204 S. Fifth Street in
Mebane. I also support the necessary rezoning of the property.

My family and I have been shopping at Kenyon's since they opened in May of 2008. Renea and Darrin are amazing
people with a wonderful community spirit. They treat all of their customers like family. They KNOW their
customers. They know their families and have watched their children grow up. Above all they truly care about the
people who shop in the store.

I was lucky enough to be hired by the Kenyons in November 2018. I have been working in the store ever since. I
have to tell you Renea and Darrin are the best people I have ever worked for/with and I used to work for my own
mother!

Our customers come from far and wide. Not just Mebane. Not just Alamance County. We have people from all
over NC who come regularly to stock-up on the quality meats and fresh local produce. We have people from out of
state who make a point to come to the store any time they are in NC. We even have a couple of people from other
countries who come to visit the store every time they visit their families. That is how much people love the
Kenyons. It's not just the amazing meat and fresh produce they come for. They come for the connection that they
have forged with the Kenyons. They feel welcomed and like part of the family.

Speaking of fresh produce. Did you know that as much as possible the Kenyons get their produce from local farms
and vendors? So they also support small businesses and they shop locally whenever possible.

The meat market is a cornerstone of the community and I cannot tell you how many people that the Kenyons help
that no one even knows about! They are without a doubt the most generous people you would ever wish to meet.

As for people having concerns about the market moving to a former residential area, I have to tell you that if you
were going to have a food-related business near your home, you would want it to be Kenyon's. It is the cleanest
business I have ever seen. People who live behind the proposed lot have nothing to worry about from having
Kenyon's behind them. Yes, we get deliveries and there would be trucks a couple of days a week but they are
unloaded expediently and are out on the road again within minutes. Knowing the business and the way the Kenyons
operate I would have no qualms about them opening a store in my back yard.

The current location of the meat market is far too small for the needs of the community. Yes, the community, not
Just the store. Our older customers often complain about the lack of parking and as it is currently, we can do nothing
to help them. If we were able to have a dedicated parking area our customers would not have to fight for spaces with
people visiting or even working at businesses nearby.

I hope you will grant the rezoning and the relocation as it can only benefit Mebane and Alamance County.
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From: notify@proudcity.com

Sent: Friday, October 29, 2021 10:48 AM

To: Info

Subject: New submission from Contact Administration

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

Name
Carson Johnson
Email

hawkandhandsaw@gmail.com

Phone
(336) 260-5184
Message

To the City of Mebane City Clerk,

I am writing in support of Kenyon's Meat Market which is asking for the rezoning of 1204 S. Fifth St. in Mebane to B-2. As you
know the proposed area is already zoned for businesses but does not currently allow for grocery stores. Independent grocers
are important to the community in a variety of ways. From carrying local produce and meat to providing the opportunity to do
business with our neighbors Kenyon's will be a boon to the community. It's close proximity to residential sites will be an asset to
those living nearby as well as the rest of the community as they provide a local alternative to chain grocery stores. Locally
owned businesses return fifty-two percent of their revenue back to the community versus a dismal fourteen percent returned by
national retailers. That means by keeping Kenyon's Meat Market in Mebane you are stimulating the local economy in a way that
a Food Lion or a Walmart will never do. Please support the small businesses of Mebane and vote to approve the requested
zoning change and help keep Kenyon's as a staple to the community for years to come.

Thank you,
Carson Johnson
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Stephanie Shaw ¢ W
From: Marlo Countiss <marloc@remaxmovesmebane.net>
Sent: Friday, October 29, 2021 10:49 AM
To: Stephanie Shaw
Subject: Rezoning of 1204 S. Fifth St from O&l to B-2

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Mrs Shaw,

I would like to submit a letter of support for the rezoning of 1204 S. Fifth Street, Mebane NC (Alamance County parcel
number 1637980). It is my understanding that this property is currently zoned O&I and that the purchaser is requesting
the property be rezoned to B-2. 1am a local REALTOR® with 15 years of experience and | feel that allowing the rezoning
will enhance other properties in the area.

I understand that the major objection of the neighboring properties was additional traffic on Foust Rd. | feel that the
Kenyon’s made it clear that the back entrance would mostly be used by delivery vehicles and employees. Most of the
traffic will be using the entrance on Fifth Street.

| also feel that walkability to a grocery store will add value to the homes on Foust Road, the Villas on Fifth and The
Mebane Towne Center. | recently sold a home in Mebane Towne Center. My buyer selected that neighborhood
because she could walk to Lowes Foods. How much better would it be if she could walk to a locally owned grocery store
and spend her money locally?

Additionally, Kenyon'’s has been an incredible resource to our community since opening. They offer fresh meat,
produce, frozen foods, fresh milk, eggs, bread, canned goods and much more. They allow local companies to display
their products. They have promoted fund raisers for local citizens in need. Their friendly staff never ceases to brighten
my day! | think the City of Mebane would want to do whatever they can to ensure that this business stay open in
Mebane and encourage them to build on this site.

It is my professional opinion that this is the perfect location for them to build on and that they will enhance the area
with their presence.

Please let me know if | can be of further assistance.

Sincerely,

Marlo Countiss
Broker/Realtor®
Re/Max Diamond Realty
202 S. Fifth Street
Mebane NC 27302
marloc@remax.net
336-269-5292
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From: Colin Cannell <colin@cannells.com>
Sent: Friday, October 29, 2021 12:35 PM
To: Info

Subject: Public comment for Nov. 1st mtg

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

To the council:

| write to ask the council to deny the application by Kenyon’s Meat Market to rezone Alamance County Parcel
163798 from O&l to B-2, due to a lack of harmony with the surrounding zoning.

I have no particular dog in this fight; | don’t know the Kenyons or any of the residents of Foust Rd, who | gather also
oppose this application. However, on review of the application, two significant problems are visible:

Problem 1: The rezoning is purely for the convenience of the applicant

The applicant's public position has been that a B-2 rezoning is required for it to open a food store on this lot. One email
in Attachment 3 stated, "the proposed area is already zoned for businesses but does not currently allow for grocery
stores." Another stated, "Please change the zone to a B-2 zone, so Kenyon Meat Market can build and relocate there."
Another said, "the Meat Market sells food which is not included in currently approved zoning."

These supporters didn't adopt these opinions by reading the UDO front-to-back, they got them from the applicant. The
applicant is telling people that they cannot build a food store in a district zoned for O&l.

This is false.

I'm not in a position to say whether the applicant knows it's false or not. But if the applicant has done their due
diligence, they will have read UDO Section 4-7.8(D), which states that food stores are permitted in O&I districts, subject
to meeting development standards. The standards listed are very normal things like having reasonable hours of
operation and screening the parking lot with a hedge. There is no reason Kenyon's couldn't meet these standards or ask
for variances — particularly on setbacks, since the lot is quite narrow.

Except there is a reason, and it's the reason the applicant stated plainly when they came before the planning committee:
they're in a hurry. During the October planning committee session, the applicant stated that the lease on their current
store would be ending soon, and they didn't think they would have time to go through the approval process and build
the new store before the lease was up. UNLESS, that is, the city were to rezone the new parcel for B-2, which would
reduce the constraints on what they could build, which would speed up the construction process.

I hardly need to point out that the underlying driver for this urgency is that the applicant has chosen a lot to build on
that is vacant and has restrictive zoning. There are many B-2 lots in the city. Some of them even come with buildings!
The old Discount Furniture Connection building has acres of parking. If the applicant is in such a rush, why not relocate
to one of these? The location and price may be less ideal than the property on Foust St, but as the proverb says, "Lack of
planning on your part does not create an emergency on my part." Surely the applicant has been aware of their upcoming
lease expiration for more than the last few months. Why is the City being urged to create a special, permanent zoning
district to accommodate them?

Which brings me to...



Probleni 2: The requested B-2 zone is highly unusual

The applicant, and the planning board, have suggested that the B-2 rezoning is appropriate because, among other
reasons, the property is on a major collector road and there is another vacant B-2 zone two lots over. (Perhaps they
should buy that one.) However, this lot is unusual in that it fronts both on Fifth St and on Foust Rd. It spans the entire
width between a major collector road and a residential street.

The frontage on Foust Rd is not incidental. Water and sewer lines would come from the Foust Rd side. During the
October planning meeting, the applicant stated their intent to build the store set far back from Fifth St, close to the
Foust Rd side, with the Fifth St side given over to parking. Indeed, the applicant said the second frontage was part of the
lot's appeal, because trucks could pull through instead of turning around. | would bet that a lot of customers will opt to
exit that way as well, to avoid pulling out onto Fifth St from a parking lot.

With that in mind, the City should properly understand this to be a request to place a B-2 district on a residential street.
It would be the only non-corner-facing B-2 district on that street (but with parking accessible from a major road). |
reviewed the City's GIS map to determine how many B-2 districts currently meet that criteria.

Zero. There are no other isolated B-2 districts in residential neighborhoods anywhere in the City. B-2 districts are placed
on collector roads and on corner lots — nowhere else. This factor might be overlooked if the Foust Rd frontage were
merely an artifact of platting, but the applicant has made clear that it intends to use that frontage heavily.

Considering that the requested zoning amendment is being driven by expediency rather than need, and that it would
create a district unlike any other in the City, | urge the council to deny the application.

I am also concerned by the applicant’s special pleading. The city should apply its standards fairly. No applicant should be
given special consideration because of their popularity, charitable works, or because there is any special demand for
their services. The attitude of nearly every letter included in Attachment 3 is that the council should grant the applicant's
request because (1) the applicant says they need it, (2) the applicant is well-loved, and (3) the writer would greatly miss
the applicant if they weren't around. None of these are valid reasons to approve a zoning amendment. The council
should make clear in its public deliberations that it is considering this application on the merits alone.

Regards,
Colin Cannell
717 S Fifth St




Steehanie Shaw

From: Kayla Oles <kayla.oles264@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, November 1, 2021 10:47 AM
To: Stephanie Shaw

Subject: Kenyons Meat Market

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

Hey Stephanie!
I'm writing in regards to Renea and Darrin kenyon and their relocation.

Renna and darrin are a beloved member of the Mebane Community.
I've been a customer of their store for over six years and with that | have seen this small business grow. With growth
comes challenges though.

In order for their business to continue serving the Mebane Community in the utmost ways they need more space inside
and out.

The parking lot is shared by five other businesses and its hard for those that are disabled or handicapped to have a close
parking spot on busy business days, one wouldnt think this could detour customers but it absolutely could.

I would ask that the council highly consider this business to be a part of the fifth street area. As a citizen of Mebane |
would much rather this location be for a small business than a corporate one, we have enough of those, dont you
think?

Moving forward into 2022 | know Kenyons Meat Market will only continue to propser and be supported by members of
the mebane community, this is why they deserve the property in question.

Sincerely,
Kayla Oles
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Stephanie Shaw

From: Tina Smith <tina@maverickradionc.com>
Sent: Monday, November 1, 2021 3:27 PM

To: Stephanie Shaw

Subject: Support For Kenyon's Meat Market

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

To the City of Mebane City Clerk,

This email is to express my support for the rezoning of 1204 S. Fifth St to B-2 to allow the new location for Kenyon's
Meat Market. | have had the pleasure of getting to know Darrin and Renea Kenyon over the last 2.5 years and they are a
huge asset to the Mebane Community as well as Alamance County. | have partnered with them on fundraisers and if
there is ever a need in the local Community the Kenyon's Family is always there to help any way they can.

They along with their wonderful employees worked tirelessly through the Pandemic to make sure their community had
the items they needed to keep their family fed when the big box stores had bare shelves. In a time that has been so
challenging for locally owned small family businesses, Kenyon's has thrived and gone above and beyond to keep their
customers as well as employees happy. As a customer, | would rather support a small family run business that treats all
of their customers like family. This should not even be a question for the City of Mebane, Kenyon's is a staple in the
Mebane Community and this would be a great move for the City of Mebane and Kenyon's to have a larger space to serve
their customers.

Please make the right choice for the city of Mebane and its Residents and allow Kenyon's Meat Market to build at 1204
S. Fifth Street.

Thank you,

Tina Smith
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From: Joan Packenham <joan.packenham@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, November 1, 2021 3:31 PM

To: Info

Cc: Joan.Packenham

Subject: MPORTANT: Landowner Comment for the 1/1/2021 City Council Public Hearing

Meeting: Request to rezone 1.55 acre property addressed 1204 S. Fifth Street (PIN
9814468034), from O&I to B-2 by Kenyon's Meat Market

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the
sender and know the content is safe.

To: Ms. Stephanie Shaw, City Clerk, City of Mebane

From: Joan Packenham, Property Owner of land on Foust Road impacted by potential
rezone

RE: Public Hearing: Request to rezone 1.55 acre property addressed 1204 S. Fifth Street
(PIN 9814468034), from O&I to B-2 by Kenyon’s Meat Market

Date: October 28, 2021

As a property owner within 300 ft of the property to be rezoned, this memo is to
respectfully oppose the request to rezone 1.55 acre property addressed 1204 S. Fifth
Street from an Office and Institutional (O&I) Zone to a B-2 General Business zone.

My concerns are listed below:

1. Rezoning would significantly increase traffic to this residential area which would
decrease the quality of life and health for the community. It has been well
researched and documented that increased traffic to residential areas cause:

a. Increased chronic health conditions such as cardiovascular and pulmonary
disease for individuals who live in the area due to increase in air pollution and
poor air quality from PM2.5 particulate matter from car emissions;

b. Increased noise with increased traffic which is a health hazard both
psychologically and physiologically;

c. Increased safety issues for residents

1



i. Possibility for increased motor vehicle-pedestrian accidents related
to speed and increased volume of traffic. This impact is of particular
concern for vulnerable populations such as the elderly and children.

2. Some may consider this change in the neighborhood to decrease property values
and this may be true at this point as it relates to a single business. However, the
success of this single rezone may begin to open up interest for other businesses. It
has been my experience that when businesses start developing in residential areas,
more businesses will come into the area eventually driving out original
residents. Property land values will eventually increase as more businesses move in
and property taxes for residents in the area will drastically increase. This impacts
all residents, however, for senior citizens who live on retirement incomes, this lack
of foresight and concern for our seniors can become devastating and
detrimental. Under these circumstances, many seniors end up losing their
properties as they cannot afford the increased taxes as retiree’s. Housing insecurity
impacts health both physiologically and psychologically.

2. Rezoning a business within this charming residential community would decrease a
sense of community, neighborhood wellbeing and connectedness. Where this
property is located, a business on this property would cause disruption of the
normal flow of the residential environment (Community and social environment) as
well as the physical environment (natural environmental aesthetics). This is a
beautiful neighborhood that has a great buffer of a woodsy area that nicely
separates and protects it from business, congestion, pollution, etc. In addition, it
is my belief that it would cause additional trauma to a residential neighborhood that
is currently experiencing the aftermath of the new by-pass that is causing excessive
growth. It seems as if well-established neighborhoods are constantly fighting in
cities such as Mebane to keep their neighborhoods and communities intact as
businesses, new developers, city and state road projects come in, disrupting,
destroying and displacing the community and neighborhoods that long-term city
residents have built, maintained and nurtured for decades.

Again, as a landowner who owns property within close proximity of the proposed rezoning
request, I respectfully oppose the requested rezoning request to rezone this area from a
O&I To a B-2.
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AGENDA ITEM #78

Encroachment Request —
To Allow for Second-Story
Balconies at 104 South 4t Street

Presenter
Cy Stober, Development Director

Applicant

Kenneth Knight

112 East Laramie Drive
Mebane, NC 27302

Public Hearing
Yes OO No

Exhibit
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Property
104 S. 4t
Street
Alamance
County GPIN
9825036882

Proposed
Zoning
N/A

Surrounding
Land Uses

Institutional,
Office,
Business

Utilities
Present

No

City Limits
Yes




Agenda ltem continued Page |2

Summary

Kenneth Knight is requesting permission to encroach into the City of Mebane’s right of way at 104 South
Fourth Street to allow for three (3) separate balconies on the front of the building, which is adjacent to the
right of way; there is a 0’ front setback. The balconies will be three feet (3’) deep and four feet (4’) wide
and will encroach into the airspace above the sidewalk on South Fourth Street. The balconies will serve the
private uses of second-story residents of the building.

Zoning and Building Permits have been submitted to the City of Mebane Planning and Inspections staffs,
respectively. The City’s Unified Development Ordinance does not address balconies as an architectural
feature. Pending City Council approval, the balconies will be review, inspected, and approved to ensure
compliance with NC State Building Codes.

Financial Impact
N/A

Recommendation
N/A

Encroachment requests into the municipal right of way are at the discretion of the City Council.

Suggested Motion
1. Motion to approve the encroachment request as presented.

OR

2. Motion to deny the encroachment request as presented.

Attachments

1. Building Permit

Zoning Permit

Building Plans

Visual Exhibits of Site & Proposed Balcony

vk wnw

Encroachment Release & Indemnity Form



CITY OF MEBANE INSPECTIONS DEPARTMENT

BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION
Mailing Address: 106 E. Washington St. Mebane NC 27302
102 S. Fifth St. Mebane NC 27302
Phone: (919) 563-8990
Fax: (919) 563-9506

JoB ADDRESs 104 South Fourth Street LoT, uniT YnitD

owneRr Kenneth Knight

CONTRACTOR: Self PERMIT HOLDER S€lf
emaiL_kwknight79 @gmail.com STATE CONTR. LiC. NO._N/A
ADDRESS 112 East Laramie Drive OWNER OR AUTHORIZED AGENT OF THE OWNER
city Mebane sTaTE NC

71p copE 27302 TEL NO. 336-260-9031

DATE

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF WORK 11-22-21
Add Balacony to second floor as per submitted drawings

PRINTED NAME

Kenneth Knight

SIGNATURE
NEW SQUARE FOOTAGE TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE X N
HeaTED NA ExisTING_NA AT e
UNHEATED_NA NEW X
CONSTRUCTICN COSTS
BUILDING WORK: Commercial (X_) Residential{__) No of units{? )...... Cost $NA
ELECTRICAL WORK: Yes_ NOX oo Cost §
PLUMBING WORK: Yes___ NoX i Cost §
MECHANICAL WORK: YeS X NO__ eeireieree e Cost S
INSULATION: Yes__ NoX _ Res $50 Comm $100 JONING FEE S50 Yes  No
HR FEE $10_DRIVEWAY FEE $ Total Project Cost $ NA
WATER CONN $ NA SEWER CONN % NA METER FEE $ TOTAL COST SREAKDOWN CAN BE USED FOR CONTRACT
* A separate application and permit is required for each trade.
* No Trade Permits will be issued until the accompanying Building Permit issued.

Yes Mo Is there any existing or proposed structure on this property currently serviced or to be serviced by a well

or septic tank?

This permit becomes null and void if work or construction authorized under this permit is not commen
or if afier commencement of work no required inspection is requested and approved within any 12 month period
or for substantial deviations from plans. Work commencing prior to obtaining the necessary permils a
permit fees. The owner and authorized agent of the owner agrees to conform to ali appli
County, Orange County and the State of North Carolina, and the structure designated above is n
used until a2 certificate of occupancy is issued by th City of Mebane Inspection Department.
acdhers to zll codes and ordinances. By signing this application, the applicant further siates that
made herein are true.

OFFICE USE ONLY: BUILDING PERMIT COST $




CITY OF MEBANE INSPECTIONS DEPARTMENT
BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION
Mailing Address: 106 E. Washington St. Mebane NC 27302
102 S. Fifth St. Mebane NC 27302
Phone: (919) 563-9990
Fax: (919) 563-9506
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JoB ADDRESS 104 South Fourth Street LoT, uNiT UnitE

ownNEeR Kenneth Knight

CONTRACTOR: Se€lf PERMIT HOLDER Se€lf

EmaIL kwknight79@gmail.com STATE CONTR. LiC. NO VA
ADDRESS 112 East Laramie Drive OWNER OR AUTHORIZED AGENT OF THE OWNER
ciTy Mebane sTATE NG

7IP CODE 27302 TEL NO. 336-260-9031

DATE

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF WORK 11-22-21
Add Balacony to second floor as per submitted drawings

PRINTED NAME

Kenneth Knight

SIGNATURE

NEW SQUARE FOOTAGE  TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE
HEATED NA exisTING NA
unHEATED NA NEW X

CONSTRUCTION COSTS

BUILDING WORK: Commercial (X ) Residential{_ ) No of units{® }...... Cost SNA

ELECTRICAL WORK: Yes__ NO® oo Cost §

PLUMBING WORK: Yes_ NoX e Cost S

MECHANICAL WORK: Yes X NO___ ccovimoccineceeseeee s Cost s

INSULATION: Yes___ NoX _ Res $50 Comm $100 ZONING FEE $50 Yes__ No___
HRFEE $10 DRIVEWAY FEES$____ Total Project Cost $ NA

WATER CONN $M__ SEWER CONN 3__N_£\_ METERFEES_ TOTAL COST BREAKDOWN CAN BE USED FOR CONTRACT

* A separate application and permit is required for each trade.
* No Trade Permits will be issued until the accompanying Building Permit issued.

or if after commencement of work no reguired inspection is requested and approved within any 12
or for substantial deviations from plans. Work commencing prior (o obiaining the necessary perm
nermit fees. The owner and authorized agent of the owner agrees to conform to sl applicable |

1 certificate of occupancy is issued by th City of Mebane inspection Department 7
adhere to zll codes and ordinances. By signing this application, the applicant further states thatl all

OFFICE USE ONLY: BUILDING PERMIT COST $




ZONING PERMIT APPLICATION

APPLICANT INFORMATION

Property Owner Kenneth Wayne Knight Contractor or Business Owner (If applicable)
Name: Kenneth Wayne Knight Name:
A\ddress: 104 South Fourth St Address:
City-State; Zip:—Mebane NC 27302 City, State, Zip:
phoner—336-260-9031 Phone:
E-mail:  Kwknight79@gmail.com E-mail:
SITE & ACTIVITY INFORMATION
Site Address:
GPIN: Tax Map #:

Temporary Event? [ENo @ ]Yes — Describe:

Development Name:

Is the property subject to requirements by City Council action? No[_]J® Yes— Attach Document(s)
Is Approval by a Homeowners Association Required? No[_1® Yes - Provide copy of approval letter
Proposed Use (Attach sketch, plot plan, or site plan with property & project dimensions, inc. setbacks):

Residential Non-Residential Signs (check all that apply)
i New Use @ Wall
A1 Addition/Deck/Porch 5 New Principal Structure [8_Freestanding
Accessory Structure (Shed, Paol, efc.) Addition/Alteration Monument
CJ® Fence (provide height & material; G L_Change of Use Adbvertising (Billboard)

Attach Easement Form_if applicable)
_@ GarangAfmr‘hpd Eﬁnfar‘hpd @ Upfit lHuminated

nri\/p\l\my (I\Iaw1 Pave, p'rr‘) D Wireless Communication E:Iar*frnnir/l ED
S Qther: D Qther: 5 ther:

**All Temporary Events Featuring a Tent Require a Tent Permit from the Fire Department**
The information provided on this application is accurate and representative of the intended project, to the best of my
knowledge. I acknowledge that the City of Mebane reserves the right to investigate both current conditions and any
changes to the property to verify compliance with this zoning permit.

Kennetiv Wayne Knight Nov11.
2021
Applicant Signature Date
CITY USE ONLY
Jurisdiction: [=6|City Bl ET)  |®X][ Alamance County|®| Orange County
Zoning District:
Rezoning Required? OKX| No [®f Yes
Special Use Required? ® |No [®]Yes
Watershed Overlay? ®X|No [®]Yes
Floodplain Development? OX|No [®]Yes
50’ Stream Buffer Development? [®XI| No ©|Yes
Building Commitments? OX|No [®|Yes - see attached approved checklist

The proposed use or business, as described in this application, 1S permitted




The proposed use or business, as described in this application, IS NOT permitted

Name & Title of Zoning Official

Signature of Zoning Official Date

CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St. . Mebane, NC 27302 @ 919 563 9990 919 563 9506 planning@cityofmebane.com

www.CITY MEBANE.com
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3 X 6 STANDARD WOOD LAG HDG; OPTIONAL PASS THROUGH BOLT ATTACHMENT:

27x6” WOOD
/FRAM\NG

self tapping 2"x2"x14GA
. screws POST w/
§'x2" FLATBAR connection. 2x BALLCAP
gz' ﬁop & BOTTOM #14 x 1} present g
o self_tapping ) depending on =
TS Wi balcony model
neoprene
washer;
optional fully
welded
connection
- - - ) Picket Spacing <4” Typical, ALL SOLID)
H Inner railing d;ej;{q;s Hidden for H (design does not affect sfrugture) §"X3" A36 PICKETS FULLY WELDED
43 [ J
" A3
threaded
orfnector 1 A325
(" [thread STRUCTURAL G
3°x3" 11 GA ength) BOLT—
TUBULAR THROUGH
FRAME ALL
T AROUND e }
[] [] [ \ [ D .l
. \_# 3/8"THICK:
6" WOODLAGS OR 14 SELF A36 SOLID MATERIAL
CONCRETE BOLTS TAPPING SCREWS [ PLASMA PRECUT L
1 @ PLATFORM SCROLL AND GUSSET.
18" BASE FOR GUSSET 1 4", SCROLL
3"x3"x}” SHEAR 4" WIDE
SUPPORT ANGLE
| FRONT VIEW & moms) o -
LENGTH VARIES; 106",82",70", 58" AND 46" TYP. a6 04
This design does not apply for larger width balconies WIDTH VARIES; 48°,367,24" TYP-
SECTION _A—A
SEE FRAMING
RECOMMENDATIONS)
/(ubu\ur configuration
] ] BOTTOM SECTIONAL
5
75 T 5 VIEW OF
o o PRECUT
PLATFORM
FOR AN
bl material 11 GA metal plate HR A36]
80 X
All reinforcements in tube configuratiof /—A{Wé‘dsﬂhverywmch S A< welds 112 every 10 inches 48’
- - - 4 =
% BALCONY
° o [\treinforcers 2 § x 2 3 ALL
11 ga as shown ==
BALCONIES
10
FOLLOW
=a 31 == - THE
| I SAME
STANDARDS

BALCONY SPECIFICATIONS

CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez

The Balcony Company Dec—lIron balconies engineering data 7047500444
info@deciron.com
; REQUESTED BY: RONALD JOHNSON
Permit pdf. SHEET 1/4 Designed and drawn by: PLS q www.deciron.com
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Inner railing designs Hidden for Clarity(design does not affect structure)
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38"x2" FLATBARTOP & BOTTOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"x2"x14GA POST w/ BALLCAP present depending on balcony model

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRONT VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/8"THICK  A36 SOLID MATERIAL PLASMA PRECUT SCROLL AND GUSSET. GUSSET 1 ", SCROLL 12", SCROLL 12" WIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
Picket Spacing ≤4" Typical, ALL SOLID 12"X" A36 PICKETS FULLY WELDED 12" A36 PICKETS FULLY WELDED 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION A-A(SEE FRAMING RECOMMENDATIONS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
#14 SELF TAPPING SCREWS@ PLATFORM BASE FOR 3"x3"x" SHEAR 14" SHEAR SUPPORT ANGLE (5 screws)

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"x6" WOODLAGS ORCONCRETE BOLTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"x6" WOODFRAMING
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3"x3" 11 GA TUBULAR FRAME ALL AROUND
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ESTCODE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 X 6 STANDARD WOOD LAG HDG; OPTIONAL PASS THROUGH BOLT ATTACHMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM SECTIONAL VIEW OF PRECUT PLATFORM FOR AN 80 X 48' BALCONY ALL BALCONIES TO FOLLOW THE SAME STANDARDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
reinforcers 2  x 2  34 x 2  34x 11 ga as shown

AutoCAD SHX Text
tubular configuration

AutoCAD SHX Text
self tapping screws connection. 2x #14 x 1  14self tapping screws with neoprene washer; optional fully welded connection

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTCODE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTCODE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" A36 threaded connector (1" thread length)

AutoCAD SHX Text
The Balcony Company

AutoCAD SHX Text
Dec-Iron balconies engineering data
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Designed and drawn by: PLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Permit pdf. SHEET 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALCONY SPECIFICATIONS
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REQUESTED BY: RONALD JOHNSON
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AutoCAD SHX Text
www.deciron.com


BALCONY STRUCTURAL
DESIGN: Pickets, posts and
other add ons are not
considered structural.

" THROUGHT
Lower brackets are optional. BOLTED OR

STRUCTURAL
“UPPER
BRACKET",
ANGLE 3 X
3X 3,

J1 USE THROUGH BOLT FOR
BRICK OR CMU WALLS.
INSPECT WALL BEFORE
MOUNTING.

4 DA B-7 TREADED ROD
OR § X 6 WOOD LAGS

X 3 HDG wood lags

Jock stud

2 X 36" FRENCH DOOR
ROUGH OPENING 74"

2X10 Header:

reinforcing plate as shown

=]

X6 X26 BACK PLATE (2)

i
/wac ANGLE (4 4

Attach with 3/8x5 HOG
Wood lags

78%"

1

DISTANCE FROM HOLE TO
HOLE, FOR ATTACHMENT

BALCONY WIDTH: 82
q INCHES

Eiished Fioor

LEVEL 1 INCH

o] 1

BELLOWF. F.

TO ALLOW FLOOR
EXTENSION

/_, X 6 HOG waod lags

i LAG
Mandatory»when the frarr_nng souTED S
of the wall is not appropriate,
. - STRUCTURAL
or at your engineers criteria. ENGINEER'S
DECISION
LIVE LOAD SEE CHART
LB
r
STRUCTURAL
BOLT-
THROUGH
BOLTED T0
2' cus
souD
STEEL
ASTM 36 BLOCK
X2 FLAT
BAR:
Bolcon
posts ond <
Salid
pickets
weld onto
this bor.
Structural
brocket:
ASTM 36 §
X14xi
X 3 FLAT
brocket on
an L
configuration.
octy.
3200,
A=A

BASIC LOAD PARAMETERS

BALCONY LOAD PER CODE

100(82"*48")/144 =2733.33 LB,

SHEAR LOAD ON BOLTS

2733/14 =195 LB,

MOMENTUM ON FRAMING MEMBER

0.5*48"2733LB/12 in/F T =1835.67 LB-FT.

required changes.

FRAMING REQUIREMENTS TO MOUNT ANY
WIDTH (106 MAX) X UP TO 48" IN DEPTH

If your wall does not meet this requirements
please have your local engineer prescribe the

4 x 3 x 3 bR ANGLE LAG
goLTeD witH 4[| 3 LacaoLTS

ﬂ BALCONY FLOOR
]
]
o

\ OPTIONAL LOWER BRACKETS

mandatory for existing walls

INSIDE
FRAMING VIEW

for 2x6 WOOD

Dec—Iron balconies engineering data

FRAMING RECOMENDATION

CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez

The Balcony Company Inc. info@decironcom
i REQUESTED BY:
Permit pdf SHEET 2/4 Designed and drawn by: Pedro L Sanchez q www.deciron.com



AutoCAD SHX Text
2X6 FRAMING; 3 STUDS:Provided: 1/8 x 12 x 4     12reinforcing plate as shown

AutoCAD SHX Text
2X10 Header; 

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" A325 STRUCTURAL  BOLT-THROUGH BOLTED TO 2' CUB SOLID STEEL BLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIVE LOAD SEE CHART  (LB)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASTM 36  38X 2 FLAT BAR: Balcony posts and solid pickets weld onto this bar.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STRUCTURAL "UPPER BRACKET", ANGLE  X 14 X 3 X 3, THROUGHT BOLTED OR LAG BOLTED AS PER STRUCTURAL ENGINEER'S DECISION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Structural bracket: ASTM 36  38X 1  X  12 X  38X 3 FLAT bracket on an L configuration.capacity: 3200lb. each.
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AutoCAD SHX Text
14 X6 X26 BACK PLATE (2)
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HOLDING ANGLE (4) Attach with 3/8x5 HDG wood lags
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12 X 6 HDG wood lags
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12 X 3 HDG wood lags
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ESTCODE
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OPTIONAL LOWER BRACKETSmandatory for existing walls
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14 X 3 X 3 SHEAR ANGLE LAG BOLTED WITH  X 3 LAGBOLTS12 X 3 LAGBOLTS
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jack stud
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CLEARANCE

HOLE TO HOLE DISTANCE

4
ENEN
o

MOUNTING DIMENSIONS
BALCONY WIDTH CLEARANCE HOLE TO HOLE ROUGH OPENING FLiSEJEOHSJ_EEAR
46 3-31/2" 3-61/2" 3-2" 0-41/2"
58 4-31/2" 4-61/2" 42" 0-41/2"
° °
70 5-31/2" 5-6 1/2" 5-2" 0-41/2"
82 6-31/2" 6'-6 1/2" 6-2" 0-41/2"
94 7-31/2" 7-61/2" 72" 0-41/2"
106 8-31/2" 8-6 1/2" 8-2" 0-41/2"
1
1
%
1]]% Metal Floor: 1 inch below FF, to allow floor extension.
[
I 4
1
1 1 1
4 17 17
1 2 2 2 il 1
1 95 L J y B 1
o °

46", 58",70",82",94",106" BALCONY WIDTH

MOUNTING DIMENSIONS AND
BOLT [AYOUT FOR BALCONIES
JP 1O 106: WIDE

The Balcony Company Inc.

BOLT LAYOUT
Dec—Iron balconies engineering data

CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez
704-7500444
info@deciron.com

Permit pdf. SHEET 3/4

REQUESTED BY:
Designed and drawn by: PLS Q

www.deciron.com
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ESTCODE
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ESTCODE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOUNTING DIMENSIONS AND BOLT LAYOUT FOR BALCONIES UP TO 106: WIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
The Balcony Company Inc.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Designed and drawn by: PLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Permit pdf. SHEET 3/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOLT LAYOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
REQUESTED BY: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez704-7500444info@deciron.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
www.deciron.com
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Dec-Iron balconies engineering data


LOAD PARAMETERS 24 INCH DEEP BALCONIES (BALCONY UNIT WEIGHT IS BASED ON THE HEAVIEST MODEL)

LIVE LOAD CODE

UNIT WEIGHT LOAD ON WALL (code MOMENTUM ON
BALCONY WIDTH | TRIBUTARY DEPTH | TRIBUTARY WIDTH | TRIBUTARY AREA (heaviest model) RQ-_1 00 Ib/sq ft x load + unit weight) WALL (x= 1 ft)
Tributary area
46 1-91/2" 3-5" 6.12 SQ. FT. 261 Ib. 6121b 873 1b 873 Ib-ft
58 1-91/2" 4-5" 7.91 8Q. FT. 299 Ib. 7911b 1090 Ib 1090 Ib-ft
70 1-9 1/2" 5-5" 9.7 SQ. FT. 338 Ib. 970 Ib 1308 Ib 1308 Ib-ft
82 1-9 1/2" 6'-5" 11.5SQ. FT. 376 Ib. 1150 Ib 1526 Ib 1526 Ib-ft
94 1-9 1/2" 7-5" 13.29 SQ. FT. 420 Ib. 1329 Ib 17491b 1749 Ib-ft
106 1-91/2" 8-5" 15.07 SQ. FT. 458 Ib 15071b 1965 Ib 1965 Ib-ft

LOAD PARAMETERS 36 INCH DEEP BALCONIES (BALCONY UNIT WEIGHT IS BASED ON THE HEAVIEST MODEL)

BALCONY WIDTH TRIBUTARY DEPTH | TRIBUTARY WIDTH | TRIBUTARY AREA (:e’\‘al\;eV:tErLig;—l) LI&%.?_EO:E)EEEE L?ﬁ;?’t:{xﬂ:;ﬁgde “\/IIV%'\CET)LU‘:\AS?J;‘
46 2'-91/2" 3-5" 9.4 8Q. FT. 342 Ib. 940 Ib 1282 Ib 1923 Ib-ft
58 2'-91/2" 4-5" 12.33 8Q. FT. 385 Ib. 1233 b 1618 Ib 2427 Ib-ft
70 3-9 1/2" 5-5" 15.12 SQ. FT. 429 Ib. 1512 1b 1941 b 2912 Ib-ft
82 4-9 172" 6'-5" 17.91 8Q. FT. 481 Ib. 1791 1b 2272 b 3408 Ib-ft
94 59 1/2" 7-5" 20.7 SQ. FT. 525 Ib. 2070 Ib 2595 Ib 3893 Ib-ft
106 6'-9 1/2" 8-5" 23.58Q. FT. 558 Ib 2350 Ib 2908 Ib 4362 Ib-ft

LOAD PARAMETERS 48 INCH DEEP BALCONIES (BALCONY UNIT WEIGHT IS BASED ON THE HEAVIEST MODEL)

The Balcony Company Inc.

Dec—Iron balconies engineering data

BALCONYWIOTH | TRIBUTARY DEPTH | TRIBUTARY WIDTH | TRIBUTARY AREA | JNTWEISHT kgfo%jgi;ff?ﬁ!i LOAD ON WALL (code| - MOMENTUM ON
46 NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE
58 3-91/2" 4'-5" 16.94 SQ. FT. 438 Ib. 1694 Ib 2132 1b 4266 Ib-ft
70 3-91/2" 5'-5" 20.54 SQ. FT. 486 Ib. 2054 Ib 2540 b 4594 |b-ft
82 3-91/2" 6'-5" 24.33 SQ. FT. 535 Ib. 2433 1b 2968 Ib 5876 Ib-ft
94 3-9 1/2" 7'-5" 28.12 SQ. FT. 597 Ib. 28121b 3409 Ib 6188 Ib-ft
106 3-91/2" 8-5" 32.91 8Q. FT. 645 Ib. 3291lb 3936 Ib 7872 Ib-ft
LOAD DATA CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez

704-7500444
info®@deciron.com

Permit pdf SHEET 4/4

Designed and drawn by: Pedro L Sanchez

REQUESTED BY:

www.deciron.com
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	 	ZONING PERMIT APPLICATION 

 

 

APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Property Owner  Kenneth Wayne Knight	Contractor or Business Owner (If applicable) 

Name:   Kenneth Wayne Knight	Name:   

Address: 104 South Fourth St	Address: 

City, State, Zip:   Mebane NC 27302	City, State, Zip:   

Phone:   336-260-9031	Phone:   

E-mail:   kwknight79@gmail.com	E-mail:   

SITE & ACTIVITY INFORMATION 

Site Address: 

GPIN:                                                                              Tax Map #: 

Temporary Event?  X No     �  Yes – Describe:      

Development Name:   

Is the property subject to requirements by City Council action?  �x No     �  Yes – Attach Document(s)      

[image: ]Is Approval by a Homeowners Association Required?  �x No     �  Yes – Provide copy of approval letter      Proposed Use (Attach sketch, plot plan, or site plan with property & project dimensions, inc. setbacks): 

 

	Residential 	Non-Residential 	Signs (check all that apply) 

	�   New Principal Structure 	�   New Use 	�   Wall 

	�x   Addition/Deck/Porch 	�   New Principal Structure �   Freestanding 

	�   Accessory Structure (Shed, Pool, etc.) �   Addition/Alteration 	�   Monument 

	�   Fence (provide height & material; �   Change of Use 	�   Advertising (Billboard) 

       Attach Easement Form, if applicable) 

	�   Garage: �Attached  �Detached 	�   Upfit 	�   Illuminated 

	�   Driveway (New, Pave, etc.) 	�   Wireless Communication �   Electronic/LED 

	�   Other:__________________ 	�   Other:______________ �   Other:_________________ 

**All Temporary Events Featuring a Tent Require a Tent Permit from the Fire Department** 

The information provided on this application is accurate and representative of the intended project, to the best of my knowledge. I acknowledge that the City of Mebane reserves the right to investigate both current conditions and any changes to the property to verify compliance with this zoning permit. 

 

_                                                                                                                                               Kenneth Wayne Knight____________________________________________Nov11. 2021___________________________ 

Applicant Signature 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Date 

 

		CITY USE ONLY 



		Jurisdiction:                         

		x�

		 City     

		�

		  ETJ        

		�x

		  Alamance County   

		�

		  Orange County 



		Zoning District: 



		     Rezoning Required?                    

		 �x

		 No      

		�

		  Yes 



		     Special Use Required?                 

		�

		 No      

		�

		  Yes 



		Watershed Overlay?                         

		�x

		 No      

		�

		  Yes 



		Floodplain Development?                

		�x

		 No      

		� 

		 Yes 



		50’ Stream Buffer Development?    

		�x

		 No      

		�

		  Yes 



		Building Commitments?                  

		�x

		 No      

		� 

		 Yes – see attached approved checklist 





 

		�





  The proposed use or business, as described in this application, IS permitted 

		�





  The proposed use or business, as described in this application, IS NOT permitted 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Name & Title of Zoning Official 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Signature of Zoning Official 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Date 
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Inner railing designs Hidden for Clarity(design does not affect structure)
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38"x2" FLATBARTOP & BOTTOM
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2"x2"x14GA POST w/ BALLCAP present depending on balcony model
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FRONT VIEW
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3/8"THICK  A36 SOLID MATERIAL PLASMA PRECUT SCROLL AND GUSSET. GUSSET 1 ", SCROLL 12", SCROLL 12" WIDE
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Picket Spacing ≤4" Typical, ALL SOLID 12"X" A36 PICKETS FULLY WELDED 12" A36 PICKETS FULLY WELDED 
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SECTION A-A(SEE FRAMING RECOMMENDATIONS)
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#14 SELF TAPPING SCREWS@ PLATFORM BASE FOR 3"x3"x" SHEAR 14" SHEAR SUPPORT ANGLE (5 screws)
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12"x6" WOODLAGS ORCONCRETE BOLTS
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2"x6" WOODFRAMING
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3"x3" 11 GA TUBULAR FRAME ALL AROUND
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12" A325 STRUCTURAL  BOLT-THROUGH
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12 X 6 STANDARD WOOD LAG HDG; OPTIONAL PASS THROUGH BOLT ATTACHMENT
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BOTTOM SECTIONAL VIEW OF PRECUT PLATFORM FOR AN 80 X 48' BALCONY ALL BALCONIES TO FOLLOW THE SAME STANDARDS
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reinforcers 2  x 2  34 x 2  34x 11 ga as shown



AutoCAD SHX Text

tubular configuration
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self tapping screws connection. 2x #14 x 1  14self tapping screws with neoprene washer; optional fully welded connection
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12" A36 threaded connector (1" thread length)
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BALCONY STRUCTURAL
DESIGN: Pickets, posts and
other add ons are not
considered structural.

" THROUGHT
Lower brackets are optional. BOLTED OR

STRUCTURAL
“UPPER
BRACKET",
ANGLE 3 X
3X 3,

J1 USE THROUGH BOLT FOR
BRICK OR CMU WALLS.
INSPECT WALL BEFORE
MOUNTING.

4 DA B-7 TREADED ROD
OR § X 6 WOOD LAGS

X 3 HDG wood lags

Jock stud

2 X 36" FRENCH DOOR
ROUGH OPENING 74"

2X10 Header:

reinforcing plate as shown

=]

X6 X26 BACK PLATE (2)

i
/wac ANGLE (4 4

Attach with 3/8x5 HOG
Wood lags

78%"

1

DISTANCE FROM HOLE TO
HOLE, FOR ATTACHMENT

BALCONY WIDTH: 82
q INCHES

Eiished Fioor

LEVEL 1 INCH

o] 1

BELLOWF. F.

TO ALLOW FLOOR
EXTENSION

/_, X 6 HOG waod lags

i LAG
Mandatory»when the frarr_nng souTED S
of the wall is not appropriate,
. - STRUCTURAL
or at your engineers criteria. ENGINEER'S
DECISION
LIVE LOAD SEE CHART
LB
r
STRUCTURAL
BOLT-
THROUGH
BOLTED T0
2' cus
souD
STEEL
ASTM 36 BLOCK
X2 FLAT
BAR:
Bolcon
posts ond <
Salid
pickets
weld onto
this bor.
Structural
brocket:
ASTM 36 §
X14xi
X 3 FLAT
brocket on
an L
configuration.
octy.
3200,
A=A

BASIC LOAD PARAMETERS

BALCONY LOAD PER CODE

100(82"*48")/144 =2733.33 LB,

SHEAR LOAD ON BOLTS

2733/14 =195 LB,

MOMENTUM ON FRAMING MEMBER

0.5*48"2733LB/12 in/F T =1835.67 LB-FT.

required changes.

FRAMING REQUIREMENTS TO MOUNT ANY
WIDTH (106 MAX) X UP TO 48" IN DEPTH

If your wall does not meet this requirements
please have your local engineer prescribe the

4 x 3 x 3 bR ANGLE LAG
goLTeD witH 4[| 3 LacaoLTS

ﬂ BALCONY FLOOR
]
]
o

\ OPTIONAL LOWER BRACKETS

mandatory for existing walls

INSIDE
FRAMING VIEW

for 2x6 WOOD

Dec—Iron balconies engineering data

FRAMING RECOMENDATION

CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez

The Balcony Company Inc. info@decironcom
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2X6 FRAMING; 3 STUDS:Provided: 1/8 x 12 x 4     12reinforcing plate as shown
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2X10 Header; 
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12" A325 STRUCTURAL  BOLT-THROUGH BOLTED TO 2' CUB SOLID STEEL BLOCK
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LIVE LOAD SEE CHART  (LB)
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ASTM 36  38X 2 FLAT BAR: Balcony posts and solid pickets weld onto this bar.
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STRUCTURAL "UPPER BRACKET", ANGLE  X 14 X 3 X 3, THROUGHT BOLTED OR LAG BOLTED AS PER STRUCTURAL ENGINEER'S DECISION.
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Structural bracket: ASTM 36  38X 1  X  12 X  38X 3 FLAT bracket on an L configuration.capacity: 3200lb. each.
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A-A'
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14 X6 X26 BACK PLATE (2)
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HOLDING ANGLE (4) Attach with 3/8x5 HDG wood lags
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INSIDE FRAMING VIEW(for 2x6 WOOD 
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12 X 6 HDG wood lags
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12 X 3 HDG wood lags
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12' DIA B-7 TREADED RODOR  X 6 WOOD LAGS12 X 6 WOOD LAGS
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OPTIONAL LOWER BRACKETSmandatory for existing walls
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14 X 3 X 3 SHEAR ANGLE LAG BOLTED WITH  X 3 LAGBOLTS12 X 3 LAGBOLTS
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jack stud
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CLEARANCE

HOLE TO HOLE DISTANCE

4
ENEN
o

MOUNTING DIMENSIONS
BALCONY WIDTH CLEARANCE HOLE TO HOLE ROUGH OPENING FLiSEJEOHSJ_EEAR
46 3-31/2" 3-61/2" 3-2" 0-41/2"
58 4-31/2" 4-61/2" 42" 0-41/2"
° °
70 5-31/2" 5-6 1/2" 5-2" 0-41/2"
82 6-31/2" 6'-6 1/2" 6-2" 0-41/2"
94 7-31/2" 7-61/2" 72" 0-41/2"
106 8-31/2" 8-6 1/2" 8-2" 0-41/2"
1
1
%
1]]% Metal Floor: 1 inch below FF, to allow floor extension.
[
I 4
1
1 1 1
4 17 17
1 2 2 2 il 1
1 95 L J y B 1
o °

46", 58",70",82",94",106" BALCONY WIDTH

MOUNTING DIMENSIONS AND
BOLT [AYOUT FOR BALCONIES
JP 1O 106: WIDE

The Balcony Company Inc.

BOLT LAYOUT
Dec—Iron balconies engineering data

CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez
704-7500444
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Permit pdf. SHEET 3/4

REQUESTED BY:
Designed and drawn by: PLS Q

www.deciron.com




AutoCAD SHX Text

ESTCODE



AutoCAD SHX Text

ESTCODE



AutoCAD SHX Text

MOUNTING DIMENSIONS AND BOLT LAYOUT FOR BALCONIES UP TO 106: WIDE



AutoCAD SHX Text

The Balcony Company Inc.



AutoCAD SHX Text

Designed and drawn by: PLS



AutoCAD SHX Text

Permit pdf. SHEET 3/4



AutoCAD SHX Text

BOLT LAYOUT



AutoCAD SHX Text

REQUESTED BY: 



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez704-7500444info@deciron.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

www.deciron.com



AutoCAD SHX Text

Dec-Iron balconies engineering data





LOAD PARAMETERS 24 INCH DEEP BALCONIES (BALCONY UNIT WEIGHT IS BASED ON THE HEAVIEST MODEL)

LIVE LOAD CODE

UNIT WEIGHT LOAD ON WALL (code MOMENTUM ON
BALCONY WIDTH | TRIBUTARY DEPTH | TRIBUTARY WIDTH | TRIBUTARY AREA (heaviest model) RQ-_1 00 Ib/sq ft x load + unit weight) WALL (x= 1 ft)
Tributary area
46 1-91/2" 3-5" 6.12 SQ. FT. 261 Ib. 6121b 873 1b 873 Ib-ft
58 1-91/2" 4-5" 7.91 8Q. FT. 299 Ib. 7911b 1090 Ib 1090 Ib-ft
70 1-9 1/2" 5-5" 9.7 SQ. FT. 338 Ib. 970 Ib 1308 Ib 1308 Ib-ft
82 1-9 1/2" 6'-5" 11.5SQ. FT. 376 Ib. 1150 Ib 1526 Ib 1526 Ib-ft
94 1-9 1/2" 7-5" 13.29 SQ. FT. 420 Ib. 1329 Ib 17491b 1749 Ib-ft
106 1-91/2" 8-5" 15.07 SQ. FT. 458 Ib 15071b 1965 Ib 1965 Ib-ft

LOAD PARAMETERS 36 INCH DEEP BALCONIES (BALCONY UNIT WEIGHT IS BASED ON THE HEAVIEST MODEL)

BALCONY WIDTH TRIBUTARY DEPTH | TRIBUTARY WIDTH | TRIBUTARY AREA (:e’\‘al\;eV:tErLig;—l) LI&%.?_EO:E)EEEE L?ﬁ;?’t:{xﬂ:;ﬁgde “\/IIV%'\CET)LU‘:\AS?J;‘
46 2'-91/2" 3-5" 9.4 8Q. FT. 342 Ib. 940 Ib 1282 Ib 1923 Ib-ft
58 2'-91/2" 4-5" 12.33 8Q. FT. 385 Ib. 1233 b 1618 Ib 2427 Ib-ft
70 3-9 1/2" 5-5" 15.12 SQ. FT. 429 Ib. 1512 1b 1941 b 2912 Ib-ft
82 4-9 172" 6'-5" 17.91 8Q. FT. 481 Ib. 1791 1b 2272 b 3408 Ib-ft
94 59 1/2" 7-5" 20.7 SQ. FT. 525 Ib. 2070 Ib 2595 Ib 3893 Ib-ft
106 6'-9 1/2" 8-5" 23.58Q. FT. 558 Ib 2350 Ib 2908 Ib 4362 Ib-ft

LOAD PARAMETERS 48 INCH DEEP BALCONIES (BALCONY UNIT WEIGHT IS BASED ON THE HEAVIEST MODEL)

The Balcony Company Inc.

Dec—Iron balconies engineering data

BALCONYWIOTH | TRIBUTARY DEPTH | TRIBUTARY WIDTH | TRIBUTARY AREA | JNTWEISHT kgfo%jgi;ff?ﬁ!i LOAD ON WALL (code| - MOMENTUM ON
46 NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE NOT AVAILABLE
58 3-91/2" 4'-5" 16.94 SQ. FT. 438 Ib. 1694 Ib 2132 1b 4266 Ib-ft
70 3-91/2" 5'-5" 20.54 SQ. FT. 486 Ib. 2054 Ib 2540 b 4594 |b-ft
82 3-91/2" 6'-5" 24.33 SQ. FT. 535 Ib. 2433 1b 2968 Ib 5876 Ib-ft
94 3-9 1/2" 7'-5" 28.12 SQ. FT. 597 Ib. 28121b 3409 Ib 6188 Ib-ft
106 3-91/2" 8-5" 32.91 8Q. FT. 645 Ib. 3291lb 3936 Ib 7872 Ib-ft
LOAD DATA CONTACT: Pedro L. Sanchez

704-7500444
info®@deciron.com
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RELEASE & INDEMNITY AGREEMENT FOR
ENCROACHMENT INTO MUNICIPAL RIGHT OF WAY

THIS DOCUMENT MUST BE SIGNED BY THE SOLE PROPRIETOR, A PRESIDENT OR VICE PRESIDENT OF
THE CORPORATION, THE MANAGER OR MANAGING MEMBER OF THE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, OR
THE GENERAL PARTNER OF THE PARTNERSHIP.

Name of Applicant (the “Undersigned”):

0 Property Owner CTenant

Type of Business (sole proprietor, Corporation, LLC, etc.):

WHEREAS, the Undersigned has asked to use property or facilities belonging to or under the auspices of the City
of Mebane, North Carolina (the “City”), for the uses described above, and to engage in activities for the exclusive
benefit of the Undersigned; and

WHEREAS, the Undersigned agrees to do so at their own risk and recognizes the possible and inherent danger to
their person or property and the person and property of others resulting therefrom; and

WHEREAS, in consideration of allowing the Undersigned to conduct its activities on the City property, the City
requires that the Undersigned accept liability for any damages arising from personal injury or property damage
sustained from the activities of the Undersigned, which shall include action or inaction of the Undersigned, and
that the Undersigned indemnify the City from any claims associated with said damages.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained in this Agreement and for other good and
valuable consideration that the parties agree they have received, the Undersigned does hereby for themselves,
their heirs, executors, employers, successors or administrators, and their personal representatives:

A. Assume full responsibility for any personal injury or any damage to their personal property which may
occur, directly or indirectly, while in, on, or about any City premises or parts thereof;

B. Fully and forever release and discharge the City, its elected officials, its agents and employees, from any
and all claims, demands, damages, rights of action, or causes of action, present or future, whether the
same be known, anticipated, or unanticipated, relating to, resulting from, or arising out of the
Undersigned being in, on, or about any such City of Mebane property, or at any or all of the premises or
places aforesaid,;

CITY OF MEBANE 106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302 0 919 563 5901 planning@cityofmebane.com

www.CITY MEBANE.cowm



C. Indemnify and hold harmless the City, its elected officials, its agents and employees, for any act or
conduct of the Undersigned of whatever kind or nature whatsoever, while in, or about any such City
property, or at any or all of the premises and places aforesaid,;

D. Agree to defend the City in and to pay any attorneys’ fees as a result of any action brought by or against
the City, its agents and employees, for any acts or conduct of the Undersigned of whatever kind or
nature whatsoever, while in, on, or about any such City property, or at any or all of the premises
aforesaid.

E. Agree thatitis the intent of the Undersigned that this Release and Indemnity Agreement shall be in full
force and effect any time after the Execution hereof until the Undersigned provides the City written
notice of cancellation and the City provides the Undersigned written notice that the City received the

cancellation.
Applicant — Printed Applicant —Signature Date
Phone Number Email Mailing Address
Property Owner — Printed Property Owner - Signature Date

(If different from Applicant)

Witness Signature (must be able to verify Witness Printed Name
Applicant’s signature and authority to enter
into this Agreement)

Approval, Mayor Ed Hooks

CITY OF MEBANE 106 East Washington Street | Mebane, NC 27302 o 919 563 5901 planning@cityofmebane.com

www.CITY MEBANE.cowm
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AGENDA ITEM #7/C

Final Major Subdivision Plat —
Villas on Fifth, Phase 3A

Presenter
Cy Stober, Development Director

Applicant

NOVA TRIAD PARTNERS, LLC

206 NORTH SPRUCE SREET, SUITE 2B
WINSTON-SALEM 27101

Public Hearing
Yesd No

Final Plat

Property

s i s B saws 3w
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715888 | | GPIN 9814543813
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N ggaé Proposed Zoning

3 N/A

Current Zoning
R-6(CD); formerly
CU-R-6

-
il

Size
+/-7.874 acres

(et r
- " _ CAMERONLANE
SSPUBICRM | @ |

FINAL PLAT

Surrounding
Zoning

R-20, R-6(CD); B-2,
MHP

VILLAS ON 5TH, PHASE 3A

Surrounding Land
Uses

Single-Family
Residential & Vacant

elefelefefe]ala]ele]ele[a]e]]

Utilities
Extended at
developer’s

expense.

Floodplain
No

Watershed
No

City Limits
Yes
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Summary

Nova Triad Partners, LLC, is requesting approval of the Final Plat for Villas On Fifth, Phase 3A, which was
approved 4-0 as a Conditional Use Permit by the Mebane City Council on January 11, 2017. The Final Plat
will include a total area of +/-7.874 acres including +/-3.784 acres in 22 lots, +/-1.594 acres dedicated to
common elements (stormwater control measure and open space), and +/-1,830 linear feet and +/-2.496
acres of public right-of-way.

The Technical Review Committee (TRC) has reviewed the Final Plat and the applicant has revised the plat
to reflect its comments. The subdivision of this property meets the provisions of the City of Mebane’s
Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) and the conditions for this zoning district, as approved by the
Mebane City Council. All infrastructure must be completed and approved to meet the City of Mebane
Specifications, with the exception of the Cameron Lane ROW dedicated on this plat, which shall be bonded
with the City for a minimum of five (5) years, per the conditions placed on this property by the City Council.
All infrastructure not completed shall be bonded or a letter of credit provided prior to recordation and
reviewed on an annual basis to ensure completion.

Financial Impact
The developer has extended utilities at his own expense.

Recommendation
Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat.

Suggested Motion
Motion to approve the final plat as presented.

Attachments
1. Final Plat



City of Mebane
2022 Regular Meetings and FY 2022-2023 Budget Calendar

Monday, January 3, 2022 Regular Meeting
Monday, February 7, 2022 Regular Meeting
Monday, March 7, 2022 Regular Meeting

Monday, April 4, 2022 Regular Meeting

Monday, May 2, 2022 Regular Meeting

Monday, June 6, 2022 Regular Meeting

Monday, July 11, 2022 Regular Meeting
Monday, August 1, 2022 Regular Meeting
Monday, September 12, 2022 Regular Meeting
Monday, October 3, 2022 Regular Meeting
Monday, November 7, 2022 Regular Meeting

Monday, December 5, 2022 Regular Meeting




Meeting Date
December 6, 2021

AGENDAITEM# /e

Resolution- Council Meeting Presenter

Lawson Brown, City Attorney

Procedure- Post Covid

Public Hearing
Yes (1 No

Summary

Council directed staff to draft a policy for the conduct of its meetings, allowing for live streaming of the
Council meetings, but limiting the consideration of participation by the public by electronic means,
including zoom and emails.

Background

During the time period covered by the Governor’s Executive Orders limiting in person meetings and
consistent with the applicable statutes, the Council adopted a policy in November, 2020, in compliance
with the recently enacted legislation addressing electronic meetings of elected public bodies, consistent
with the Executive Orders. The Council at its last meeting requested a new policy consistent with in person
Council meetings.

Financial Impact
The indirect cost will result in a savings of the City staff, especially the IT Department and City Clerk.

Recommendation
Staff recommends the adoption of the proposed policy.

Suggested Motion
I move that the City adopt the attached policy for the conduct of its Council meetings.

Attachments
1. Resolution



RESOLUTION AND POLICY ADOPTION

The Mebane City Council, in recognition of the past and present applicable legislation as passed
by the North Carolina General Assembly, the expired Governor’s Executive Orders regarding the
State of Emergency, and the COVID-19 pandemic, does hereby adopt the following Resolution and
Policy regarding Council meetings:

POLICY REGARDING COUNCIL MEETINGS

WHEREAS, NCGS Sec. 166A-19.24 provides for the conduct of meetings by any public body,
including the City of Mebane City Council by a “Remote Meeting” under NCGS Sec. 166A-19.24
(herein “Remote Meeting Statute”); and

WHEREAS, a “Remote Meeting” is defined as “An official meeting, or any part thereof, with,
between one and all of the members of the public body participating by simultaneous
communication” with “simultaneous communication” being defined as “Any communication by
conference telephone, conference video, or other electronic means”; and

WHEREAS, the Council, after several months of conducting its Meetings by “Remote” during a
Governor declared State of Emergency resumed in-person meeting upon expiration of the
Governor’s State of Emergency at the City’s Municipal Building, which resulted in the Council
meetings being in person or in the case of less than a quorum, in the meetings being Electronic as
authorized by NCGS Sec. 106A-71(c); and

WHEREAS, the Council has continued the conduct of its meetings under the Remote meeting
Statute, resulting in the live streaming online both video and audio which has allowed persons
appearing before the Council and the citizens to participate by video conferencing; and

WHEREAS, the Council finds that the live streaming of the Council Meetings is advantageous for
the City, the Council, and the citizenry;

NOW THEREFORE THE COUNCIL HEREBY ADOPTS THE FOLLOWING POLICY FOR THE CONDUCT OF
COUNCIL MEETINGS:

1. The Council at all times will follow the procedures stated in the NORTH CAROLINA
GENERAL STATUTES, particularly NCGS Sec. 166A- 19.24 when appropriate, in the
conduct of its meetings.

2. The Council will allow for purposes of a quorum, notice, voting, public comment and

public hearings, the in-person presence of the Council members and Mayor at the City
Municipal Building (or such other place as the Council determines).

Resolution and Policy Adoption-Amended 12.06.2021



In the event that all Council members and the Mayor are unable to be physically
present at such meetings, the Council may, with a quorum of the Council being
physically present, as allowed by statute, conduct such meeting as an electronic
meeting, allowing access by any such Council member or Mayor, by electronic or
telephonic means, provided that all action is in accordance with applicable NCGS
statutes.

In the event that all Council members and the Mayor are unable to be physically
present at such meetings, and provided sufficient notice of such contingency is given,
the Council will hold the meeting under the Remote Meeting Statute, in strict
accordance with the same.

All meetings of the Council shall be streamed online simultaneously with live audio and
video; provided, however, in the event of a malfunction or interruption of the live
streaming, the actions of the Council shall not be adversely affected by the malfunction
or interruption unless the meeting is being held under the Remote Meeting Statute.

During in-person meetings, the procedure for citizens and applicants is that physical
presence shall be required for participation.

During In-person Council Meetings, the City will no longer provide a procedure for
citizens, applicants, and others not physically present to participate by conference
telephone, conference video, or other electronic means. Written comments by email,
letter or other means may be considered by the Council in its deliberations as Council
determines.

The City Clerk and City staff are directed to notice the Council meetings in accordance
with this Policy, and to provide appropriate notice that participation by conference
telephone, conference video, or other electronic means, for citizens, applicants, and
others, will not be allowed.

The City staff is directed to provide the live streaming online with live video and live
audio in accordance with this Policy.

Amended and adopted this the 6th day of December, 2021.

ATTEST:

Ed Hooks, Mayor

Stephanie W. Shaw, City Clerk

Resolution and Policy Adoption-Amended 12.06.2021
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AGENDA ITEM # 8 December 6, 2021

2020-21 Financial Statements Pracenar

i Daphna Schwartz, Fi Direct
and AUdIt ap. r.1a chwartz, Finance Director |
Patricia Rhodes, Stout Stuart McGowen & King
LLP

Public Hearing
Yes [ No

Summary
The Finance Officer and City auditors will present the results of the audit for the previous fiscal year.

Background

As required by General Statute §159-34, each year the City undergoes an independent audit of the financial
records. In accordance with recommended best practices, the City employs two audit teams - Cobb Ezekiel
& Loy continued to assist with the preparation of financial statements, and Stout Stuart McGowen & King
performed the required audit of the statements. The City received an unmodified or “clean” audit opinion
for the 2020-21 fiscal year.

The Governmental Funds added $1,458,652 to Fund Balance, with unassigned fund balance totaling
$10,332,231 on June 30. Tax collections were at 99.6%, and the tax base increased to $2,376,226,395; a
3.5% increase over the prior year. The General Fund made $1,536,937 in payments of existing debt in
FY21 and issued $430,000 of new debt.

The Utility Fund’s net position increased by $4,316,567, largely due to contributed capital of $3,024,512 in
the form of new utility lines and streets. The Utility Fund made $855,385 in payments of existing debt in
FY21 and had no new issuance.

Financial Impact
None.

Recommendation
Staff recommends acceptance of the report.

Suggested Motion
Motion to accept the report.

Attachments

1. Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Year Ended June 30, 2021
2. PowerPoint Presentation — Finance Director

3. PowerPoint Presentation - Auditor



Annual Comprehensive

Financial Report

City of Mebane, North Carolina
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021







Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report

City of Mebane, North Carolina

For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Prepared by
Daphna Schwartz
Finance Director
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November 2021

The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane, North Carolina

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the City of Mebane, North Carolina is submitted for your review and
use. This report was prepared by the City’s Finance Department, and it is the comprehensive publication of the City’s
financial position and results of operations as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. The City, like all other
local governments in the State, is required by state law to publish a complete set of financial statements within four
months of the close of each fiscal year. The financial statements must be presented in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a
firm of licensed certified public accountants. This report is published to fulfill that requirement for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021, and to provide further accountability to citizens and other interested parties by providing a
more comprehensive report in lieu of the minimum basic financial statement requirements.

City management is responsible for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the report.
To ensure reliability of the information, City management has established a comprehensive framework of internal
controls. Internal controls protect the City’s assets from loss, theft and misuse and provide reliable information for
the preparation of this report. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City’s
controls have been designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements
are free of any material misstatements. As management, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial
report is complete, accurate and reliable in all material respects.

As noted earlier, the City is required by state law to have an annual independent financial audit. Stout, Stuart,
McGowen & King, LLP, conducted the audit and concluded in an unmodified (“clean”) opinion that the financial
statements present fairly in conformity with GAAP, in all material respects, the financial position and changes in
financial position for the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of June 30, 2021. The independent auditors’ report on
the basic financial statements is located at the beginning of the financial section of this report.

Management’s discussion and analysis of the basic financial statements (MD&A) immediately follows the
independent auditors’ report and provides a prescribed narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic
financial statements. The MD&A is designed to complement this letter of transmittal and should be read in
conjunction with it.

Profile of the City

The town was named for Brigadier General Alexander Mebane of the North Carolina Militia and a member of
Congress in the 1790's. In 1855, the railroad arrived and Mebane was incorporated in 1881 as the town of
Mebanesville. The name was officially changed to Mebane in 1883. The charter was amended to the City of Mebane
in February of 1987. Also in 1881, Mebane's industrial growth began with establishment of the former White
Furniture Company, followed by the Mebane Bedding Company (now Kingsdown) in 1904 and the Ridgeville
Telephone Company (now Centurylink Communications) in 1907.

CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St. | Mebane, NC 27302 0 919 563 5901 919 563 1007
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The City of Mebane is located in the Piedmont Triad Region of North Carolina, about 45 minutes west of Raleigh, the
State capital, and 20 minutes east of Greensboro, the State’s third largest city. The City has a land area of
approximately ten miles, and a population of 16,262. Mebane is the second largest of ten municipalities located on
the eastern border of Alamance County. The City is located mostly in Alamance County, with about 15% of it in
Orange County.

The City is governed by the council-manager form of government. Policy making and legislative authority are vested
in the City Council, consisting of the mayor and five other members. The City Council is responsible, among other
things, for passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees, and hiring both the City’s manager and
attorney. The City Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the City Council, for
overseeing the day-to-day operations of the City, and for appointing the heads of the various departments. Five
members of the City Council and the Mayor are elected to four year staggered terms. The Council then selects the
Mayor Pro-tem from within the Council membership.

The City provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection; the maintenance of streets and other
infrastructure; planning and building inspections; solid waste and recycling services; water and sewer services;
recreational and cultural activities; and a library. In the 1970’s, the City of Mebane and the City of Graham began a
joint venture to develop a single water supply for both cities. This intergovernmental cooperation led to the creation
of the Graham-Mebane Lake, which supplies drinking water to both towns. The City of Graham operates the water
treatment plant and manages all lake operations with one-third of the costs historically paid by the City of Mebane
and two-thirds borne by the City of Graham. In FY15, Mebane entered into an agreement to increase to 50% its
share of the water capacity. In FY17, Mebane entered into an agreement to buy 21.43% of Graham’s sewer capacity.

The Mebane City Council is required to adopt a budget by July 1 of each year. The City is empowered to levy a
property tax on both real estate and personal properties located within its boundaries. It also is empowered by state
statute to extend its corporate limits by annexation, which occurs periodically when deemed appropriate by the
governing board. The City’s budget ordinance creates a legal limit on spending authorizations, and serves as the
foundation for Mebane’s financial planning and control. The budget is prepared by fund and department. The City
Manager is authorized by the budget ordinance to make transfers within funds to facilitate budget execution
consistent with Council intent.
Local Economy

Mebane is uniquely located between two metropolitan areas, the Triangle, and the Triad. Mebane has and
continues to lead the area in new homebuilding. This trend is expected to continue as we are growing like other
fringe cities in the Triangle. The trend of increased retail spending is expected to continue and grow stronger
as the population of Mebane grows. Interest in the commercial and downtown sector could result in these
categories of development creating stand-alone projects versus recent mixed used approaches.

Industrial development also continues in Mebane. Chick-Fil-A Supply is scheduled to open a new distribution center
in early 2022, and Lotus Bakeries is expanding its current facility by 111,000 square feet. These facilities demonstrate
Mebane’s prime location on the Interstate 85/40 corridor that links two of the fastest growing metro areas on the
East Coast. At one end, the Research Triangle Park region of Raleigh, Durham and Chapel Hill; at the other, the
Piedmont Triad region of Greensboro, Winston-Salem and High Point. The City of Mebane is at the heart of this
corridor, where the full resources of the region come together to create exceptional opportunities for expanding
and relocating companies in the nationally recognized N.C. Industrial Center, the new Buckhorn Economic
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Development Zone in Orange County, and the newly established North Carolina Commerce Park. Boasting over
3,000 acres between these three development areas, Mebane is poised for economic growth.

Long-Term Financial Planning and Major Initiatives

The City’s 5-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) outlines the major capital purchases and capital project
expenditures for the next five fiscal years while matching a conservative revenue source for payment. This document
also describes the impact of the capital expenditures on the General Fund, Water and Sewer Fund, and the City
finances as a whole. The City’s long-range plans are committed to maintaining a strong financial position while
providing the necessary capital improvements to continue its historically high level of services.

Maijor initiatives of the CIP include the renovation and expansion of the City’s wastewater facility, construction of an
elevated storage tank, Lake Michael Dam repairs, a new police station and a new fire station. The City’s dedication
to quality of life is reflected in the CIP’s plans for parks, trails and other amenities, including the City’s first greenway
trail that will link three parks and a school.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting to the City of Mebane for its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2020. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and
efficiently organized CAFR. This report satisfied both GAAP and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The City of Mebane has received the award for
the last eight years. We believe that our current CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s
requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. We believe
that by participating in the GFOA’s Certificate of Achievement program, we will improve our transparency and
disclosure to the citizens of Mebane.

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the dedicated efforts of the entire staff of the
Finance Department. We would like to express our appreciation to all members of the department who assisted and
contributed to the preparation of this report. Credit also must be given to the mayor and the City Council for their
unfailing support for maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in the management of the City of
Mebane's finances.

Respectfully submitted,

e

Chris Rollins Daphna Schwartz
City Manager Finance Director
CITY OF MEBANE 106 E. Washington St.| Mebane, NC 27302 Q 919 563 5901 919 563 1007
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Mebane (the “City”), North Carolina, as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to an entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit , the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Mebane, North Carolina as of June 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position and
the cash flows, where appropriate, thereof and respective budgetary comparison for the General
Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, on pages 5 through 12, respectively, the Other
Postemployment Benefits’ Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios,
on page 66, the Local Government Employee’s Retirement System’s Schedules of the
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Contributions, on pages 59 and 60,
respectively, the Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund’s Schedule of the
Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability on page 61, the Law Enforcement Officers’ Special
Separation Allowance schedules of the Changes in Total Pension Liability and Total Pension
Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll on pages 62 and 63, respectively and the
Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance schedules of the Changes in Total Pension Liability
and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll on pages 64 and 65, respectively
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
required part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
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inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management’s response to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the City of Mebane, North Carolina. The
combining and individuals fund statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules, and the
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and the State Single Audit Implementation Act, are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The combining and individual fund financial statements, budgetary schedules, and other
schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America by us. In our opinion, based on our audit, the procedures performed as described above,
the combining and individual fund statements, budgetary schedules, other schedules are fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
November 10, 2021 on our consideration of the City of Mebane’s internal control over financial
reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of the report is to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion in internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering City of Mebane’s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Stour Sueet M%owen € K06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 10, 2021
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2021

As management of the City of Mebane, we offer readers of the financial statements this narrative overview
and analysis of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. We encourage readers to
read the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in the
City’s financial statements, which follow this narrative.

Financial Highlights

e The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City of Mebane exceeded its liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources at the close of the fiscal year by $118,247,835 (net position).

e The government’s total net position increased by $7,945,001, due to increases in the government
type net position of $3,628,434 and increases in the business type activities net position of
$4,316,567.

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Mebane’s governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balances of $16,414,129, an increase of $1,458,652 in comparison to
$580,787 in the prior year. Approximately 21.7 percent of this total amount, or $3,565,047, is
nonspendable or restricted.

¢ At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $10,332,231
or 50.63 percent of total general fund expenditures for the fiscal year.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to City’s basic financial statements. The
City’s basic financial statements consist of three components; 1) government-wide financial statements, 2)
fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements (see Figure 1). The basic financial
statements present two different views of the City through the use of government-wide statements and fund
financial statements. In addition to the basic financial statements, this report contains other supplemental
information that will enhance the reader’s understanding of the financial condition of the City of Mebane.

Required Components of Annual Financial Report (Figure 1)

Management Discussion and L .
. Basic Financial Statements
Analysis
Government-wide Financial . . Notes to the Financial
Fund Financial Statements
Statements Statements
Summary »  Detail

Basic Financial Statements
The first two statements (Exhibits 1 and 2) in the basic financial statements are the Government-wide
Financial Statements. They provide both short and long-term information about the City’s financial status.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Management Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2021

The next statements (Exhibits 3 through 8) are Fund Financial Statements. These statements focus on the
activities of the individual parts of the City government. These statements provide more detail than the
government-wide statements. There are three parts to the Fund Financial Statements: 1) the governmental
funds statements; 2) the budgetary comparison statements; and 3) the proprietary fund statements.

The next section of the basic financial statements is the notes. The notes to the financial statements explain
in detail some of the data contained in those statements. After the notes, supplemental information is
provided to show details about the City’s individual funds. Budgetary information required by the General
Statutes also can be found in this part of the statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of the
City’s finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business. The government-wide
statements provide short and long-term information about the City’s financial status as a whole.

The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed. Net
position is the difference between the City’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. Measuring net position is one way to gauge the City’s financial
condition.

The government-wide statements are divided into two categories: 1) governmental activities and 2)
business-type activities. The governmental activities include most of the City’s basic services such as public
safety, parks and recreation, and general administration. Property taxes and state and federal grant funds
finance most of these activities. The business-type activities are those that the City charges customers to
provide. These include the water and sewer services offered by the City of Mebane.

The government-wide financial statements are on Exhibits 1 and 2 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements (see Figure 1) provide a more detailed look at the City’s most significant
activities. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Mebane, like all other governmental entities
in North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance (or non-compliance) with finance-
related legal requirements, such as the General Statutes or the City’s budget ordinance. All of the funds of
the City of Mebane can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds.

Governmental Funds — Governmental funds are used to account for those functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Most of the City’s basic services are
accounted for in governmental funds. These funds focus on how assets can readily be converted into cash
flow in and out, and what monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next year.
Governmental funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting that
provides a short-term spending focus. As a result, the governmental fund financial statements give the reader
a detailed short-term view that helps him or her determine if there are more or less financial resources
available to finance the City’s programs. The relationship between government activities (reported in the
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is described in a
reconciliation that is a part of the fund financial statements.

The City of Mebane adopts an annual budget for its General Fund, as required by the General Statutes. The
budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from the citizens of the City, the management
of the City, and the decisions of the Board about which services to provide and how to pay for them. It also
authorizes the City to obtain funds from identified sources to finance these current period activities. The
budgetary statement provided for the General Fund demonstrates how well the City complied with the
budget ordinance and whether or not the City succeeded in providing the services as planned when the
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budget was adopted. The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of accounting and is
presented using the same format, language, and classifications as the legal budget document. The statement
shows four columns: 1) the original budget as adopted by the board; 2) the final budget as amended by the
board; 3) the actual resources, charges to appropriations, and ending balances in the General Fund; and 4)
the difference or variance between the final budget and the actual resources and charges.

Proprietary Funds — The City of Mebane has one kind of proprietary fund. Enterprise Funds are used to report
the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The
City of Mebane uses enterprise funds to account for its water and sewer activity. These funds are the same as
those functions shown in the business-type activities in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements — The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements begin on page 24 of this report.

Other Information — In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report
includes certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Mebane’s progress in funding its
obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. Required supplementary information can be found
beginning on page 59 of this report.

Interdependence with Other Entities — The City depends on financial resources flowing from, or associated
with, both the Federal Government and the State of North Carolina. Because of this dependency, the City is
subject to changes in specific flows of intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to Federal and
State laws and Federal and State appropriations.

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

City of Mebane’s Net Position (Figure 2)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
Current and other assets... $17,108,874 $16,328,930 $15,314,782 $ 8,495903 $ 8,422,634 $10,038366 $ 25,604,777 $ 24,751,564 $ 25,353,148

Non-current assets..
Capital assets.....
Total assets ...

2,077,097 1,694,588 1,402,094 3,136,703 1,573,791 - 5,213,800 3,268,379 1,402,094
60,583,002 57,304,415 54,184,211 54,987,245 52,721,275 47,220,521 115,570,247 _ 110,025,690 _ 101,404,732
79,768,973 75,327,933 70,901,087 66,619,851 _ 62,717,700 57,258,887 146,388,824 _ 138,045,633 _ 128,159,974

Deferred outflows of resources......... 6,984,654 4,717,368 3,638,262 971,957 692,831 525,612 7,956,611 5,410,199 4,163,874

22,991,907 19,099,032 18,267,076 8,841,303 9,026,767 9,456,048 31,833,210 28,125,799 27,723,124
2,200,642 2,471,378 1,656,230 1,293,498 1,226,150 1,022,724 3,494,140 3,697,528 2,678,954
25,192,549 21,570,410 19,923,306 10,134,801 10,252,917 10,478,772 35,327,350 31,823,327 30,402,078

Long-term liabilities outstandin:
Other liabilities..

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources............ 675,694 790,594 903,583 94,556 111,730 114,256 770,250 902,324 1,017,839

Net position:

Netinvestmentin capital assets...... 53,020,166 48,932,506 44,539,110 48,261,754 45,237,242 38,984,945 101,281,920 94,169,748 83,524,055

Restricted 3,533,331 2,535,935 2,844,468 2,465,362 970,910 586,608 5,998,693 3,506,845 3,431,076

Unrestricted.............. - 4,331,887 6,215,856 6,328,882 6,635,335 6,837,732 7,619,918 10,967,222 13,053,588 13,948,800
Total net position .. $60,885,384 $57,684,297 $53,712,460 $57,362,451 $53,045,884 $47,191,471 $118,247,835 $110,730,181 $100,903,931

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as one useful indicator of a government’s financial
condition. The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Mebane exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows
by $118,247,835 as of June 30, 2021. The City’s net position increased by $7,945,001 for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021. However, the largest portion (85.65%) reflects the City’s net investment in capital
assets (e.g. land, buildings, machinery, and equipment). The City of Mebane uses these capital assets to
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the
City of Mebane’s net investment in capital assets is reported net of the outstanding related debt, the
resources needed to repay that debt must be provided by other sources, since the capital assets cannot be
used to liquidate these liabilities. An additional portion of the City of Mebane’s net position $5,998,693
(5.1%) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. The
remaining balance of $10,967,222 is unrestricted.
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Several particular aspects of the City’s financial operations positively influenced the total unrestricted
governmental net position:

Net .
e Continued diligence in the collection of property investment  Allocation of Net Assets
taxes by maintaining a tax collection percentage in capital
of 99.64%, which compares favorably with the assets
. 86
statewide average of 98.96%. %
e Other taxes increased $697,091 which included
an increase in sales taxes of $688,861.
e Water and sewer charges for services increased
by $1,501,481 due to an increase in demand for
these services. Restricted
e A continued low cost of debt due to the City’s 5%
high bond rating.
Unrestricted
9%
City of Mebane Changes in Net Position (Figure 3)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for Services.......oueenes $ 2,041,900 $ 1,464,352 $ 1,479,984 S 9,146,098 S 7,644,617 S 6,995810 S 11,187,998 $ 9,108,969 $ 8,475,794
Operating grants and contributions 821,868 957,002 742,312 - - - 821,868 957,002 742,312
Capital grants and contributions..... 4,465,736 3,927,560 2,617,102 2,890,267 5,400,880 226,820 7,356,003 9,328,440 2,843,922
General revenues:
Property taxes.. 11,807,602 11,378,933 10,895,740 - - - 11,807,602 11,378,933 10,895,740
Other taxes.... 5,764,756 5,067,665 4,885,951 - - - 5,764,756 5,067,665 4,885,951
Grants and contributions not
191,474 31,047 4,050 - - - 191,474 31,047 4,050
157,929 580,737 217,231 (62,837) 105,857 138,837 95,092 686,594 356,068

Total revenues. 25,251,265 23,407,296 20,842,370 11,973,528 13,151,354 7,361,467 37,224,793 36,558,650 28,203,837

Expenses:
General government 2,945,979 2,508,794 2,262,074 - - - 2,945,979 2,508,794 2,262,074
Public safety. 9,046,866 8,045,419 7,070,899 - - - 9,046,866 8,045,419 7,070,899
Public works 5,273,617 4,939,677 3,803,467 - - - 5,273,617 4,939,677 3,803,467
Economic development. 2,225,126 1,677,079 1,269,525 - - - 2,225,126 1,677,079 1,269,525
Culture and recreation 1,931,238 2,005,292 1,900,889 - - - 1,931,238 2,005,292 1,900,889
Interest on long-term dep 200,005 257,803 281,751 - - - 200,005 257,803 281,751
Water and sewer. . - - - 7,656,961 7,298,336 6,762,948 7,656,961 7,298,336 6,762,948
Total eXPENSES......vucierrieciererisiiisiiens 21,622,831 19,434,064 16,588,605 7,656,961 7,298,336 6,762,948 29,279,792 26,732,400 23,351,553
Increasein net position before
transfers and special item................. 3,628,434 3,973,232 4,253,765 4,316,567 5,853,018 598,519 7,945,001 9,826,250 4,852,284
Transfers . - (1,395) (57,302) - 1,395 57,302 - - -
Special item. - - - - - - - - -
Increasein net position... 3,628,434 3,971,837 4,196,463 4,316,567 5,854,413 655,821 7,945,001 9,826,250 4,852,284

57,684,297 53,712,460 49,515,997 53,045,884 47,191,471 46,535,650 110,730,181 100,903,931 96,051,647
57,256,950 53,712,460 _ 49,515,997 53,045,884 47,191,471 46,535,650 110,302,834 100,903,931 96,051,647
Net position, June 30.... . $60,885,384 $57,684,297 $53,712,460 $57,362,451 $53,045,884 $47,191,471 $118,247,835 $110,730,181 $100,903,931

Note: 2020 Net Position has been restated to reflect prior period adjustments.

Net position, July 1
Net position, restated...

Governmental activities: Governmental activities prior to transfers increased the City’s net position by
$3,628,434 thereby accounting for 45.67% of the total growth in the net position of the City of Mebane. Key
elements of this change in net position are as follows:

e Property taxes increased by $428,669 over the prior year.

e Other tax revenues increased by $697,091 over the prior year, mostly in sales tax despite the impact
of the coronavirus pandemic.

e Charges for services increased by $577,548 while operating grants decreased $135,134 and capital
grants and contributions increased $538,176 over the prior year.

Business-type activities: Business-type activities prior to transfers increased the City of Mebane’s net
position by $4,316,567, accounting for 54.33% of the total growth in the government’s net position. Key
elements of this change in net position as compared to the prior year are as follows:
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e Charges for services increased $1,501,481 due to an increase in demand for these services, due to

the growth in Mebane.

e (Capital grants and contributions decreased
$2,510,613 due to the larger impact of increased
economic growth in the City during the prior year.

Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds

As noted earlier, the City of Mebane uses fund accounting to
ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements.

Governmental Funds: The focus of the City of Mebane's
governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances of usable resources. Such
information is useful in assessing the City of Mebane’s
financing requirements.

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City of

Revenues by Source - All Activities

Capital
grants and
contributions
20%

Operating
grants and
contributions
2%

1%

Mebane. At the end of the current fiscal year, fund balance available in the General Fund was $12,282,231,
while total fund balance reached $15,719,819. The City currently has an available fund balance of 60.18% of
general fund expenditures, while total fund balance represents 77.03% of the same amount.

At June 30, 2021, the governmental funds of the City of Mebane reported a combined fund balance of

Expenses by Function - All Activities

Economic
development

8%
General Culture and

recreation
10% 6%
Interest on long-

term dept

1%

$16,414,129, a 9.75% increase over last year.
This increase in fund balance is due to an
increase in the general fund of $877,502
combined with an increase in the non-major
funds of $581,150.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights: During the
fiscal year, the City revised the budget on
several  occasions. Generally, budget
amendments fall into one of three categories:
1) amendments made to adjust the estimates
that are used to prepare the original budget
ordinance once exact information is available;
2) amendments made to recognhize new
funding amounts from external sources, such

as Federal and State grants; and 3) increases in appropriations that become necessary to maintain services.

Revenues were more than the budgeted amounts primarily because tax revenue that the City originally had

expected to receive was significantly more. Expenditures
were significantly less than budgeted as a result of the
delay of many expenditures due to the coronavirus
pandemic.

Proprietary Funds: The City’s proprietary funds provide the
same type of information found in the government-wide
statements but in more detail. Unrestricted net position of
the Water and Sewer fund at the end of the fiscal year
amounted to $6,635,335. The total increase in net position
was $4,316,567.
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Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets: The City of Mebane’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business—type
activities as of June 30, 2021, totals $115,570,247 (net of accumulated depreciation). These assets include
buildings, roads, land, artwork and collections, machinery and equipment, park facilities, and vehicles.

Major capital asset transactions during the year include the following additions and disposals:

e Capital contributions in the general fund in the amount of $4,465,736 and in the water and sewer
fund in the amount of $2,890,267.

e Construction in progress in the governmental funds consisted of construction related expenses in
the Lake Michael Dam Spillway of $129,100, the Cates Farm Park of $84,823, and MACC to Holt
Street Greenway $24,256.

e Construction in progress for Utility funds includes related expenses of $416,433 for the WRRF

Upgrade.
City of Mebane’s Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation (Figure 4)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
land $ 7,509,059 $ 6,980,512 $ 6,980,512 $ 566,834 $ 520,198 $ 520,198 $ 8075893 $ 7,500,710 $ 7,500,710
Artwork and collections..... 68,360 68,360 46,000 - - 68,360 68,360 46,000

12,515279 12,834,576 13,177,061 21,366,660 21,650,859 22,177,370 33,881,939 34,485,435 35,354,431
30,732,694 29,099,844 23,447,533 30,732,694 29,099,844 23,447,533
9,994,677 10,114,964 10,013,064

Buildings and systems...
Water and sewer systems.. - -
Improvements other than buildings 9,994,677 10,114,964 10,013,064

Machinery and equipment 1,515,008 1,775,174 1,954,736 1,734,340 1,049,187 920,648 3,249,348 2,824,361 2,875,384
Computer equipment. 213,453 216,441 265,547 - - - 213,453 216,441 265,547
Infrastructure, 26,250,167 22,306,612 18,791,974 - - - 26,250,167 22,306,612 18,791,974
Vehicles and motorized equipment. 2,225,671 2,954,627 2,944,184 31,431 43,463 20,018 2,257,102 2,998,090 2,964,202
CONStruction in Progress.............. 291,328 53,149 11,133 555,286 357,724 134,754 846,614 410,873 145,387

$60,583,002 $57,304,415 $54,184,211 $54,987,245 $52,721,275 $47,220,521 $115,570,247 $110,025,690 $101,404,732

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found on page 33 of this report.
Long-term Debt: As of June 30, 2021, the City of Mebane had no bonded debt outstanding.
City of Mebane’s Outstanding Debt (Figure 5)

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019
General obligation bonds. $ -8 -8 - S -8 - S - S - S -3 -
Direct Placement Debt........ 7,562,836 8,371,909 9,645,099 3,186,778 3,617,917 4,042,056 10,749,614 11,989,826 13,687,155
Other long-term payables. - - - 3,538,713 3,866,116 4,193,519 3,538,713 3,866,116 4,193,519
Compensated absences..... 445,229 465,151 429,293 78,990 76,077 68,555 524,219 541,228 497,848
OPEB.....ccoovereiricianns 9,501,292 6,809,240 5,357,168 1,494,607 1,061,570 819,539 10,995,899 7,870,810 6,176,707
Pension related debt... 5,482,550 3,880,079 2,835,516 542,215 405,087 332,379 6,024,765 4,285,166 3,167,895

Total.... . $22,991,907 $19,526,379 $18,267,076 $ 8,841,303 $ 9,026,767 $ 9,456,048 $31,833,210 $28,553,146 $27,723,124

Note: 2020 Pension related debt has been restated to reflect prior period adjustments.
The City of Mebane’s total debt increased by $3,280,064 (11.49%) during the past fiscal year, primarily due to
increases in OPEB of $3,125,089, and increases in pension obligations of $1,739,599, netted with scheduled
principal payments of $1,998,115 on notes and other long-term payables. The total pension related debt for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 included a prior period adjustment of $427,347 for the Firefighters’
Special Separation Allowance approved July 8, 2019.

The City of Mebane has maintained a high bond rating at “AA+” with Standard and Poor’s Corporation. There
was no new general obligation debt issued in FY21, and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services last review
affirmed the rating, with a stable outlook for the City of Mebane. They stated that the rating reflects their
opinion of the City’s favorable location, growing and diverse property base, very strong finances and low
direct debt. The City believes this speaks very highly of the stability and sound management practices of the
City of Mebane.

North Carolina general statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt that a unit of government can
issue to 8 percent of the total assessed value of taxable property located within that government’s
boundaries. The legal debt margin for City of Mebane is $179,348,538.
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Additional information regarding the City of Mebane’s long-term debt can be found on page 50 of this report.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

The following key economic indicators reflect the growth of the City of Mebane:

e The City has and continues to lead the area in industrial recruitment and new homebuilding. The
residential and industrial sector continues to demonstrate growth, with the latter potentially
increasing explicitly beyond the number and size of recent years. Interest in the commercial and
downtown sector could result in these categories of development creating stand-alone projects
versus recent mixed-use approaches.

e The City’s tax base continues to grow with industrial development and expansion in the NC Industrial
Center and NC Commerce Park, along with new development in Orange County. For example, Chick-
fil-A is opening a distribution center in early 2022, and Lotus Bakeries is expanding the size of its
current facility in Mebane by adding 111,000 square feet. Additionally, several mixed-use projects
will provide additional retail and residential space.

e Retail sales are expected to remain strong, with Tanger Outlets sustaining much of its growth.

Budget Highlights for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2022

Governmental Activities: The tax base is expected to continue to grow; therefore, the City retained an
valorem tax rate of $.47 per $100 valuation and a 13.9% growth in tax collections. Retail sales and
state-shared revenues were budgeted to increase based on current trends and forecasts, with an overall
increase of 18.6% in General Fund revenues.

The expenditures budget added ten new positions and multiple rolling stock purchases of over $1 million.
New projects include a connector between Lebanon Rd. and Lake Michael, several sidewalk projects,
multiple recreation projects, and information technology upgrades.

The budget included a cost-of-living increase and merit pay for employees.

Business-type Activities: The budget for FY22 included a 10% rate increase for water and sewer services, and
revised system development fees. Water and sewer charges were budgeted to increase due to the rate
increase and growth, with overall revenues increasing 25.4% overall. In addition, the budget continued the
City’s dedication to the maintenance of the system and to address growth, continuing the plan to issue $9
million in debt to renovate the Water Resources Recovery Facility.

Request for Information

This report is designed to provide an overview of the City’s finances for those interested in this area.
Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or request for additional information should
be directed to:

Daphna Schwartz

Finance Director

106 E. Washington Street Mebane, NC 27302 (919) 563-5901
dschwartz@cityofmebane.com

Page 11



Intentionally
Blank Page

Page 12



Basic Financial Statements

The Basic Financial Statements provide a dual perspective
summary overview of the financial position and operating
results of the government as a whole (government-wide
financial statements) and of all funds (fund financial
statements). They also serve as a condensed introduction to
the more detailed statements and schedules that follow.







City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2021 Exhibit 1
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

Assets

Cash and cash equIValeNts...........ccveeveeeeeieeecreeee e S 14,377,371 $ 7,511,270 S 21,888,641

Taxes receivables, (Net)....cuiccieei i, 82,899 - 82,899

Accrued interest receivable on taxes.......cccccceeevvveeieiiiiiiiiieeee e, 14,825 - 14,825

Accounts receivable (Net).......ccceeevcieeieiie e, 167,028 984,633 1,151,661

Due from other governments.........cccveeecieeeeieeecciee e eeiee s 2,435,035 - 2,435,035

Prepaid itEMIS....eii et e et 31,716 - 31,716

Restricted Cash.....c.oecicuiiiccee e 1,564,155 3,136,703 4,700,858
Notes receivable - Mebane Mill Lofts, LLC........cccoevvereeeiievinveennnnn. 512,942 - 512,942
Capital assets (Note 2):

Land, non-depreciable improvements, and

CONSErUCTION IN PrOZIreSS civviiieiieeiieieiei e 7,868,747 1,122,119 8,990,866

Other capital assets, net of depreciation........ccccceecveeeeecveeeineene 52,714,255 53,865,126 106,579,381

Total capital @SSELS....ccviiiriiee et 60,583,002 54,987,245 115,570,247
I3 7 = 1YY <] S 79,768,973 66,619,851 146,388,824
Deferred outflows of resources........ccccceereerrereeeeeeeeeeeennnennnennnnee 6,984,654 971,957 7,956,611
Liabilities
Amounts due within one year:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses..........cccccueeeecveeeeeiieeens 1,118,067 323,697 1,441,764

Accrued interest payable..........ccocoeiiiiiiiiiiee e, 43,069 36,135 79,204

Due to other governmMeNts.........cocvvieeiieeeciee e 15,819 262,325 278,144

Payable from restricted assets.........ccoeeeeveeeeiieeeciiie e 1,023,687 671,341 1,695,028

Current portion of long-term liabilities..........ccccceevivieiiieeeciienenns 1,671,399 833,841 2,505,240
Amounts due in more than one year:

Net pension liability - LGERS.........cccooieieiieeeiieeeccee e 3,473,244 542,215 4,015,459

Net pension liability - LEOSSA.........ccoiiieiieeeiee e e 1,372,013 - 1,372,013

Net pension liability - FIF@SSA.......cccuriiiieeecee e 637,293 - 637,293

Due in more than ONe YEar.......ccccveecieeeiiiie e 15,837,958 7,465,247 23,303,205
Total liabilities....cccceeeriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinineeceeeeeeereeeeeeeeeessssssnes 25,192,549 10,134,801 35,327,350
Deferred inflows of resources.........cccccceeriernieerninneeeeeeeeeeennennneen. 675,694 94,556 770,250
Net Position
Net investment in capital @ssets........cccveeeiiieecciiee e, 53,020,166 48,261,754 101,281,920
Restricted for:

Stabilization by State Statute.........ccccvveeecieeeeciee e 3,405,872 - 3,405,872

Other fUNCLIONS...uvveeii et e, 127,459 - 127,459

Future system development........ccceeecieeeeciieecciiee e - 2,465,362 2,465,362
(0] T =Ty d g ot =Y R 4,331,887 6,635,335 10,967,222
Total Net POSILION....ccccceeeereercrererreeeeeeeereeeereeeeeeeeesaeeeesaesesseens S 60,885,384 S 57,362,451 S 118,247,835

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 2

Program Revenue

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government

Operating Capital Grants
Charges for Grants & and Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Primary government
Governmental activities
General government.........cccceeeeeveennnene. S 2,945979 S 5,400 S - S - S (2,940,579) S - S (2,940,579)
Public safety......ccccceveeiieeeceeniiesieeieen 9,046,866 19,750 121,491 - (8,905,625) - (8,905,625)
Public WOrkS.....cocovvevieeniiinieeiee e 5,273,617 701,980 380,238 4,465,736 274,337 - 274,337
ReCreation......cccuveveeecieescieesie e 1,931,238 80,918 6,825 - (1,843,495) - (1,843,495)
Economic & physical development........ 2,225,126 1,233,852 313,314 - (677,960) - (677,960)
Interest on long-term debt................... 200,005 - - - (200,005) - (200,005)
Total governmental activities................ 21,622,831 2,041,900 821,868 4,465,736 (14,293,327) - (14,293,327)
Business-type activities:

Water and SEWer......ccoevveveveiiiiiiiiiiinnnnn. 7,656,961 9,146,098 - 2,890,267 - 4,379,404 4,379,404
Total business-type activities................. 7,656,961 9,146,098 - 2,890,267 - 4,379,404 4,379,404
Total primary government...................... S 29,279,792 S 11,187,998 S 821,868 S 7,356,003 (14,293,327) 4,379,404 (9,913,923)

General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purposes..........cccceeeevveernnennn. 11,807,602 - 11,807,602
SalES LAXES. .. vteeeiiie ettt e e s 4,398,713 - 4,398,713
FranChisSe taX.....oceevveeriieenieeiieeiee ettt 1,141,022 - 1,141,022
Privilege license tax 955 - 955
EXCISE TAXuuttteeeereeirireeeenreeeeiree e st e e st e e s snre e e sabeeessnreeesnreeesaneeenan 224,066 - 224,066
Grants & contributions not restricted to specific programs.......... 191,474 - 191,474
Unrestricted investment €arnings........ccceeecveeevieeeeinveeescveeesveennn 56,026 28,073 84,099
MISCEIIANEOUS........ooeveveceveeeeee ettt seeessseeseneeeenanes 101,903 (90,910) 10,993
Total general revenues excluding transfers........cccccceeveeereereneenen. 17,921,761 (62,837) 17,858,924
LI 1015 11T SRRSO - - -
Total general revenues and transfers.........ooeeeeeereerieeressssesnesenns 17,921,761 (62,837) 17,858,924
Change in Net POSILION.......ccvereereererreerisreeseeeesessessessessessessesaessesens 3,628,434 4,316,567 7,945,001
Net position - beginning , previously reported.........ccccevvverienneen. 57,684,297 53,045,884 110,730,181
RESTALEMENT. ...t (427,347) - (427,347)
Net POSItion - DEGINNING ....cvcvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 57,256,950 53,045,884 110,302,834
Net POSItiON - ENAING.....ceeeerrireererrerreeseesesseeseeseeeesessessessessessessenes $ 60,885,384 S 57,362,451 S 118,247,835

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.




City of Mebane, North Carolina
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

June 30, 2021 Exhibit 3
Capital Project Total
Total Non - Governmental
General Fund Park Project Major Funds Funds
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents.........cccccceeevieeeeciinens
Restricted cash.....ccccoecciiiiiiiice e,
Taxes receivable, Net........ueeeeeeeeeeeeeeiiiieieieieieeeeeiens
Receivable from other governments....................
Other receivables..........ccoceeeciieiecee e
Prepaid itemsS......ccccuviiiee e
Advance to other funds.......ccccooecviiiieiiicciiieenen.

TOtal @SSEtS..cuuuneiiiiieeenniirreeneneiereeennnneereeennnsenens

Liabilties, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances
Liabilities

Accounts payable.......ccocooeeeiiieiccee e
Due to other funds........cooeviiiiiiieiniiieiiec e,
Due to other governments.......cccceeevveerveeneenneene
Payable from restricted assets..........cccceeeevveeenneen.

Total liabilities...ccccieeuiireeiereeniereeierenierenneerennenes

Deferred inflows of resources.........cccevveeeneeernenes

Fund balances:
Nonspendable

Prepaid assets....cccieeiiieeeeciee e

Restricted

Stabilization by State Statute........ccccceceveeevnnnn.
Economic development.........cccccveeeeeeiciiiieeeeen.

Assigned

Subsequent year's expenditures............ccuuueeee...
UNASSIZNEd.....ciiiiieiiiiiiee e e

Total fund balances.......cccceeeerrrreeneiiiereeeenceeenennnn.

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and fund balances........cccceeeeeerrreennnnnns

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

$ 13,745,250 $ S 632,121 $ 14,377,371
1,436,696 127,459 1,564,155
82,899 - 82,899
2,435,035 - 2,435,035
166,065 - 166,065
31,716 - 31,716

$ 17,897,661 S $§ 759,580 S 18,657,241
1,052,797 65,270 1,118,067
15,819 - 15,819
1,023,687 - 1,023,687
2,092,303 65,270 2,157,573
85,539 - 85,539
31,716 - 31,716
3,405,872 - 3,405,872

- 127,459 127,459
1,950,000 566,851 2,516,851
10,332,231 - 10,332,231
15,719,819 694,310 16,414,129

$ 17,897,661 S $ 759,580 S 18,657,241
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Balance Sheet (continued)

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021 Exhibit 3

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net

Position (Exhibit 1) are different because:

Total fund balance, governmental funds.........cccoovieiiiiiiiiiiie e S 16,414,129
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources

and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Gross capital assets at historical COSt......couuiiiriiiiiiiie e e 78,903,815

Accumulated depreCiation........iiceee e e (18,320,813) 60,583,002
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are not

repPOorted iN the fUNAS....oo i s 4,086,619
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB are not

repPOrted iN the fUNAS....oo i s s 2,898,035

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and therefore are inflows of resources in the funds.

Accrued interest receivable 0N taXes.......ccccciiiiciee i 14,825

NOLES FECEIVADIE. ... e e e tre e et e e e e e e e e nee e e sanes 512,942 527,767
Earned revenues considered deferred inflows of resources

N FUNA SEATEMENTS...ei e st e s s sate e e saaeeeas 83,862
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are not
reported in the fFUNAS..........eo e (24,317)
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB are not
reported in the fFUNAS..........ooiii e e (648,737)

Long-term liabilities used in governmental activities are not financial uses
and therefore are not reported in the funds.

NOTES PAYADIE...ciiiieiieee e ettt st aees (7,562,835)

CompPeENSAtEd ADSENCES. ... .eiiiiiiieee e s (445,230)

Net pension liability - LGERS......cccciiriiiiiiiiieies ettt sttt st (3,473,244)

Total pension liability - LEOSSA.........uii ittt et este et e s site e e sbaeessbeeeeans (1,372,013)

Total pension liability - FIF@SSA.....couiiiiiiiieee ettt (637,293)

OPEB [Iability.ceuveeeieeiieiieeeie ettt et et a e st e e e (9,501,292)  (22,991,907)
Other long-term liabilities (accrued interest) are not due and payable

in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds...........ccceeeuveenneen. (43,069)
Net Position of Governmental ActiVities.......cccceeeirrremeeiiiiiieeeccceirreerceerreeeeeeereennnens S 60,885,384

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Exhibit 4
Capital Project Total
Fund - City Total Non- Governmental
General Fund Park Project Major Funds Funds
Revenues
ProPerty taXES. ..uiiueeereereereeereeeeeteesreeeesreesreeeaeesreeeeens S 11,339,347 S - S - S 11,339,347
Other taxes and liceNnSes.......ccccevevcveeeeciee e, 955 - - 955
Unrestricted intergovernmental.........cccccceeeeeeeninee..n. 6,101,360 - - 6,101,360
Restricted intergovernmental.........cccceeecveeeccveecciieenn, 1,154,666 - - 1,154,666
Permits and fees......ccccviiiiiiiiie e 1,338,035 - - 1,338,035
Sales aNd SEIVICES.....ouvvviiiieiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 616,526 - - 616,526
Investment earnings..........ooeeeeeeeeeeeeieiciccccccc e 52,436 - 3,591 56,027
MiISCEIIANEOUS. ...ceviviiiiieieieieeeeeeeeeeeeee e 251,884 - 10,710 262,594
Total revenues..........cceeeeeeeeeerissiiiisicsisinninineeeeseesennnnnn 20,855,209 - 14,301 20,869,510
Expenditures
Current:
General government........cccoveeeeeecciieee e 2,564,263 - - 2,564,263
Public safety.....cccoevivcieeiiieeeee e, 7,019,825 - - 7,019,825
PUBIIC WOTKS. ... 3,897,283 - - 3,897,283
RECIEAtION...ccvviiieie et 2,132,340 - - 2,132,340
Economic and physical development......................... 2,199,172 - - 2,199,172
Debt Service:
PrinCipal..cccc s 1,239,573 - - 1,239,573
Interest and other charges........cccccoeeevivvecccee e, 211,159 - - 211,159
Capital OULIaY....c.eee e - - 577,743 577,743
Total EXpenditures.......ccccceeereemeeecierreeneencceeneennnncceenennns 19,263,615 - 577,743 19,841,358
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures..... 1,591,594 - (563,442) 1,028,152

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

TrANSTEIS M.ttt e e e e reeeees - - 1,144,592 1,144,592
Transfers out (1,144,592) - - (1,144,592)
Installment purchase obligations
[ T=Te TSROt 430,500 - - 430,500
Total other financing sources and uses........ccccccccuuu... (714,092) - 1,144,592 430,500
Net change in fund balances.........ccccoveeiiieiiiiieneeeneenn, 877,502 - 581,150 1,458,652
Fund balances - beginning ........cccccovveeiieiiiiiinieeicees 14,842,317 - 113,160 14,955,477
Fund balances - ending.......ccccccerreevrreeeeiecrreeeeeecsneenens S 15,719,819 S - S 694,310 S 16,414,129

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances (continued)

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Exhibit 4

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of
Activities are different because:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however,
in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation
in the current period.
Capital outlay expenditures which were capitalized.........ccccccvvevvveeeiiinennns
Depreciation expense for governmental assets.........cccceevcvveeeeiieeercveeeineenn.
Cost of capital asset disposed of during the year, not recognized

on Modified aCCrual DasiS........ccvuviieiiiiiciiiiee e

Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal
year are not included on the Statement of Activities.........ccccceeeeeicciieeennennn,
Benefit payments paid and administrative costs for
LEOSSA are deferred outflows of resources on the
Statement of ACHIVITIES......iiviiriii e
OPEB benefit payments and administrative costs made
in the current fiscal year are not included on the
Statement Of ACHIVITIES....ccovuiiiiie e
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds
Amount of contributed capital.......c.cccceeevciiiicciie e
Mebane Mills Lofts notes receivable principal receipts......cccccceeevvvieeeeencnnns
Change in unavailable revenue for tax revenues.........cccocveeeeeeccciieeeeeeecnnes

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.
Neither transaction has any effect on net position. This amount is the
net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and
related items.
New long-term debt iSSUE........coocuiiiiiiiiiiieeee e
Principal payments on long-term debt........ccooeeviiiniiiniiinieceee
Decrease in accrued interest payable........cccviirieiniiinieiniieeee e
Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require
the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported
as expenditures in governmental funds.
Compensated abSENCES...........veei i e e
PENSION EXPENSE..cciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieiee e e e e e e e s e e s e s e earannes
OPEB Plan @XPENSE.....uiicceieeeiiiieeeiteeeeteeeestee e s steeessaeeestaeesetaeessnseeesnsseeennes
Total changes in net position of governmental activities .......cccccceeeerrrnnnn.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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S 1,458,652

1,685,392
(2,809,366) (1,123,974)

(63,175)

(137,818)

111,479
4,465,736
(10,710)

(24,146) 4,430,880
(430,500)
1,239,573

11,154 820,227
19,478
(1,004,870)

(882,445) (1,867,837)

S 3,628,434



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Annual Budget to Actual

General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Exhibit 5

Variance with
Final Budget -

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Property taxes................. ... $11,036,912 S 11,036,912 S 11,339,347 S 302,435
Other taxes and licenses.............. 1,000 1,000 955 (45)
Unrestricted intergovernmental.........cccoecveeieeeceennnns 4,849,943 5,120,543 6,101,360 980,817
Restricted intergovernmental...... 886,000 886,000 1,154,666 268,666

Permits and feeS.....ccccuuueeeieeiii e 780,307 881,798 1,338,035 456,237
SalES AN SEIVICES....cciieeecrtrrereeee et e e e e seeaarranees 570,450 570,450 616,526 46,076
INvestmMeNnt @arnings........coeoviieiiiiiiee e 20,000 20,000 52,436 32,436
MiISCEIIANEOUS. ....ecvveeieieeeie ettt e 107,600 147,600 251,884 104,284
TOtal FEVENUES.....ceeueiiiireiiirreeinreeeeieeeenneeeeenneeesesnnssssesnnenns 18,252,212 18,664,303 20,855,209 2,190,906
Expenditures
Current:
General BOVEIMMENT......cecveeeee e eeeeree e e seee e sae e 3,078,709 3,180,732 2,564,263 616,469
Public safety..... 7,304,629 7,423,051 7,019,825 403,226
Public works..... 3,667,965 4,516,105 3,897,283 618,822
RECreatioNn.....c.eeevveeecieeeeie e 1,756,665 2,730,062 2,132,340 597,722
Economic and physical development........cccccccvvevveenveeenenn, 2,632,669 2,713,701 2,199,172 514,529
Debt Service:
[ AT e Yo T o - | SR 1,406,526 1,406,526 1,239,573 166,953
Interest and other charges.. 293,137 293,137 211,159 81,978
Total expenditures.......cccceeeiiiiiiiiinnnnnnneeeiniiieeeinsesnnsssnseenes 20,140,300 22,263,314 19,263,615 2,999,699
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures............... (1,888,088) (3,599,011) 1,591,594 5,190,605
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
TraNSTEIS INueiieeciiecee e e - - - -
TIANSTEIS OUL..veveveeereeeeseeeeseeeeseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeseseseeeeenne (1,874,700)  (2,087,700)  (1,144,592) 943,108
Long-term debt obligations issued...........ccceeeviiiiiiiiiiienennn, 1,939,070 1,939,070 430,500 (1,508,570)
Fund balance appropriated........cccccceeeeeecieecineceee s 1,823,718 3,747,641 - (3,747,641)
Total other financing sources and uses 1,888,088 3,599,011 (714,092) (4,313,103)
Net change in fund balances S - S - 877,502 $ 877,502
Fund balances - beginning 14,842,317
Fund balances - ending $ 15,719,819

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2021 Exhibit 6
Water and
Sewer Fund
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and Cash EQUIVAIENTS..........uuiiiii et e e e e e e e ettt r e e e e e e s ebbeaeeeeeesn e nnraeaeaeean S 7,511,270
Accounts receivable (Net) - DIE.......cocueie e e e n 657,559
Accounts receivable (nNet) - UNDIlled............ooouiiiee e et e e 320,655
(018 (=T E= o= AVZ L o] [=T TP 6,419
Due from other governments -
YT [ o I =T o LU -
R STy i Tt =T [ or= 1] o 1SS 3,136,703
o) &= 1 oW1 =Y o = Ty £ PSPPI 11,632,606
Non-current assets:
NET PENSION @SSEE..eeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieii ettt e e e e s e s e s e s e s e s bbb e e bebeeeaee s aaaaanrernreee -
Capital assets:
Land and other NON-depreciable @SSEtS........ccciiiiiiieeceiiie e ere e e e e e eee e srae e e srre e e eennns 1,122,119
Other capital assets, net of dePreCiation.........cccceeiciiieiciiie e e e e e eans 53,865,126
o) 1ot [ 1) = | I [T 4TSS 54,987,245
Total non-current assets 54,987,245
B e ] - I T3 =1 RN 66,619,851
Deferred outflows Of re@SOUICES......cccceeeiiiiiiieccrrrececcr e ee s rrenaee e e s e eenassssessennnsssssesennnsssseseennnnns 971,957
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities........uiivuiee i 323,697
Accrued interest payable 36,135
[ TU TR o X0 o =T ol 1] o o £ SR -
Due to other governments..................... 262,325
Payable from restricted assets 671,341
CoMPENSALEA ADSENCES. ... ..eiiieeeeeeeee e e e e e et e e e e e st e e e e e e setataeeeeeesenbbareaaesaaeeennnees 66,299
(o] gT=28 f=T g e =T o Al ol U] =Y o} TP 767,542
B o1 = el U £ 01 o =] o1 L =N 2,127,339
Noncurrent liabilities:
CoMPENSALEA ADSENCES.......eiiiiiee ettt e e e e e e e e st e e e e e e sestaabeeeeeesntaareaaesaeeeennnees 12,690
N =T oY= o Ty T T I 1 =1 o 11 L Y 2SR 542,215
Total OPEB liability 1,494,607
LONG-term debt - NONCUITENT.....eeiiii ittt e e e e et e e e e et r e e e e e e eeareaeeeeeesnbbaseaeeeennnnees 5,957,950
Total NONCUITENT [HADIIITIES.c.cciiiiiiiiieeiei bbb e e e ee e e aasrarareeneees 8,007,462
e &= 1B LT o1 =S 10,134,801
Deferred infloWs Of F@SOUICES.........cciiieeenicciieeiccerrreeeeeerreenese e e s e ennnsessreennssssssesennnsssssssennnssnsenen: 94,556
Net Position
Net investment iN CaPItal @SSELS......uuiiiii it e e e e et e e e e s arar e e e e s e s e esnrreneas 48,261,754
Restricted for future system development 2,465,362
L0 T =Ty Ay ot (=Y 6,635,335

B LI T= e T XY 1T TN

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Exhibit 7
Water and

Operating Revenues

(0 T = LT o Y =T oV ol T3PS
W ater @N0 SEWET TAPS..uueiiiieieiiiiiee e e e ettt e e e eecct bt e e e e e eeettbteeeeeeseastaeeeeesesnsteseeaesanassreeeaaasan
(070] Y Y=o a o] o I8 =TT SRS
Y T EYol= 1= T o= T S

Total Operating reVeNUES.........cuueeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnrrrrssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnnnseenes

Operating Expenses

Administration, meters and billiNg.........cccuviiiirii e
O 1] Y0 0 1T =T 0 = L DS
[ o Fq T Y=Y 1oV -SSP
Water resource recoVery facility......coccvuiee e
(oY o Rro I=Y oF- [ a1l o] -1 S PTR
(DT o] g =TolF- | o] o PP PP

Total OPErating EXPENSES.....ccvveeiiiiirrnnriieissnrtiiesssnsessssssssesssssssssesssssssssssssssnsassssssnsasssssns

Operating iNCoME (10SS)...cciiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeriiriiieieseieesiieeeeesseeeeseesssssnnsssssssssssssssssssssssnes

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

INterest and iINVESTMENT FEVENUE.........ccoiccirreieeeeeitirreee e eestreeeeeeeetareeeeeeeseabaaeeeeesesanreeeeas

[N =] R =) ] o 1= o 1= TSP PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPIRE
AMOrtization Of DONAS.......coociiiiciiee e re e e e e e e snre e e seaeeeas

Total nonoperating revenues (EXPENSES).......ccceeereerreeereeesreneeseessnesssesssseessssssssesssssnnens

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers..........ccceveeeiiiiiciie e,

(07T o)1 | I oTo T 014 | oYU £ [o o -SSR
LT (=] £ [ TR
BE LI (=] £ 0 1V SRS

Change iN NEt POSITION.....cciii i e et e e e e e st e e e e e e s eaaareeaaeean
Total net Position - DEGINNING.......c..uviiiiie e e

Total net Position - @NAING........ceeeeeeriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirerererreeeesssssssesssssssssssssssssssnnnns

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Sewer Fund

S 6,839,089
37,002
1,682,603
594,037

9,152,731

900,260
2,632,207
260,000
2,151,072

1,626,168
7,569,707

1,583,024

28,073
(97,543)
(87,254)

(156,724)

1,426,300
2,890,267

4,316,567
53,045,884

$ 57,362,451



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Exhibit 8

Water and
Sewer Fund
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash receiVEd frOM CUSTOMBIS. .....ciiiiiieee e eeeee e s s e a e bbb e ba b e aaae e seeeeeeeeeeeeeeesesssesessbesssnnnns S 8,409,794
Cash paid fOr G00US ANd SEIVICES. ... ...uiiiiuiieeeciee ettt eete e et e ettt e e et e e eette e e etaeeeeateeeeessesaeeenneas (3,518,465)
Cash paid to or on behalf of employees for SErVICES.......cuuiiiiiieieiiie e s (2,407,805)
CUSLOMEr dEPOSITS FECEIVEM. ... .uiiiiee ittt e et e e e e et e e e e e e st be e e e e e eesanbaeeeaeeeessessreaeaaeeanan 160,140
(OIES o] 0o [T oo [T oo 1€ =] U1 =T RS (91,680)
Other OPEIatiNgG MEVENUES. ....ccvtiiieeiteeeteeete ettt ettt st te st e st e e be e e sbee st e e sabeesbeesabeesateesbteenseseessnesaseens 594,037
Total cash provided (used) by operating activities.........ccccvvvcmererriiiiiiiiicssnreneeeeeeeeinnccccssennneeeeeseens 3,146,021

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

Other NON-0PEIAtiNG FEVENUES.....cccitiieee ettt e e ettt e e e eee e e e e e e e baae e e e e eesataeeeeeeeessraeaeaaeseeenanses -
Transfers t0 Other fUNGS........ii i e e e s e s e e s ate e e sneeas -
Total cash provided (used) by non-capital financing activities..........ccccceeeiriiiiiiiiiniiiieneeeeeeennnnnnnen. -

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Acquisition and construction of capital @SSELS......cuiiiiiviiiiiiie e (837,089)
Principal paid on bonds and notes payable............ccuiiiiiii e (758,542)
Interest paid on bonds and NOLES PAYADIE.......cccuiiiiiiie e e (91,182)
Total cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities..........ccccceeeviririiiiniiceeennnnnnee. (1,686,813)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

[NV 7Ty g (=T s LA T s Tole] 1 o [T PSR UPRPRR 28,073
Total cash provided (used) by investing actiVities.......ccccceeeerrieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeese 28,073
Net increase (decrease) in cash and eqUIVAIENTS...........ooeciiiiiiiiie ettt et et 1,487,281
BalanCe, DEGINNING....... .ttt e e e e et e e e e e e e et e e e e e e eeeartaseeaeeaeeeennateeeaaeaan 9,160,692
Balance, ENAING......cuuueeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiineeeeeesessesessessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnsnssssssssssssssssssssssss S 10,647,973

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Exhibit 8

Water and
Sewer Fund
Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:

(0] o1 =T uTaY =T a oo T o TN { 1o T3] RS S 1,583,024
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities:
[DT=T o = ToI -1 (o] o DO PP PP T PP PP P PP PPPPPPPPPPP 1,626,168
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accoUNts reCeIVabIe.........cuiiiceieei e (133,267)
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts (15,633)
(Increase) decrease in PrePaid iLEMS. .......uii e e eree e e e e et e e rre e e abe e e enrereeesanns -
(Increase) decrease in deferred outflows of resources for pensions.........ccccceceveeeeiiieeccieeecnneen. (279,126)
Increase (decrease) accounts PAYabIe........ccuiieciiri e e e (291,766)
Increase (decrease) salaries Payable..........ooueiieiiiiiiciiee e e ettt 32,257
Increase (decrease) acCrued VACatioN.........cccueeeiiiieieiiieeceeeesiee e e e s reee e e st e e esaee e e snaeeeeeneeeenes 2,913
Increase (decrease) in net Pension ability.........ccceerciieiiiecii e e 137,128
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources for Pensions.........ccceccveeeccieeeccieeeecvee e, -
Increase (decrease) in OPEB liability........ccoueiiiiiiiieiiei et e e 433,037
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflows of resources for OPEB...........cccvvuvirierieeniieenieenieeiee e (17,174)
Increase (decrease) in CUSTOMEr AEPOSITS......iiiviirieiiiiiiie ettt e 68,460
o) &= 1 I 1o J 10T 5 1= o £ PSP PURN 1,562,997
Net cash provided by operating activities........cccuueeeeueeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeessesessssssnnssnnn S 3,146,021
Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:
Noncash capital contributions of capital @SSetS........eiiriiiiiiiiiiiiie e S 2,890,267
Unrealized gain/l0Ss 0N INVESTMENTS.......cuiiiriiiieeeiree et eetee et e et etre et e eeveeeaeesteeesteeeabeesaneenses e ssneenes S -

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies of the City of Mebane conform to generally accepted accounting principles as
applicable to governments. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies:

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Mebane is a municipal corporation which is governed by an elected mayor and a five-member
council. The City is located in the eastern part of Alamance County and the western part of Orange
County. Generally accepted accounting principles require that these financial statements present the
primary government (i.e. the City) and any component units, legally separate organization for which the
elected officials of the City are financially accountable. The City of Mebane has no component units as
defined above.

B. Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display
information about the primary government. These statements include the financial activities of the
overall government. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type
activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental
revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part
by fees charged to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
the different business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and,
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense allocations that have been
made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees
and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as
general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds.
Separate statements for each fund category — governmental and proprietary — are presented. The
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in
a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as
nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party
receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating revenues, such as subsidies, result from
non-exchange transactions. Other non-operating revenues are ancillary activities such as investments
earnings.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. The General Fund accounts for
all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another fund. The primary
revenue sources are ad valorem taxes, federal and State grants, and various other taxes and licenses.
The primary expenditures are for public safety, street maintenance and construction, and general
government.

City Park Project Capital Project Fund: This fund is used to account for the purchase of land and
construction costs for a new athletics and recreation city park.

The City reports the following non-major governmental funds:
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CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft — Special Revenue Fund: This fund is used to account for all block grant funds
expended for the renovation of the old Dixie Yarns Building into subsidized housing.

Capital Project Fund: This fund is used to account for various General Fund capital expenditures that are
expected to be completed within one year.

Capital Project Fund — Cates Farm Park: This fund is used to account for the construction of a new city
park.

The City reports the following major enterprise fund:

Water and Sewer Fund: This fund is used to account for the City’s water and sewer operations. The
Water and Sewer Capital Project Funds and the System Development Capital Reserve Fund have been
consolidated into the Water and Sewer Fund for financial reporting purposes. The budgetary comparison
for the Water and Sewer Capital Projects Fund has been included in the supplemental information.

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes, all funds of the City are maintained during the year
using the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements: The government-wide and proprietary
fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus. The
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions, in which the
City gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include
property taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in
the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants and donations is recognized in the
fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods,
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of
the City enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The City also recognizes as
operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to
the water and sewer system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales and
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements: Governmental funds are reported using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method,
revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have
matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing
sources.

The City considers all revenues available if they are collected within 90 days after year-end, except for
property taxes. Ad valorem taxes receivable are not accrued as revenue because the amount is not
susceptible to accrual. At June 30, taxes receivable for property other than motor vehicles are materially
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past due and are not considered to be an available resource to finance the operations of the current
year. Also, as of September 1, 2013, State law altered the procedures for the assessment and collection
of property taxes on registered motor vehicles in North Carolina. Effective with this change in the law,
the State of North Carolina is responsible for billing and collecting the property taxes on registered motor
vehicles on behalf of all municipalities and special tax districts, including the City of Mebane. Property
taxes are due when vehicles are registered. The billed taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in which
they are received. Uncollected taxes that were billed in periods prior to September 1, 2013 and for
limited registration plates are shown as a receivable in these financial statements and are offset by
deferred inflows of resources.

Sales taxes and certain intergovernmental revenues, such as utilities franchise tax, collected and held by
the State at year-end on behalf of the City are recognized as revenue. Sales taxes are considered a
shared revenue for the City of Mebane because the tax is levied by Alamance County and Orange County
and then remitted to and distributed by the State. Most intergovernmental revenues and sales and
services are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable until received in cash.
All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes are reported as general revenues rather than
program revenues. Under the terms of grant agreements, the City funds certain programs by a
combination of specific cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus,
when program expenses are incurred, there is both restricted and unrestricted net position available to
finance the program. It is the City’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such
programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then by general revenues.

D. Budgetary Data

The City’s budgets are adopted as required by the North Carolina General Statutes. An annual budget is
adopted for the General Fund and the Enterprise Fund. All annual appropriations lapse at the fiscal year-
end. Project ordinances are adopted for the Special Revenue Funds and the Capital Projects Funds and
the Enterprise Capital Projects Funds. The enterprise fund projects are consolidated with the operating
funds for reporting purposes. All budgets are prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the departmental level for all annually budgeted
funds and at the project level for the multi-year funds. Amendments are required for any revisions that
alter total expenditures of any fund or that change functional appropriations. All amendments must be
approved by the governing board. During the year, several amendments to the original budget were
necessary. The budget ordinance must be adopted by July 1 of the fiscal year or the governing board
must adopt an interim budget that covers that time until the annual ordinance can be adopted.

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity

Deposits and Investments

All deposits of the City are made in board-designated official depositories and are secured as required by
State law [G.S. 159-31]. The City may designate, as an official depository, any bank or savings association
whose principal office is located in North Carolina. Also, the City may establish time deposit accounts
such as NOW and SuperNOW accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.

State law [G.S. 159-30(c)] authorizes the City to invest in obligations of the United States or obligations
fully guaranteed both as to principal and interest by the United States; obligations of the State of North
Carolina; bonds and notes of any North Carolina local government or public authority; obligations of
certain non-guaranteed federal agencies; certain high quality issues of commercial paper and bankers’
acceptances and the North Carolina Capital Management Trust (NCCMT). The City’s investments are
reported at fair value. The NCCMT Government Portfolio, a SEC-registered (2a-7) money market mutual
fund, is measured at fair value. Because the NCCMT Government has a weighted average maturity of
less than 90 days, it is presented as an investment with a maturity of less than 6 months.
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In accordance with State law, the City has invested in securities which are callable and which provide for
periodic interest rate increases in specific increments until maturity. These investments are reported at
fair value as determined by quoted market prices.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investment and to maximize
investment income. Therefore, all cash and investments are essentially demand deposits and are
considered cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted Assets

Customer deposits held by the City before any services are supplied are restricted for which the deposit
was collected. Contractor reserves and bond deposits received and held are classified as restricted cash.
Grant proceeds received in advance for specified purposes are classified as restricted cash. Unexpended
loan principal and interest receipts in the CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund is classified as
restricted assets because its use is restricted for future economic development per an agreement with
the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency. Powell Bill funds are also classified as restricted cash, if
applicable, because they can be expended only for the purposes of maintaining, repairing, constructing,
reconstructing or widening of local streets per G.S. 136-41.1 through 136-41.4. Unexpended utility
system development fees are restricted for use in accordance with G.S 162A-211.

City of Mebane Restricted Cash
Governmental Activities
General Fund

Contractor reserves and bond depositS......ciiveceereecececeeceeee e S 264,480
Asset forfeiture funds........ 139,419
Unspent loan proceeds 273,590
Corrections UNUSE fUNAS ..ottt 30
Stormwater reserves 759,177

CDBG- Mebane Mills Loft Capital Project Fund
ECONOMIC DEVEIOPMENT. ..coeereeeeeeeeeees s s ssees s es st ss s sesesesesesesesens 127,459

Total governmental activities 1,564,155
Business-type Activities
Water and Sewer Fund
Customer deposits 671,341
Unexpended system develOpmENt fEES.........o.wireeeerreeseneeseseeessseeesssess e sssessens 2,465,362
Total BUSTNESS-TYPE @CHIVIEIES ...vuveecereeceeeecere et esssse s s s sasnseees 3,136,703

Total Restricted Cash

.S 4,700,858

Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the City levies ad valorem taxes on
property other than motor vehicles on July 1, the beginning of the fiscal year. The taxes are due on
September 1 (lien date), however, interest does not accrue until the following January 6th. These taxes
are based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2020. As allowed by State law, the City has established
a schedule of discounts that apply to taxes that are paid prior to the due date. In the City’s General
Fund, ad valorem tax revenues are reported net of such discounts.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by analyzing the percentage of receivables that were
written off in prior years.
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Inventory and Prepaid Items
The inventories of the City’s enterprise fund consist of expendable materials and supplies that are
expensed when purchased.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements and expensed as the items are
used.

Capital Assets
Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than a

certain cost and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Minimum capitalization costs are $5,000
for all items. Donated capital assets received prior to June 15, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair
value at the date of donation. Donated capital assets received after June 15, 2015 are recorded at
acquisition value. All other purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated
historical cost. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment in the proprietary fund of the City are recorded at original cost at the
time of acquisition. The City capitalizes those interest costs which are incurred during the construction
period of any major capital projects. Property, plant, and equipment donated to the proprietary fund
type operations are recorded at the estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Class Estimated Useful Lives

Furniture and equipment
COMPULET EQUIPIMENT ..eeeiiiiiieiitte ettt e st e s e b e e s sann e e e sr e e e s enr e e e sanneens

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Outflows of
Resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The City has one item that meets this criterion,
pension deferrals for the 2021 fiscal year. In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will
sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement
element, Deferred Inflows of Resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period and so will not be recognized as revenue until then. The City has several items that meet the
criterion for this category — prepaid taxes, property taxes receivable, and pension deferrals.

Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.
Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the
bonds using the straight-line method that approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are
reported net of the applicable bond premiums or discount.

In fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well
as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
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financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

Compensated Absences

The vacation policy of the City provides for the accumulation of up to 240 hours of earned vacation leave
with such leave being fully vested when earned. For the City’s government-wide and proprietary funds,
an expense and a liability for compensated absences and the salary-related payments are recorded as
the leave is earned. The City has assumed a first-in, first-out method of using accumulated compensated
time. The portion of that time that is estimated to be used in the next fiscal year has been designated as
a current liability in the government-wide financial statements.

The City’s sick leave policy provides for an unlimited accumulation of earned sick leave. Sick leave does
not vest. Since the City does not have any obligation for the accumulated sick leave until it is actually
taken, no accrual for sick leave has been made.

Net Position/Fund Balances
Net Position

Net position in government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are classified as net
investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. Restricted net position represents constraints
on resources that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments or imposed by law through state statute.

Fund Balance

In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of classifications designed to
disclose the hierarchy of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent.

The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows:

Nonspendable Fund Balance — This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they
are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Prepaid Assets — portion of fund balance that is not an available resource because it represents the
year-end balance of prepaid assets, which are not spendable resources.

Restricted Fund Balance — This classification includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes
externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law.

Restricted for Stabilization by State Statute — portion of fund balance that is restricted by State
Statue [G.S. 159-8(a)]. North Carolina G.S. 159-8 prohibits units of government from budgeting or
spending a portion of their fund balance. This is one of several statutes enacted by the North
Carolina State Legislature in the 1930’s that were designed to improve and maintain the fiscal health
of local government units. Restricted by State statute (RSS), is calculated at the end of each fiscal
year for all annually budgeted funds. The calculation in G.S. 159-8(a) provides a formula for
determining what portion of fund balance is available for appropriation. The amount of fund balance
not available for appropriation is what is known as “restricted by State statute”. Appropriated fund
balance in any fund shall not exceed the sum of cash and investments minus the sum of liabilities,
encumbrances, and deferred revenues arising from cash receipts, as those figures stand at the close
of the fiscal year next preceding the budget. Per GASB guidance, RSS is considered a resource upon
which a restriction is “imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.” RSS
is reduced by inventories and prepaids as they are classified as nonspendable. Outstanding
Encumbrances are included within RSS. RSS is included as a component of Restricted Net position
and Restricted fund balance on the face of the balance sheet.
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Restricted for Economic Development — portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source
for future community development related activities. This amount represents the balance of the
total unexpended funds from the amortized repayments of the CDBG monies loaned to Mebane
Mills Lofts, LLC.

Assigned Fund Balance — portion of fund balance that the City intends to use for specific purposes.

Subsequent year’s expenditures — portion of fund balance that is appropriated in the next year’s
budget that is not already classified in restricted or committed. The governing body approves the
appropriation; however, the budget ordinance authorizes the budget officer to modify the
appropriations by resource or appropriation within funds without limitation. Any transfer between
funds must be approved by the governing board in the budget ordinance as amended.

Unassigned Fund Balance — portion of fund balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned
to specific purposes or other funds. Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General
Fund. Other governmental funds cannot report positive unassigned fund balance but can report negative
unassigned fund balance if expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeded the amounts restricted,
committed, or assigned to those purposes.

The City of Mebane has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with multiple
revenue sources. The Finance Officer will use resources in the following hierarchy: bond proceeds,
federal funds, State funds, local non-city funds, city funds. For purposes of fund balance classification,
expenditures are to be spent from restricted fund balance first, followed in-order by committed fund
balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund balance. The Finance Officer has the authority
to deviate from this policy if it is in the best interest of the City.

The City of Mebane has adopted a fund balance policy that instructs management to conduct the
business of the City in such a manner that unrestricted fund balance is 50% of annual budgeted
expenditures and transfers. Any portion in excess of 50% may be set aside for future capital
improvements or to other purposes as directed by the City Council.

Defined Benefit Cost-Sharing Plans

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of
the Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) and additions to/deductions from
LGERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by LGERS.
For this purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are
due. The City of Mebane’s employer contributions are recognized when due and the City of Mebane has
a legal requirement to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of LGERS. Investments are reported at fair value.

For purposes of measuring the net pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF) and additions to/deductions from
FRSWPF’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
FRSWPF. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair
value.

F. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
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2. Detail Notes on All Funds
A. Assets

Deposits

All the deposits of the City are either insured or collateralized by using one of two methods. Under the
Dedicated Method, all deposits that exceed the federal depository insurance coverage level are
collateralized with securities held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. Under the Pooling Method,
which is a collateral pool, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State
Treasurer’s agent in the name of the State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary
capacity for the City, these deposits are considered to be held by the City’s agent in the City’s name. The
amount of the pledged collateral is based on an approved averaging method for non-interest bearing
deposits and the actual current balance for interest-bearing deposits. Depositories using the Pooling
Method report to the State Treasurer the adequacy of their pooled collateral covering uninsured
deposits. The State Treasurer does not confirm this information with the City or the escrow agent.
Because of the inability to measure the exact amounts of collateral pledged for the City under the
Pooling Method, the potential exists for under-collateralization, and this risk may increase in periods of
high cash flows. However, the State Treasurer of North Carolina enforces strict standards of financial
stability for each depository that collateralizes public deposits under the Pooling Method. The City has
no formal policy regarding custodial credit risk for deposits, but relies on the State Treasurer to enforce
standards of minimum capitalization for all pooling method financial institutions and to monitor them for
compliance. The City complies with the provisions of G.S. 159-31 when designating official depositories
and verifying that deposits are properly secured.

At June 30, 2021 the City’s deposits had a carrying amount of $24,472,680, and a bank balance of
$25,377,489. Of the bank balance, $760,607 was covered by federal depository insurance and the
remainder was covered by collateral held under the pooling method. Petty cash on hand at June 30,
2021 was $400.

Investments
At June 30, 2021, the City’s investment balances were as follows:

Valuation
Measurement Book Value at
Investments by Type Method 6/30/2021 Maturity Rating
NC Capital Management Trust
- Government Portfolio......ccccueueenee.. Fair Value Level 1 § 2,116,419 N/A AAAM
Total S 2,116,419

All investments are measured using the market approach: using prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or a group of assets.

Level of fair value hierarchy: Level 1 debt securities are valued using directly observable, quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 debt securities are valued using a matrix
pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ benchmark quoted
prices.

Interest Rate Risk. The City has no formal investment policy regarding interest rate risk. As a means of
limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, the City’s internal investment
policy limits at least half of the City’s investment portfolio to maturities of less than 12 months. Also, the
City’s internal management policy requires purchases of securities to be laddered with staggered
maturity dates and limits all securities to a final maturity of no more than two years.
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Credit Risk. The City has no formal policy regarding credit risk, but has internal management procedures
that limits the City’s investments to the provisions of G.S. 159-30 and restricts the purchase of securities
to the highest possible ratings whenever particular types of securities are rated. State law limits
investments in commercial paper to the top rating issued by nationally recognized statistical rating
organizations (NRSROs). As of June 30, 2021, the City did not hold any investments in commercial paper.
The City’s investment in the NC Capital Management Trust Government Portfolio carried a credit rating
of AAAm by Standard & Poor’s and AAAm-mf by Moody’s Investors Service as of June 30, 2021.

Concentration of Credit Risk. The City’s Council places no limit on the amount that the City may invest in
any one issuer. For the year ended June 30, 2021, there were no investments in commercial paper that
totaled more than 5 percent of the City’s investments.

Receivables — Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The amount of taxes receivable presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position
includes penalties levied and outstanding in the amount of $13,257.

The amounts presented in the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Net Position for the year ended June
30, 2021 are net of the following allowances for doubtful accounts:

Funds

General Fund:
TaAXES RECEIVADI ...ttt sttt bese e ae et e s snstenes S 11,815
ACCOUNES RECEIVADI ...ttt e st e e e a e e sesaneenen -
o] = ] H OO RROSRRP 11,815

ENTErPriS@ FUNG. .ttt sttt ettt ettt ettt s et e 174,920
o) = S 186,735
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Capital Assets
Primary Government

Capital asset activity for the Primary Government for the year ended June 30, 2021, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Governmental activities: Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
17 1 Vo PSP OSTPRTRSTT $ 6,980,512 S 528547 $ - S 7,509,059
Artwork and collections 68,360 - - 68,360
Construction in Progress......cereeeeenescvennee 53,149 238,179 - 291,328
Total capital assets not being depreciated... 7,102,021 766,726 - 7,868,747
Capital assets being depreciated:
BUITAINGS ettt st 16,869,281 41,151 - 16,910,432
Other improvements.........ccccoeeeveeeceereceeeseenenne 11,292,645 274,689 - 11,567,334
EQUIPMENT ..ottt s 3,424,357 69,218 128,750 3,364,825
Computer equipmMENt......cccccevieverienienieniesenennenn 565,775 52,989 - 618,764
Vehicles and motorized equipment................. 8,803,884 372,855 432,033 8,744,706
INfrastrUCTUre. .o 25,245,881 4,583,126 - 29,829,007
Total capital assets being depreciated.......... 66,201,823 5,394,028 560,783 71,035,068
Less accumulated depreciation for:
BUITAINGS cveveeiieirieieeeeeee et s 4,034,705 360,448 - 4,395,153
Other improvements.......ccccceveveeeereceveceeerenennes 1,177,681 394,976 - 1,572,657
EQUIPMENT ..ttt st 1,649,183 302,565 101,931 1,849,817
Computer equipment........cccoeevvvernennenenenne. 349,334 55,977 - 405,311
Vehicles and motorized equipment 5,849,257 1,055,829 386,051 6,519,035
INfrastruCtUre.. . 2,939,269 639,571 - 3,578,840
Total accumulated depreciation...................... 15,999,429 52,809,366 S 487,982 18,320,813
Total capital assets being depreciated, net... 50,202,394 52,714,255
Governmental activity capital assets, net........... $ 57,304,415 $60,583,002

Depreciation was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

General government S 125,611
L0 o] [ oY= {1 4SS 1,060,791
PUDBIIC WOTKS ...ttt e et e e e e e e ar b e e e e e e eeatnraeeeeeesesraaeeeeeseens 1,083,048
<Tol LT 1 { o] o PO PP PO 524,856
Economic & physical development.........oouiiiiiei e 15,060
o] =1 RPN $2,809,366
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Business-type Activities

The capital assets of the Enterprise Fund for the year ended June 30, 2021, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Water and Sewer Fund: Balances Increases Decreases Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
S 520,198 S 46,636 S - S 566,834
357,724 416,433 218,872 555,285

877,922 463,069 218,872 1,122,119

Capital assets being depreciated:

Water SOUMCES.....cocuieetieeeeeceecete et cr e eaae e 13,937,610 - - 13,937,610
Lift stations, pumping stations and tanks......... 8,097,539 750,000 - 8,847,539
Water and sewer lines.......cooeeveereveeeneenvecennnnns 39,418,647 3,217,126 750,000 41,885,773
Land improvements........ccoeeevevecesrereeiereeeereeennnas 10,971 - - 10,971
Water Resource Recovery Facility......ccoeevvrunnene 9,136,888 355,023 - 9,491,911
Machinery and equipment.........ccocoeeceveverenennene. 1,876,102 75,789 35,710 1,916,181
VENICIES .ottt s 500,204 - 14,959 485,245
Total capital assets being depreciated.............. 72,977,961 4,397,938 800,669 76,575,230
Less accumulated depreciation for:
WaAter SOUICES....ccueiveeerrieierereeerteesteseeresesessesseseesens 3,996,089 285,942 - 4,282,031
Lift stations, pumping stations and tanks......... 1,879,661 164,746 - 2,044,407
Water and sewer lines.......cccooeveveeveeveneneeseneeenne. 10,318,803 834,276 16,250 11,136,829
Land improvements......ccooceeeerecerencseneeenieneeennes 9,043 798 - 9,841
Water Resource Recovery Facility.......cccceueueee. 3,647,356 203,985 - 3,851,341
Machinery and equipment 826,915 124,389 19,463 931,841
VENICIES .ottt e 456,741 12,032 14,959 453,814
Total accumulated depreciation........ccccecevveenee 21,134,608 $1,626,168 S 50,672 22,710,104
Total capital assets being depreciated, net....... 51,843,353 53,865,126
Business-type activity capital assets, net................ $52,721,275 $54,987,245

During the year ended June 30, 2021, several capital assets were reclassified between categories. These
reclassifications were presented in the “decreases” columns of the schedules above.
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Construction Commitments

The government has active construction projects as of June 30, 2021. At year end, the government’s
commitments with contractors are as follows:

Project Spent to Date Remaining Contract
Install New Sidewalk 300 BLK W Jackson St & Holt St............ S 59,582 $ 29,213
20-21 Street Repair Contract......cccceceveeveeveeneenenenesesessesee e 992,454 28,445
Public Works & Utility Department Office Additions ............ - 35,000
Youth/Walker Restroom Renovations........cceeeeeveveeecvennn. - 11,875
Jones Road Sewer Survey & Preliminary Design......ccccceuneen. - 49,500
AWCK Evaluation at Lake Michael Trails.....ccocoeevereeveveenennenns - 5,100
Utility Relocations for Intersection Widening........cccccocueueen. - 19,810
Engineering and Consulting for N First St Sidewalk................ 2,747 5,102
GKN Force Main Survey and Preliminary Design........ccccvueneee - 49,500
Evidence Room Dividing Wall Installation........cccecevcenuennnee. 4,695 4,695
Construction Contract for N. First Sidewalk Improv............... - 131,800
Inspections/Planning Parking Lot Maintenance..........cc........ - 31,284
Inspections/Planning Building Addition.... - 228,247
Havensonte Oversizing Reimbursement.........cccecvecvenercrnennne - 120,000
TOTAL ettt S 1,059,478 S 749,571

B. Liabilities

Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System

Plan Description. The City of Mebane is a participating employer in the statewide Local Governmental
Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the State of North Carolina. LGERS membership is comprised of general employees and
local law enforcement officers (LEOs) of participating local governmental entities. Article 3 of G.S.
Chapter 128 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees, which consists of
13 members — nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate, one appointed by
the State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who serve as ex-
officio members. The Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System is included in the Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR includes
financial statements and required supplementary information for LGERS. That report may be obtained
by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-
1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.0sc.nc.gov.

Benefits Provided. LGERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are determined
as 1.85% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of creditable service. A
member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a member’s four highest
consecutive years of compensation. Plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at
age 65 with five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or at any age
with 30 years of creditable service. Plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at
age 50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service (age 55 for
firefighters). Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die while in active
service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who have either completed 20 years of
creditable service regardless of age (15 years of creditable service for firefighters and rescue squad
members who are killed in the line of duty) or have completed five years of service and have reached age
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60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of
the member’s contributions. The plan does not provide for automatic post-retirement benefit increases.
Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of the plan.

LGERS plan members who are LEOs are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 55 with five
years of creditable service as an officer, or at any age with 30 years of creditable service. LEO plan
members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 50 with 15 years of creditable
service as an officer. Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of LEO members who die
while in active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who also have either completed
20 years of creditable service regardless of age, or have completed 15 years of service as a LEO and have
reached age 50, or have completed five years of creditable service as a LEO and have reached age 55, or
have completed 15 years of creditable service as a LEO if killed in the line of duty. Eligible beneficiaries
may elect to receive a monthly Survivor's Alternate Benefit for life or a return of the member’s
contributions.

Contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 128-30 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. City of Mebane employees are required to contribute 6%
of their compensation. Employer contributions are actuarially determined and set annually by the LGERS
Board of Trustees. The City of Mebane’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June
30, 2021, was 9.00% of compensation for law enforcement officers and 8.25% for general employees and
firefighters, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is
expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year. Contributions to the
pension plan from the City of Mebane were $1,658,481 for the year ended June 30, 2021.

Refunds of Contributions — City employees who have terminated service as a contributing member of
LGERS, may file an application for a refund of their contributions. By state law, refunds to members with
at least five years of service include 4% interest. State law requires a 60 day waiting period after service
termination before the refund may be paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s
right to employer contributions or any other benefit provided by LGERS.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2021, the City reported a liability of $4,015,459 for its proportionate share of the net pension
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2020. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2020 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of future payroll covered by the pension plan, relative
to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all participating LGERS employers,
actuarially determined. At June 30, 2020, the City’s proportion was 0.112%, which was an increase of
0.001% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2019.

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $1,048,868. At June 30, 2021,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:
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Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience........cceceeevevennene S 507,082 S -
Changes of assumptions 298,829 -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pPension plan iNVeStMENTS......c.cvreeirrneererre e 565,069 -

Changes in proportion and differences between City

contributions and proportionate share of contributions............... 859,896 -
City contribution subsequent to the measurement date...................... 1,658,481 -
Lo OO S 3,889,357 §$ -

$1,658,481 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a decrease of the net pension
liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

202 e e e e e e aa e e aae e aa e e rae e raeeesaeeeareeenneeeteeennes S 800,784
2023t et ettt e sttt e se e st ene e esetaran 803,292
2024 e e e e st e e ae e e e et e e s abe e e baestaeetes 459,384
20D et et e e eb e e ae e e e aae e ae e et e e eabeeebeeentaaenes 167,230
2026ttt e e e e e eae e e aee e aaeeerae e raeeesaeeeareeenaeeaeeenes -
THEMEATEEN . -

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the

measurement:

Inflation 3.0 percent

Salary increases 3.50 to 8.10 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Investment rate of return 7.00 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. general, law
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based
on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The
healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.

Future ad hoc COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and are therefore not
included in the measurement.

The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of
current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and
historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields
across the U.S. Treasury vyield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and
interpolated for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections
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are established through analysis of the equity risk premium and the fixed income return projections.
Other asset categories and strategies’ return projections reflect the foregoing and historical data
analysis. These projections are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting
the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class as of June 30, 2020 are summarized in the following table:

Long-Term

Target Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
Fixed Income 29.0% 1.4%
Global Equity 42.0% 5.3%
Tl S = | (< 8.0% 4.3%
ALLEINATIVES . .uviiiiiiiieiiitieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e srrrreere e, 8.0% 8.9%
7.0% 6.0%

6.0% 4.0%

The information above is based on 30 year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the
2019 asset, liability, and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including
LGERS. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arithmetic
annualized figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively
subtracting a long-term inflation assumption of 3.00%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate.
The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.00 percent, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset or
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point
lower (6.00 percent) or one percentage point higher (8.00 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)
City’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability (aSSEt).....c..ccvvevveeveeienrieireeree e S 8,146,928 S 4,015,459 S 581,917

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North
Carolina.

Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance

Plan Description. The City of Mebane administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation
Allowance), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the
City’s qualified sworn law enforcement officers under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30
years of creditable service or have attained 55 years of age and have completed five or more years of
creditable service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the
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base rate of compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The
retirement benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be
authorized by the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish
and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.

All full-time law enforcement officers of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At December
31, 2019, the valuation date, the Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Basis of Accounting. The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
terms of the plan.

The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria which are outlined
in GASB Statement 73.

Actuarial Assumptions. The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2019
valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.25to 7.75 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Discount rate 1.93 percent

The discount rate used is the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of December 31,
2019.

Mortality rates are based on the Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables with adjustments projected forward
generationally from the valuation date using MP-2019.

Contributions. The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement
benefits and has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go
basis through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this Plan is established and may be amended
by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed
through investment earnings. The City had no benefits come due for the reporting period.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2021, the City reported a total pension liability of $1,372,013. The total pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2020 based on a December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation. The total pension
liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2020 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City
recognized pension expense of $173,665.
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Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience........ccceeevveeanene S 131,979 S -
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.....cccccuieiiieieieeeee et 424,962 24,317
Benefit payments and administrative expenses made
subsequent to the measurement date........ccoceveveveeveiecenecnereeeees - -
TOTAL ettt ettt be et e e ae et neebans S 556,941 S 24,317

S0 was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2022t ettt ettt e se st et e sean st enese e eratan S 90,978
2023ttt et et a ettt eae st tese e e teneseentetas 90,978
B T 92,363
1 T 78,646
0 TR 79,805
B =T 1 =) (R 99,854

S0 paid as benefits came due and SO of administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement date
are reported as deferred outflows of resources.

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the
City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 1.93 percent, as well as what the City’s
total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(0.93 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (2.93 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(0.93%) (1.93%) (2.93%)
Total pension [iability.....eeenieereeneereeeennn, S 1,520,276 S 1,372,013 S 1,238,123
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Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

2021

Beginning BalanCe.... ettt ssasae b nas S 802,190
Service costat end Of YEar......cccececeeiecieeeeeeteee e 56,536
Interest of total pension liability.....ccooveeeeieeeicieceeeeeeee 26,151
Changes of benefit terms........ccceeeeereeeree e -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability.....c.ccoceoeevnenennnnnnne. 46,055
Changes of assumptions or other iNPuUts.......ccccecevevecenevevesereeennes 441,081
BeNefit PAYMENTS....ccocuiieitceeee e -
Other CNANEES...ciececeeee et et aens -
Ending balance of the total pension liability......cccovvrirrrrennnnee $ 1,372,013

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy).
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant
portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future
mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study from the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014.

Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance

Plan Description. The City of Mebane administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation
Allowance), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the
City’s qualified firefighters under the age of 62 who have completed at least 30 years of creditable
service or have attained 60 years of age and have completed twenty-five or more years of creditable
service. The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the base rate of
compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The retirement
benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be authorized by
the General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish and amend
benefit provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.

All full-time firefighters of the City are covered by the Separation Allowance. At December 31, 2019 the
Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of:

Retirees receiving DeNEFitS ....cuiiiiiiiiiiiice e
Terminated plan members entitled to but not receiving benefits ........cccceeveevivivienceencieenen.
ACLIVE Plan MEMDEIS ... e e et e e e e ta e e e e e e e e s baeeeesaeeeeannnns

N
[S2 B
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Basis of Accounting. The City has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
terms of the plan.

The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria which are outlined
in GASB Statement 73.

Page 41



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021

Actuarial Assumptions. The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2019
valuation. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.5 percent

Salary increases 3.25 to 8.00 percent, including inflation and
productivity factor

Discount rate 1.93 percent

The discount rate used is the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of December 31,
2019.

Mortality rates are based on the Pub-2010 amount-weighted tables with adjustments projected forward
generationally from the valuation date using MP-2019.

Contributions. The City is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement
benefits and has chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go
basis through appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions
made by employees. The City’s obligation to contribute to this Plan is established and may be amended
by the North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed
through investment earnings. The City had no benefits come due for the reporting period.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2021, the City reported a total pension liability of $637,293. The total pension liability was
measured as of December 31, 2020 based on a December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation. The total pension
liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2020 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City
recognized pension expense of $70,004.

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience........cceceeeveeenane S - S -
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS .....cccvieuiviiiecirccere et 139,942 -

Benefit payments and administrative expenses made

subsequent to the measurement date - -
TOTAL ettt eaerebens S 139,942 S -

S0 was reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as
deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

S 28,443
28,443
28,443
28,443
26,170
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S0 paid as benefits came due and $0 of administrative expenses subsequent to the measurement date
are reported as deferred outflows of resources.

Sensitivity of the City’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the
City’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 1.93 percent, as well as what the City’s
total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(0.93 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (2.93 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(0.93%) (1.93%) (2.93%)
Total pension liability.....ccccoeeeeceeereeeeeerereeee. S 715,222 S 637,293 S 567,247

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance

2021
Beginning balance.................. e S 427,347
Service cost at end of year 27,629

Interest of total pension liability.....cocoveeeeieeeecieeeeeeeee 13,932
Changes of benefit terms -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability -
Changes of assumptions or other iNputs.......cccccceeeceveeerecececeenenne. 168,385
Benefit payments -

Other ChaNEES ..ot st sa s b aens -

Ending balance of the total pension liability......cccceeceveniivrceninnnnene. S 637,293

The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy).
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant
portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future
mortality improvements.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study from the period January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2019.
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Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources of Related to Pensions

Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense for all pension plans:

LGERS LEOSSA Fire SSA Total
PENSION EXPENSEu..uurrerecrereectereeeievessaesesassesesssennans S 1,048,368 S 173,665 S 70,004 S 1,292,537
Pension Liability....nnnnnnneerenenee s 4,015,459 1,372,013 637,293 6,024,765
Proportionate share of the
net pension liability....cveveveeeeereeercenenenn 0.11237% n/a n/a
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and
actual eXPeriencCe.. .. vreeeeeceeeeieeieieens 507,082 131,979 - 639,061
Changes of assumptions......cccceevveecenreeenene 298,829 424,962 139,942 863,733
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on plan investments........... 565,069 - - 565,069
Changes in proportion and differences
between contributions and proportionate
share of contributions........cceoveeeieivecernnen. 859,896 - - 859,896
Benefit payments and administrative costs
paid subsequent to the measurement date.. 1,658,481 - - 1,658,481
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Differences between expected and
actual eXperience.. . e - - - -
Changes of assumptions - 24,317 - 24,317

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on plan investments........... - - - -
Changes in proportion and differences

between contributions and proportionate

share of contributions........coceeecevenrecerenenee - - - -

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Non-Law Enforcement Officers

Pension Descriptions. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by The Prudential Insurance Company of America. The Plan
provides retirement benefits to non-law enforcement officers employed by the City. The City Council has
the authority for establishing or amending the plan’s provisions.

Funding Policy. The City contributes an amount equal to five percent of each employee's salary, and all
amounts contributed are vested immediately. Also, the employees may make voluntary contributions to
the plan. The City Council has the authority for establishing or amending contribution requirements.
Contributions for the year ended June 30, 2021 were $462,882, which consisted of $290,209 from the
City and $172,673, respectively, from the employees.

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers

Plan Description. The City contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.
The Plan provides retirement benefits to law enforcement officers employed by the City. Article 5 of G.S.
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Chapter 135 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina
General Assembly. The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers is included
in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR
includes the pension trust fund financial statements for the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) plan
that includes the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers. That report may
be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North
Carolina 27699-1410, or by calling (919) 981-5454.

Funding Policy. Article 12E of G.S. Chapter 143 requires the City to contribute each month an amount
equal to five percent of each officer’s salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. The
law enforcement officers may also make voluntary contributions to the plan. Contributions for the year
ended June 30, 2021 were $132,143, which consisted of $96,421 from the City and $35,722, respectively,
from the law enforcement officers.

Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund

Plan Description. The State of North Carolina contributes, on behalf of the City of Mebane, to the
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Fund (FRSWPF), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan with a special funding situation administered by the State of North Carolina.
FRSWPF provides pension benefits for eligible fire workers that have elected to become members of the
fund. Article 86 of G.S. Chapter 58 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the
North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees,
which consists of 13 members — nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the state Senate, one
appointed by the state House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who
serve as ex-officio members. The Firefighter’s Pension Fund is included in the Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report (ACFR) for the state of North Carolina. The State’s ACFR includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for the Fund. That report may be obtained by writing to the
Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling
(919) 981-5454, or at www.0sc.nc.gov.

Benefits Provided. FRSWPF provides retirement and survivor benefits. The present retirement benefit is
$170 per month. Plan members are eligible to receive the monthly benefit at age 55 with 20 years of
creditable service as a firefighter or rescue squad worker, and have terminated duties as a firefighter or
rescue squad worker. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die before beginning to receive the benefit
will receive the amount paid by the member and contributions paid on the member’s behalf into the
plan. Eligible beneficiaries of members who die after beginning to receive benefits will be paid the
amount the member contributed minus the benefits collected.

Contributions. Plan members are required to contribute $10 per month to the plan. The State, a non-
employer contributor, funds the plan through appropriations. The City is not required to contribute to
the Fund; however, as a benefit to the firefighters, the City has chosen to fund the member’s
contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 58- 86 and may be amended
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, the State
contributed $18,652,000 to the plan. The City of Mebane’s proportionate share of the State’s
contribution is $26,898.

Refunds of Contributions — Plan members who are no longer eligible or choose not to participate in the
plan may file an application for a refund of their contributions. Refunds include the member’s
contributions and contributions paid by others on the member’s behalf. No interest will be paid on the
amount of the refund. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s right to employer
contributions or any other benefit provided by FRSWPF.
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2021, the City reported no liability for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, as
the State provides 100% pension support to the City through its appropriations to the FRSWPF. The total
portion of the net pension liability that was associated with the City and supported by the State was
$52,183. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2020. The total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019. The
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2020 utilizing update
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was
based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
projected contributions of all participating employers. As the City is not projected to make any future
contributions to the plan, its proportionate share at June 30, 2021 and at June 30, 2020 was 0%.

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $14,046 and revenue of
$14,046 for support provided by the State. At June 30, 2021, the City reported no deferred outflows of
resources and no deferred inflows of resources related to pensions.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the

measurement:

Inflation 3.0 percent

Salary increases Not applicable

Investment rate of return 7.00 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

For more information regarding actuarial assumptions, including mortality tables, the actuarial
experience study, the consideration of future ad hoc COLA amounts, the development of the projected
long-term investment returns, and the asset allocation policy, refer to the discussion of actuarial
assumptions for the LGERS plan noted above.

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the State of North
Carolina.

Other Post-employment Benefits

Healthcare Benefits

Plan Description. Employees who retire under the provisions of the North Carolina Local Government
Employees’ Retirement System (NCLGERS) and have fifteen (15) or more years of service with the City at
the time of retirement are eligible to continue coverage in the City’s health plan, a single-employer
defined benefit plan. Coverage in the health plan will continue until the retiree becomes Medicare
eligible, at which time coverage will be converted to a Medicare Supplement Plan. Health care and
prescription drug coverage are provided by the City’s health plan. A separate stand-alone report is not
issued.
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Membership of the Health Care Plan consisted of the following at June 30, 2019, the date of the latest
actuarial valuation:

General Law Enforcement
Employees Officers
Retirees and dependents receiving benefits 16 5
Active plan MembErs ... 105 _ 28
o] =1 ST 121 33

Total OPEB Liability

The City’s total OPEB liability of $10,995,899 was measured as of June 30, 2020 with a determination
date of June 30, 2019, the actuarial valuation date.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods
included in the measurement unless otherwise specified:

Inflation 2.5 percent
Real wage growth 1.0 percent
Wage inflation 3.5 percent
Salary increases General Employees- 3.50 to 7.75 percent, Firefighters 3.50 to

7.75 percent, Law Enforcement Officers 3.50 to 7.35 percent,
including inflation

Discount rate 2.21 percent

Healthcare cost trend rates Pre-Medicare- 7.00 percent for 2019 to 4.50 percent by 2026
Medicare- 5.00 percent for 2019 to 4.50 percent by 2021

The discount rate is based on the June average of the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-year Municipal
Bond Index published weekly by The Bond Buyer.

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability

Total OPEB Liability, Balance atJuly 1, 2020.....ccccccceveeevreceeeceericieeenene S 7,870,810
Changes for the year
Y= Y/ ol < of 0 1 S 459,321
INEEIES T ettt et cba e s e e b s neesraeenanee 289,711
Changes in benefit terMS......ccccceveerereie e -
Differences between expected and actual experience.........cceuuuen. 5,490
Changes in assumptions or other iNPutsS.......ccceeceeveveeeeceneecesereeeee, 2,476,778
Benefit PAYMENTS ....coviieiireirerrrr s (106,211)
NEL CNANEES c..cviteieteeeeee et ettt st nen 3,125,089

Total OPEB Liability, Balance atJune 30, 2021 S 10,995,899

Changes in assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.50% to 2.21%.

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 mortality tables, with adjustments for LGERS experience and
generational mortality improvements using Scale MP-2015.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the period January 2010 through December 2014.

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the total
OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current discount
rate:
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1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(1.21%) (2.21%) (3.21%)
Total OPEB liability....cccoceveveireerrcrnene. S 13,634,324 S 10,995,899 S 9,003,746

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates. The following presents
the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point
higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

1% Decrease Current 1% Increase
Total OPEB liability....cccoeveveiereerrernene. S 8,585,703 S 10,995,899 S 14,349,452

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of $1,033,861. At June 30, 2021,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience.........c.ceceerevennnes S 1,032,760 §$ 5,584
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS .....cccucuieiiieeieeeeee et 2,209,884 737,709
Benefit payments and administrative costs made
subsequent to the measurement date.........ccceveveeveeveveieceneceeenieeen, 127,727 -
e ] 7 | TR S 3,370,371 S 743,293

$127,727 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from benefit payments
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a
decrease of the total OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended June 30:

2002 e e e e e e e e re e e rt e e b e e e ae e e aaeeareeeaaeeenneennreeans S 284,829
202 e et e e e e et e e te e et e e ebe e e et e e aaaeeeateeeaaeanreeaas 284,829
2024 e e et st a et e e be e s ba e et ae et e e e abeanteeeas 284,829
D1 072 RSSO 284,829
2026ttt ettt et b et a et a e e bt ae et et et enere s ranan 284,829
TR EATEEN ...ttt ettt ettt a et b e ere s enens 1,075,206

Other Employment Benefits

The City has elected to provide death benefits to employees through the Death Benefit Plan for members
of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (Death Benefit Plan), a multiple-employer,
State-administered, cost-sharing plan funded on a one-year term cost basis. The beneficiaries of those
employees who die in active service after one year of contributing membership in the System, or who die
within 180 days after retirement or termination of service and have at least one year of contributing
membership service in the System at the time of death are eligible for death benefits. Lump sum death
benefit payments to beneficiaries are equal to the employee's 12 highest months’ salary in a row during
the 24 months prior to the employee's death, but the benefit may not exceed $50,000 or be less than
$25,000. Because all death benefit payments are made from the Death Benefit Plan and not by the City,
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the City does not determine the number of eligible participants. The City has no liability beyond the
payment of monthly contributions. The contributions to the Death Benefit Plan cannot be separated
between the post-employment benefit amount and the other benefit amount. Contributions are
determined as a percentage of monthly payroll based upon rates established annually by the State.
Separate rates are set for employees not engaged in law enforcement and for law enforcement officers.
The City considers these contributions to be immaterial.

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

The City has several deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources is comprised of the

following:
Pensions- differences between expected and actual experience....... S 639,061
Pensions- change of assUMPLiONS......ccccccvveveneveneceneneseee e 863,733
Pensions- difference between projected and actual investment

EATNINES cuervertererereetese et et e et e st e ae st e testesbesstestestestestesbesbessessessessseseensesaans 565,069
Pensions- change in proportion and difference between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions............... 859,896
Contributions to pension planin current fiscal year......cccccoeeveuenane 1,658,481
OPEB- differences between expected and actual experience.............. 1,032,760
Pensions- change of assUMPLioONS.......ccccveeeeecirececiese e 2,209,884
Benefit payments for OPEB made subsequent to measurement

Lo 1= OO 127,727
LEOSSA- benefit payments made and administrative

EXPENS ES c.uueurrerereersesessessesesesessssssasessssesessssasessssesesesssesesessssesesasssssesssenens -
TOAN ettt ettt ettt e r ettt e et ent et et e et et et er et e st enenetarns S 7,956,611

Deferred inflows of resources at year-end is comprised of the following:

Statement of General Fund

Net Position Balance Sheet
Pensions- change in proportion and difference between employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions............... S - S -

LEOSSA- change of assuUmMPLioNS......cceeveeveceneneninceereee e 24,317 -
OPEB- differences between expected and actual experience.............. 5,584 -
OPEB- change of assumptions.......cccecveeeenerennieneeesee e 737,709 -
Prepaid taxes and licenses (General FuNd).....ccccccoeeveeecieeeenenecieennns 2,640 2,640
Taxes receivable, less penalties (General Fund)......cccccevveceeererrernennnne. - 82,899
TOTA L ettt ettt et a et e nnene e etens S 770,250 S 85,539

Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions, injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City carries commercial coverage
for all other risks of loss. There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage in the prior
year, and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the last four fiscal years.

The City has not been designated as being in a flood zone and thus carries no commercial flood
insurance.
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In accordance with G.S. 159-29, the City’s employees that have access to $100 or more at any given time
of the City’s funds are performance bonded through a commercial surety bond. The finance officer and
tax collector are individually bonded for $50,000 each and the City Manager for $25,000. The remaining
employees that have access to funds are bonded under a blanket bond for $25,000.

Claims, Judgments and Contingent Liabilities

At June 30, 2021, the City was a defendant to various lawsuits. In the opinion of the City’s management
and the City attorney, the ultimate effect of these legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on
the City’s financial position.

Long-Term Obligations

Capital Leases

The City did not have any leases outstanding that were considered to be capital in nature.

General Obligation Indebtedness

The general obligation bonds and the notes payable, which were issued to finance the construction of
facilities utilized in the operations of the water and sewer system and which are being retired by its
resources, are reported as long-term debt in the Water and Sewer Fund. All general obligation bonds are
collateralized by the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the City. Principal and interest requirements
are appropriated on all indebtedness when due.

Bonds and notes payable at June 30, 2021 are comprised of the following individual issues:

General Obligation Bonds:

There were no general obligation bonds payable at June 30, 2021.

Installment Purchases:
Serviced by the General Fund:

Direct placement contract payable to Bank of America, N.A. for the City Hall
and Recreation Building renovation projects. Principal payments of $106,667
plus interest are due semi-annually starting on December 27, 2008. The note
bears interest at the rate of 3.52%. The City Hall and Recreation buildings are
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding ..........ccceevvveviiiiiieiieceeceee e 426,666

Direct placement contract payable to BB&T for the Southside Fire Station
Project. Principal payments of $86,667 plus interest are due semi-annually
starting on July 23, 2014. The note bears interest at the rate of 2.84%. All
property, equipment and deposits acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding .........cccceeveviiiiiiericec e, 1,386,667

Direct placement contract payable to Piedmont Electric Membership
Corporation as part of the USDA Rural Economic Development Loan (REDL)
Program for the purchase of two fire trucks and related fire truck equipment
and firefighting equipment for the Southside Fire Station. Principal payments
of $140,889 are due annually starting on February 1, 2015 with final payment
due February 1, 2023. The note bears no interest as part of the REDL program.
The fire trucks and equipment are security for the debt while the debt is
Lo TU) ) 7 0 To 11 o V- ST PST 281,778

Direct placement contract payable to Piedmont Electric Membership
Corporation as part of the USDA Rural Economic Development Loan (REDL)
Program for the purchase of a fire truck. Principal payments of $46,833 are
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due annually starting on August 1, 2017 with final payment due August 1, 2026.
The note bears no interest as part of the REDL program. The fire truck is
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding .........cccceeeciieiciee e, 280,998

Direct placement contract payable to American National Bank and Trust
Company for the City Park Project. Principal payments of $194,333 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on October 15, 2017. The note bears
interest at the rate of 3.23%. All property, improvements and equipment
acquired with these local funds are the security for the debt while the debt is
Lo U)oy 7 0o 11 o V- S PP PSP 4,275,333

Direct placement contract payable to Branch Banking and Trust Company for
the Fire Department Radio Equipment. Principal payments of $43,187 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on April 27, 2018. The note bears
interest at the rate of 1.85%. All equipment and improvements acquired with
these local funds are the security for the debt while the debt is outstanding..................... 129,562

Direct placement contract payable to First Bank for the Police Department
Radio Equipment. Principal payments of $46,900 plus interest are due semi-
annually starting on May 9, 2019. The note bears interest at the rate of 3.02%.
All equipment and improvements acquired with these local funds are the
security for the debt while the debt is outstanding .........cccceeeciieiciie e, 234,500

Direct placement contract payable to First Bank for the Police Department
Vehicles. Principal payments of $26,647 plus interest are due semi-annually
starting on October 16, 2019. The note bears interest at the rate of 2.58%. All
equipment and improvements acquired with these local funds are the security
for the debt while the debt is outstanding ..........cccoeeeiiiiiiciiiiccee e 159,881

Direct placement contract payable to U.S. Bancorp Government Leasing and
Finance, Inc., for sanitation vehicles. Principal payments of $43,050 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on February 28, 2021. The note bears
interest at the rate of 1.363%. All equipment and improvements acquired with
these local funds are the security for the debt while the debt is outstanding..................... 387,450

Serviced by the Water and Sewer Fund:

Direct placement contract payable from the North Carolina Water Pollution
Control Revolving Fund for 9th Street Sewer improvements. Principal
payments of $4,806 annually on the indebtedness started on May 1, 2010. The
interest rate as established under this program is zero percent. This debt is not
Y=Y oLV =T« ISR 38,445

Direct placement contract payable to Carolina Bank for the water treatment
plant upgrade and expansion projects. Principal and interest payments are due
annually on July 1, in varying amounts, starting July 1, 2015 and ending July 1,
2029. The note bears interest at the rate of 2.60%. All property, equipment and
deposits acquired with these local funds are the security for the debt while the
(o 1= oYl I oYU £ = o I o= PR 3,015,000

Direct placement contract payable to BB&T for the construction of a Sewer
Pump Station, main, outfall and tunnel. Principal payments of $66,667 plus
interest are due semi-annually starting on May 1, 2008. The note bears
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interest at the rate of 3.85%. The property is pledged as collateral for the debt

while the debt is OULSTANAING ....ooiiiiiiieiei e
Total [oNG-term debt......ccceeiii e e e
Less: Current portion of long-term debt........cccvvviiiiiiiiice e

Non-current portion of long-term debt.......ccccvviiviiee e,

133,334
10,749,614
(1,722,762)

S 9,026,852

At June 30, 2021, the City of Mebane had no authorized but unissued bonds and had a legal debt margin

of $179,348,538.

The following table summarizes the annual requirements to amortize all long-term liabilities outstanding
at June 30, 2021 (excluding compensated absences, pension liabilities, OPEB liabilities, and any claims or

judgments).

General Obligation Other Long-term

Bonds Indebtedness Total Debt Due

Serviced by General Fund:
Fiscal Year Principle Interest Principle Interest Principle Interest
2022 - - 1,282,623 172,373 1,282,623 172,373
2023 - - 1,239,436 143,249 1,239,436 143,249
X0 Y2 S - - 795,127 117,425 795,127 117,425
2025 - - 694,933 99,679 694,933 99,679
2026, - - 651,883 83,928 651,883 83,928
2027-2031 - - 2,510,166 207,020 2,510,166 207,020
2032-maturity....ccceeuenens - - 388,668 7,262 388,668 7,262
L] ] PSS S - S - $ 7,562,836 S 830936 $ 7,562,836 S 830,936
Serviced by Water & Sewer Fund:
Fiscal Year Principle Interest Principle Interest Principle Interest
2022 - - 440,139 78,314 440,139 78,314
2023 - - 313,806 66,521 313,806 66,521
2024 - - 321,806 58,383 321,806 58,383
2025 - - 330,806 50,024 330,806 50,024
2026, - - 337,806 41,457 337,806 41,457
2027-2031 - - 1,442,415 75,478 1,442,415 75,478
2032-maturity - - - - - -
1] PO $ - $ - $ 3,186,778 $ 370,177 S 3,186,778 S 370,177
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Changes in Long-Term Liabilities
Current
Balance July 1, Balance June Portion of
2020 Increases Decreases 30,2021 Balance
Governmental activities:
Direct Placement
Installment purchase.......ooeeeeeveeeeerennnne. S 8,371,909 $ 430,500 S$1,239,573 $ 7,562,836 $1,282,623
Compensated absences 465,151 388,776 408,698 445,229 388,776
Total OPEB liability....ccccceurueee. 6,809,240 2,692,052 - 9,501,292 -
Net pension liability (LGERS).....c.ccccecvcvruneee. 2,650,542 822,702 - 3,473,244 -
Net pension liability (LEOSSA).......ccccevvuenne. 802,190 569,823 - 1,372,013 -
Total pension liability (Firefighters SSA)... 427,347 209,946 - 637,293 -
Governmental activity
long-term liabilities.....ccoeoveveeereecereerenene. $19,526,379 $5,113,799 S$1,648,271 $22,991,907 $1,671,399
Business-type activities:
Direct Placement
Installment purchase......ccceveveerreerennnen. S 3,617,917 S - S 431,139 $ 3,186,778 S 440,139
Graham/Mebane Watershed
ABFEEIMENT oo seeeeeeeerereesreesesssessesesessseseeneseon 1,783,652 - 127,403 1,656,249 127,403
Graham/Mebane Capacity
ABrEeMENT....ceiiieeeertee et 2,082,464 - 200,000 1,882,464 200,000
Net pension liability (LGERS).......ccccevevrunnene. 405,087 137,128 - 542,215 -
Compensated absences........ccceeeveecervrrerenne 76,077 66,299 63,386 78,990 66,299
Total OPEB liability...cccoceveeerreriirereereereennnee 1,061,570 433,037 - 1,494,607 -
Business-type activity
long-term liabilities....cccouveeererereeererernnnn. S 9,026,767 S 636,464 S 821,928 S 8,841,303 S 833,841

Compensated absences have typically been liquidated in the General Fund.
C. Interfund Balances and Activity

There are no balances due to/from other funds at June 30, 2021.

Interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services
are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system,
and (3) payments between funds are made. Interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in
the process of consolidation. These balances routinely clear out each month prior to or at year-end.

A summary of interfund transfers for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 is as follows:

Cash Transfers:
Transfer from General Fund to:

General Capital ProjeCt FUNG........cciieeiiicieree ettt e be bbb st b besnn S 1,059,769
Cates Farm Park Capital Project FUNG......c.cccoveeeieieenceeseeees ettt 84,823
Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund to:
Utility Capital Project FUNG ..ottt sttt st et neae sans 450,000
Transfer from System Development Capital Reserve Fund to:
Utility Capital ProjeCt FUNG ..ottt sttt et neae eans 37,846
TOtal CASh TrANSTEIS ettt ettt e st es s et st et ess e ssse e et saerenessanea S 1,632,438

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to
the fund that statute or budget requires to spend them and (2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the
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general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary
authorizations.

Further, during the year ended June 30, 2021, the City made the following one-time transfers:

1) A transfer of $1,059,769 from the General Fund to the General Capital Project Fund for capital
improvements.

2) A transfer of $84,823 from the General Fund to the Cates Farm Park Capital Project Fund for capital
improvements.

3) A transfer of $450,000 from the Utility Fund to the Utility Capital Project Fund for capital
improvements.

4) A transfer of $37,846 from the Utility Capital Reserve Fund to the Utility Capital Project Fund for
capital improvements.

D. On-Behalf Payments for Fringe Benefits and Salaries

The City has recognized as a revenue and an expenditure on-behalf payments for fringe benefits and
salaries of $14,046, for the salary supplement and stipend benefits paid to eligible firemen by the local
board of trustees of the Firemen’s Relief Fund during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. Under State
law the local board of trustees for the Fund receives an amount each year which the board may use at its
own discretion for eligible firemen or their departments.

E. Net Investment in Capital Assets
Governmental Business-type

Capital assets......ouuven... S 60,583,002 S 54,987,245
less: long-term debt 7,562,836 6,725,491
add: unexpended debt proceeds - -

Net investment in capital @SSEtS....iereeeeereeeeeerreee e S 53,020,166 S 48,261,754

F. Fund Balance
The following schedule provides management and citizens with information on the portion of General
fund balance that is available for appropriation:

Total fund balance —General FUNG. ...ttt sttt eveennesnens S 15,719,819
Less: Nonspendable Prepaid Assets (31,716)
Stabilization by State STAtULE.......ccececeeeeece ettt (3,405,872)
Appropriated Fund Balance in 2022 budget.......c.coceervrerenrerccenneeereeeeeenes (1,950,000)
WOrKing Capital..c.cccceeeeeeereerereece et (10,332,231)

REMAiNING fUN DAlaNCeuuiiiiiiciccce ettt enne S -

The outstanding encumbrances are amounts needed to pay any commitments related to purchase orders
and contracts that remain unperformed at year-end. Outstanding encumbrances for the Governmental
Funds at June 30, 2021 were $804,772 for the General Fund.

G. Jointly Governed Organization

The City, in conjunction with twelve counties and sixty other municipalities established the Piedmont
Triad Regional Council (Council). The participating governments established the Council to coordinate
various funding received from federal and State agencies. Each participating government appoints one
member and one alternate if they so desire, to the Council’s governing board. The City paid $2,909 in
general membership fees and $6,711 in stormwater fees to the Council during the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2021.
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H. Joint Ventures

The City, in conjunction with the Cities of Burlington and Graham, participate in the Alamance Municipal
ABC Board. Each participating government appoints board members. The ABC Board is a joint venture
established to facilitate control over alcoholic beverages within the Cities. The ABC Board has been in
existence for over 38 years and is self-sustaining. The City has an ongoing financial responsibility for the
ABC Board because it and the Cities of Burlington and Graham are legally obligated under the
intergovernmental agreement that created the ABC Board to honor any deficiencies in the event that
proceeds from other default remedies are insufficient. The participating governments do not have any
equity interest in the joint venture, so no equity interest has been reflected in the financial statements at
June 30, 2021. Complete financial statements for the ABC Board can be obtained from the
administrative offices at 603 W. Harden Street, Graham, North Carolina, 27253.

I. Joint Operation

The City of Mebane and the City of Graham are co-owners and operators of a water supply reservoir and
water treatment plant per an Intergovernmental Watershed Agreement. Since June 22, 1973, the
ownership of the assets and improvements of the joint undertaking remained at 66.7% interest for the
City of Graham and 33.3% interest for the City of Mebane. Due to relative growths of the populations in
units of government, the parties agreed as February 3, 2014 to adjust the capacity, treatment and
operational costs, improvements, upgrades, and repairs to be borne equally by the units. At this time,
the City of Mebane also agreed to pay to the City of Graham an equalizing sum of $2,548,070 for their
capital interest. The amount is to be paid in twenty annual installments of $127,403 with the first
payment due July 31, 2014. No interest is included in the agreement. The balance of the payable as of
June 30, 2021 was $1,656,249.

J. Interlocal Cooperation Agreement

The City of Mebane and the City of Graham entered into an interlocal cooperation agreement for the
allocation of Twenty One and Forty Three One Hundredths percent (21.43%) of capacity usage of the City
of Graham’s wastewater treatment plant. The cost of agreed upon improvements or upgrades to the
wastewater treatment plant and the Cherry Lane pump station will be shared by the City of Mebane and
the City of Graham based on percentage of capacity usage, as noted above. The duration for the
continuation of the agreement is 99 years. The City of Mebane has agreed to pay the City of Graham
$2,682,464 for this capacity usage. The amount is to be paid in twenty annual installments of $200,000
(payments 1-5), $150,000 (payments 6-10), $100,000 (payments 11-15), and $86,493 (payments 16-20)
with the first payment due July 10, 2018. No interest is included in the agreement. The balance of the
payable as of June 30, 2021 was $1,882,464.

K. Summary Disclosure of Significant Contingencies

Federal and State Assisted Programs

The City has received proceeds from several federal and State grants. Periodic audits of these grants are
required and certain costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the grant
agreements. Such audits could result in the refund of grant monies to the grantor agencies.
Management believes that any required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been made in the
accompanying financial statements for the grant monies.

L. Significant Effects of Subsequent Events

In accordance with ASC 855, the City evaluated subsequent events through November 10, 2021, the date
the financial statements were available to be issued. There were no material subsequent events that
required recognition or additional disclosure in these financial statements.

M. Restatements
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the City determined that the pension liability for the
Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance was not recorded. Therefore, an adjustment to beginning net
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position has been recorded to account for this accrual, the net effect of which is a decrease in net
position of $427,347. This liability does not affect the modified basis fund balance.
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Required
Supplementary
Information

This section contains additional information required
by generally accepted accounting principles.

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset) for
Local Government Employees’ Retirement System

Schedule of Contributions to Local Government Employees’
Retirement System

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability for
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Plan

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability (Asset) for
Firefighters’ and Rescue Squad Workers’ Pension Plan

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered
Payroll for Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered
Payroll for Firefighters’ Special Separation Allowance

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios






City of Mebane, North Carolina

Required Supplementary Information

City of Mebane's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset)
Last Eight Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2021

Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Mebane's proportion of the

net pension liability (asset) (%)......cccccuvenes 0.11237% 0.11189% 0.10735% 0.10919% 0.10681% 0.10043% 0.09862% 0.99260%
Mebane's proportion of the

net pension liability (asset) ($)...covrvrrruenene $4,015,459 $3,055,629 $2,546,709 $1,668,121 $2,266,866 $ 450,724 S (581,608) $1,116,186
Mebane's covered payroll..........ccceeevveenenes $7,506,863 $7,137,816 $6,539,336 $6,062,960 $5,990,336 $5,169,065 $5,064,935 $4,888,462
Mebane's proportionate share of the

net pension liability (asset) as a

percentage of its covered payroll.............. 53.49% 42.81% 38.94% 27.51% 37.84% 8.72% (11.48%) 22.83%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of the total pension liability **.................. 92.60% 90.68% 91.63% 94.18% 91.47% 98.09% 102.64% 94.35%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending June 30. This
schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it
becomes available.

** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.
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Required Supplementary Information
City of Mebane's Contributions

Last Eight Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2021

Local Government Employees' Retirement System

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually required contribution..... S 671,809 S 624,341 S 526,288 S 364,077 $ 438,800 $ 404,627 S 376,969 $ 353,916
Contributions in relation to the

contractually required contribution.. 671,809 624,341 526,288 364,077 438,800 404,627 376,969 353,916
Contribution deficiency (excess)........... S - S - S - S - S - - S - S -
Mebane's covered payroll..................... $8,101,894 $7,506,863 $7,137,816 $6,539,336 $6,062,960 $5,990,336 $5,169,065 $5,064,935
Contributions as a percentage of

covered payroll.......cccceeveeecieenneennen. 8.29% 8.32% 7.37% 5.57% 7.24% 6.75% 7.29% 6.99%

* This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed

as it becomes available.
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Required Supplementary Information

City of Mebane's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Last Seven Fiscal Years *

June 30, 2021

Firefighters' and Rescue Squad Workers' Pension

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability (%).....c.cccceeeveennen 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000% 0.00000%  0.00000%
Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability ($).......cccovevevvennene. S - S - S - S - S - S - S -
State's proportionate share of the net pension

liability associated with the City of Mebane. 52,183 53,623 75,430 61,719 45,002 38,775 31,152
o] -1 OSSR S 52,18 $ 53623 $ 75430 S 61,719 $ 45002 S 38,775 S$ 31,152
Mebane's covered payroll...............cooueeveenreeeens $1,650,409 $1,534,858 $1,371,047 $1,289,371 $1,227,668 $1,268,042 $ 945,728
Mebane's proportionate share

of the net pension liability (asset) as a

percentage of its covered payroll.................. 3.16% 3.49% 5.50% 4.79% 3.67% 3.06% 3.29%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

the total pension liability.......c.ccocovcerereniennne 92.30% 90.50% 89.35% 94.94% 91.40% 93.42% 92.76%

* The amounts are presented for the prior fiscal year. This schedule is intended to show information for ten years.

Additional years' information will be displayed as it becomes available.

Page 61



City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability

Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
Last Five Fiscal Years*

June 30, 2021
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Beginning balancCe........ccveevieieciicieeecece et S 802,190 S 621,186 S 574,870 S 427,541 S 400,968
SEIVICE COSTuriuuiiiiiiiiiiiniiesieeiteesteeste et e ete e s saeesaeeesteesareesees 56,536 49,682 45,895 37,803 35,736
Interest on the total pension liability.......ccccooeeiiieiiinnii, 26,151 22,611 18,057 16,370 14,155
Changes of benefit terms........cccoveveeiiiiiiiiiie e, - - - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability...................... 46,055 77,061 23,723 53,293 -
Changes of assumptions or other inputs...........cccceeeeuneeen. 441,081 31,650 (34,476) 46,746 (14,371)
Benefit Payments.......ccoeeeeviieeeiie e - - (6,883) (6,883) (8,947)
Other Changes.......ccuviiieei e - - - - -
Ending balance of the total pension liability.............c..c...... $ 1,372,013 S 802,190 S 621,186 S 574,870 S 427,541

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending December 31.

This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it

becomes available.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance

Last Ten Fiscal Years

June 30, 2021
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Total pension

liability......ccccevenee. $1,372,013 $ 802,190 S 621,186 S 574,870 S 427,541 S 400,968 S 258,154 S 238,533 $226,153 S 224,291
Covered payroll....... 1,971,990 1,889,896 1,622,281 1,553,944 1,443,743 1,443,743 1,228,378 1,097,171 931,673 946,084
Total pension liabilty

as a percentage of

covered payroll...  69.58% 42.45% 38.29% 36.99% 29.61% 27.77% 21.02% 21.74% 24.27% 23.71%

Notes to the Required Schedules

The City of Mebane has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 73 to pay related benefits.

Page 63



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance

June 30, 2021
2021

BeginniNg DalanCe.......c.icveeviieeieeeeeeccee et S 427,347
SEIVICE COST...niiiiiiiiiiiieie ettt reee e e e e e e e et e eeeeraa e eeeseeessssaaeeeaeeens 27,629
Interest on the total pension liability........ccccoeeeiiieeiiiiiiiee s 13,932
Changes of benefit terms.........cccuviiiiiiecc e -
Differences between expected and actual experience in the

measurement of the total pension liability.........cccooeeeiiiriinnnnn.n. -
Changes of assumptions or other inputs..........ccccoeeeciiieeeeeeecccineeen.. 168,385
Benefit PayMENTS... ..o -
Other CRANEES....cii et e eeanaes -
Ending balance of the total pension liability..........cccovveeeiiinicnnnnen... S 637,293

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending December 31.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll
Firefighters' Special Separation Allowance

June 30, 2021
2021

Total pension

1] o111 Y2 S 637,293
Covered payroll......cccceeeeeciiiieieececieeee e 1,368,060
Total pension liabilty

as a percentage of

covered pPayroll.......ccceieniiiiniieeiniee e 46.58%

Notes to the Required Schedules

The City of Mebane has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB
Statement 73 to pay related benefits.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Last Four Fiscal Years*

June 30, 2021

Total OPEB Liability 2021 2020 2019 2018
SEIVICE COSTurinuriiiiiiiiiiiiiesieesee st e steesteeesree s steessaeesbeeenreesaseas S 459,321 S 380,966 S 402,678 S 452,991
INTEIEST .o e 289,711 238,114 213,111 183,870
Changes of benefit terms.........ccccoieieiiiciieiceee e, - - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience.......... 5,490 1,302,981 8,326 (9,652)
Changes of assuMPLioNS..........ccccveiiiiiieeeciiieeeeiee e, 2,476,778 (115,846) (384,358) (663,734)
Benefit PaymMents.......ccceieciiiieeiie e (106,211) (112,112) (97,786) (74,215)
Net change in total OPEB liability.......c.cccccoeeeeiiiieeciiieeneee. 3,125,089 1,694,103 141,971 (110,740)
Total OPEB liability - beginning...........ccccooeeeiieeiieeiieciieeee. 7,870,810 6,176,707 6,034,736 6,145,476
Total OPEB liability - ending.........ccccueeveeivieeniirciie e $ 10,995,899 $ 7,870,810 $ 6,176,707 $ 6,034,736
Covered PAYroll.....cccceeiceerii et 6,848,284 6,848,284 6,100,000 6,100,000
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll......... 160.56% 114.93% 101.26% 98.93%

Notes to Schedule

Changes of assumptions: Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the discount

rate of each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period:

Fiscal Year Rate
2021 2.21%
2020 3.50%
2019 3.89%
2018 3.56%

* This schedule is intended to show information for ten years. Additional years' information will be displayed as it

becomes available.
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Major Governmental
Funds

The General Fund - This fund is used to account for
resources traditionally associated with government
which are not required legally or by sound financial
management to be accounted for in another fund.

The City Park Capital Project Fund - This fund is
used to account for the land purchase and
construction of the city park.






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Balance Sheets
General Fund

June 30, 2021 and 2020 Statement A-1
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Assets
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS........ccuecreeirieiectecee ettt ettt e eae e saeeereeneas S 13,745,250 $ 13,311,576
YT o o1 1Yo [N o= 1] o TR 1,436,696 1,057,778
B Y =101 7] o [T 82,899 94,533
ACCOUNTS FECEIVADIE. ...ttt rererrereeeeeeeeaeaeeeeeeaeeeeas 166,065 133,070
YT [T I =T o LSS 31,716 168,052
Advance t0 Other fUNAS.......coouiiiiiiiii e - -
Due from other GOVEIrNMENTS.......cc.uuiiiiie e e 2,435,035 2,025,493
TOAl @SSOES. ceeiiiiiirreeeeeeeeeereeeesesssssssssssssesessssssesseeeeeeeesesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssseeenee S 17,897,661 $ 16,790,502
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt e et e bt eebe et s ereeeteenneens S 1,052,797 §$ 974,466
DUE 10 Other GOVEINMENTS.......uiiiiiiie e et e e et e e e eae e e ennes 15,819 -
Payable from restricted @SSetS........eiviieieiiirieiee et e et 1,023,687 863,078
Total [labilities....u.cerieeeeieiiieeicce et e e e s reree e e e s eenn s e e s seennssssseeennnssnnsnenns 2,092,303 1,837,544
Deferred INfIOWS Of rESOUICES........citeuiiireiirteeirteeereeniereneereesesssneseressesssnssesenssssens 85,539 110,641
Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
YT [ To I Y <1 A SRS 31,716 168,052
Restricted for:
Stabilization by State StatUte......ccueeeviieeeie e e 3,405,872 2,422,768
Assigned:
Subsequent year's eXPeNnditUreS........ccueeecieieeiiiee e e eeeeeeeere e e e e e e e e seaeeeseeeeeas 1,950,000 1,823,718
(T T Ty P-4 V=T o USSPt 10,332,231 10,427,779
Total fund balances.......cceeeeiiiieeeccerrecc e ee s s e renn e e s s e e e nnssssseeennnnnnnns 15,719,819 14,842,317

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fuNd DalanCes........cceeieeiiieeiiiieeiiiieeierteiereeerreeierensereeasierensesennnes
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement A-2
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual
Revenues
Property taxes:
Current and Prior Years......coueuveeveeeeeveeeeeereesveesveennens S S 11,331,936 S S 10,888,946
Penalties and interest, net of discounts...................... 7,411 8,121
o] - | PSS 11,036,912 11,339,347 302,435 10,897,067
Other taxes and licenses:
Privilege liCeNSEes........ceeecviiieciei e 1,000 955 (45) 955
Unrestricted intergovernmental:
Local option sales taX.......cccccveeeeeeieecciiiiiee e e, 4,261,900 3,574,012
Telecommunications sales taX.......cccvvvvveeeveereeeeeeeennnns 74,249 74,048
Utility franchise taX......ccocceeeeeeiciiiieeec e, 1,141,022 1,138,279
Video franchise fee......cccccoiviiiiiiiieee, 62,564 61,792
Beer and WIiNe taX......uueverererurerererererererererererernnnnnn 59,850 59,570
ABC profit distribution.........ccceccvviieeiee i 153,491 148,528
TaX SNAMING. v eaaees 313,314 352,604
O e e 34,970 24,225
o] - | PSS 5,120,543 6,101,360 980,817 5,433,058
Restricted intergovernmental:
Powell Bill allocation........cccccceeveviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeens 354,268 360,334
Controlled subsStance taX.....coceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeieee e, 1,403 1,074
ABC Revenue for law enforcement...........eeeeveveverennnens 38,978 33,070
Solid waste disposal taX.......cceceveeerivreeeiiieeeeiiree e, 10,725 10,481
On-behalf of payments - fire.......coccceeeeeecciiieeee e 48,184 46,087
Federal equitable sharing.........cccccooeeevviviiccieee e, 16,443 95,470
ONE NC GraNt..cee e - 180,000
Cares fUNAiNg.......coccvveeeiciie e e 187,904 27,952
Other grants and awards.......ccccceeeecviieeeeeececciieneeee. 2,437 29,327
Fire district tax funds........ccevvveiviiieiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeieeeeeeeees 494,324 478,922
o] - | PSS 886,000 1,154,666 268,666 1,262,717
Permits and fees:
Building permits.......ccoocciiiieeiiiecccieeee e 615,935 330,523
INSPECLION fEES.....viiiiciiee et 412,766 270,001
Planning fees......coccuuiiieiiiicceeee e 104,845 117,260
Street and utility inspection fees........c.cccceeecieierenneen. 193,353 84,611
Development fees.......coccviieeiiiiccciieee e - -
Otheriiiiii 11,136 8,791
o] - | PSS 881,798 1,338,035 456,237 811,186
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement A-2
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual

Revenues (continued)
Sales and services:

Recreation department fees.........ccvevvvvveevieeeeereennnens S S 86,368 S S 79,588
SaNItation fEeS....ccoiviiiiiiiee s 493,408 467,833
Cemetery plot Sales.......ccvvevceeeeeiieeeccee e 36,750 29,000
o] =] P TR TT 570,450 616,526 46,076 576,421
Investment earnings.......cccccceceeeerireeennncceeeneeennnceenenns 20,000 52,436 32,436 148,826
Miscellaneous:
Material Sales....cooeeeeeeeeieieeeeeccc 15,140 1,768
20T o | S 69,035 71,687
Other grants and awards.......cccccceeeecvvieeeeeeeecciieneeene. 34,570 316,300
(0] 4 0 T=T S U SR SRS U U UUO PP USROS 133,139 124,380
o] - | PR 147,600 251,884 104,284 514,135
TOtal reVeNUES.....ccceueiiriieeeeeeceeererreneneeeee e e e eennaneeeeseenes 18,664,303 20,855,209 2,190,906 19,644,365
Expenditures

General government:
City Council:

Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceeeniiineenrnnn. 54,410 63,477
Other operating expenditures.........cccoceeeeeeercrnnnneenn. 18,563 18,718
TOtAl et 83,539 72,973 10,566 82,195
Administration:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceeeviiineennnnnn. 800,898 678,558
Other operating expenditures..........ccccceecvveeecveneens 160,813 171,613
Capital OULlaY...ccccvveeeeeeee e - -
TOtal e 1,158,700 961,711 196,989 850,171
Finance:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccevcveeeeiieneenns 317,970 279,101
Other operating expenditures.........cccccceeeeeeeccvnnnneenn. 212,398 211,899
Capital outlay......cceeeeeeiiciiee e, - -
TOtAl et 604,386 530,368 74,018 491,000
Information Technology:
Salaries and employee benefits.......cccccceeecriiineennnnnn. 153,763 103,025
Other operating expenditures..........ccccceecvveeecvereenns 249,513 161,790
Capital OUlaY...ccccvveeeeieee e 23,600 5,040
L] | PRSP 506,771 426,876 79,895 269,855
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement A-2
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual

Expenditures (continued)
General government:

Non-departmental:
Salaries and employee benefits.........ccoeeveeverreennennne. S S 129,300 S S 102,302
Other operating expenditures..........ccccevcveeeecvenrens 443,035 469,535
TOtAL e e e 827,336 572,335 255,001 571,837
Total general government.......ccccceeevcveeeecieeeccieee e, 3,180,732 2,564,263 616,469 2,265,058
Public safety:
Police:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceevvieinennnnnnn. 3,272,176 3,149,666
MaiNtENANCE......ueiiiiiieieie e 70,105 104,675
Other operating expenditures.........cccccceeeeeeercvrnnnennn. 508,036 498,050
Capital outlay......cceeeieiiiciiiee e, 201,311 237,097
o)1= PSSR 4,434,715 4,051,628 383,087 3,989,488
Fire:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccceevcrviennennnnnn. 2,582,303 2,446,591
MaiNtENANCE......uuiiiiieiee e 114,738 130,525
Other operating expenditures.........cccccceeeeeeercrnnnnennn. 271,156 261,170
Capital outlay......cceeeeeiiiciiiee e, - 61,219
[Le 1= PSSR 2,988,336 2,968,197 20,139 2,899,505
Total public safety.......ccoceiiiiiieeciei e, 7,423,051 7,019,825 403,226 6,888,993

Public works:
Public works:

Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevcvieeeiieneennns 742,390 685,475
MaiNtENANCE. ..ot e e 1,044,220 144,109
Other operating expenditures..........cccceevcvveercveneens 286,214 254,543
Capital OUlaY...ccccvveeeeieee e 8,420 29,427
TOtAL e 2,167,922 2,081,244 86,678 1,113,554
Public facilities:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevevieeeciineenns 261,431 311,379
Y 1T (=T o -] o[l =T PS 207,847 208,461
Other operating expenditures..........cccceecvveeecvennenns 192,633 145,522
Capital OULIaY...ccccvveeeeieee e - 193,022
TOTAl- ettt 1,041,424 661,911 379,513 858,384
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement A-2
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual
Expenditures (continued)
Sanitation:
Salaries and employee benefits.........coceevevveieernenne. S 435,920 S 427,211
MaiNtENANCE......uiiiiiieieee e 128,723 106,754
TIPPING FEES ... 493,088 424,008
Other operating expenditures..........cccceevcveeeecveeeens 96,396 107,248
Capital OUlaY....cccvveeeeeriee e - 11,227
TOTAl- ettt 1,306,759 1,154,127 152,632 1,076,448
Total public WOrKS........ceviiiiieeeiee e 4,516,105 3,897,282 618,823 3,048,386
Recreation:
Parks and recreation:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevcvieeeiieeeenns 778,229 703,227
MaiNtENANCE.....evvvieeeeeeeeece e 217,503 205,219
Other operating expenditures..........cccceeecveeercveneens 297,581 271,168
Capital OULlaY...ccccvveeeeieee e 839,027 163,443
TOtAL et e 2,730,062 2,132,340 597,722 1,343,057
Total recreation......ccccveeeeceeeecciee e 2,730,062 2,132,340 597,722 1,343,057
Economic and physical development:
Planning:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevcvieeecieneenns 235,444 230,629
MaiNtENANCE.....evviieeeeeeeeeteeee e 958 8,413
Professional Services.......cccoovvvvviiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieeeeeeeees 64,500 29,108
Downtown Revitalization Grant............cccovveeeeeeennnn. - -
Other operating expenditures..........cccceeecveeeeiveneens 65,006 47,604
Capital OULIaY...ccccvveeeeieee e - -
TOtAL it 608,712 365,908 242,804 315,754
Inspections:
Salaries and employee benefits.......ccccevevieeeciineenns 488,194 407,857
MaiNtENANCE.....cvvvieee et 1,593 2,250
Professional Services........ccccvevvvveiecieeesceeeeeeiee s - 522
Other operating expenditures.........ccoccceeeeeeeecnnnnnennn. 21,919 26,797
Capital outlay......cceeveeiiiciiieee e, 35,293 -
[Le 1= PSSR 643,704 546,999 96,705 437,426
Engineering:
City Engineer contracted services........cccccceeeeevecnnnns 60,000 107,011
Professional services stormwater.........cccvvevvvvvevennnnns 81,500 -
Professional Services.......cccocvvvvviieiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieieieeeees 289,000 370,817
TOtAL it 430,500 430,500 - 477,828
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020)

Statement A-2

Expenditures (continued)

Main Street Program:
Professional services

Economic development:
Other operating expenditures

Debt Service:

Principal Retirement
Interest and other charges

Total debt service
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in...cvevcee e
Transfers OUt......cccvveeeieeinieeniienns
Proceeds from long-term debt obligations issued

Total other financing sources (uses)

Fund balance appropriated

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - beginning

Fund balances - ending

------------------------------------------------------

2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual
S 4,688 S S -
3,985 -
33,985 8,673 25,312 -
847,092 696,446
996,800 847,092 149,708 696,446
2,713,701 2,199,172 514,529 1,927,454
1,406,526 1,239,573 166,953 1,272,748
293,137 211,159 81,978 264,189
1,699,663 1,450,732 248,931 1,536,937
22,263,314 19,263,614 2,999,700 17,009,885
(3,599,011) 1,591,595 5,190,606 2,634,480
(2,087,700) (1,144,592) 943,108 (1,183,857)
1,939,070 430,500 (1,508,570) -
(148,630) (714,092) (565,462) (1,183,857)
3,747,641 - (3,747,641) -
S - 877,503 S 877,503 1,450,623
14,842,317 13,391,694
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Balance Sheets
Capital Project Fund - City Park Project

June 30, 2021 and 2020 Statement A-3
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020
Assets
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS........cueiriiciieeece ettt ettt saes S - S 34,448
I 4 ot =Te [ ot 1 s DO PP PPN - -
TOAl @SSES. cciiiiiiiirreeeeererrereresssssssssssssssssssssssesseeeeeeeeeesesessssssssssssssssssssssssses S - S 34,448

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ...ttt ettt e b ettt S - S 34,448
DUE t0 Other FUNAS.....ooiieieeee e e e e e - -
TOtal l1abilitieS.cueuireeeiirreiireniirreiireneiereeeierenesereessereneseersssrsnssssensssssnssessnnsnns - 34,448

Fund balances:

Assigned for

City Park Capital OUtIay......ccccueieiiiieeceie e e - -
Total fuNd BalanCes......c.ceeuiiieniiiieeiiriiniiiteeirieeeereeiereeeeereneiereaserenssessanserennns - -
Total liabilities and fund balances..........cceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeercccrrrrrre e eeeeeeees S - S 34,448
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Project Fund - City Park Project
From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Statement A-4

Revenues
Investment earnings.........oooeeeveveieiciiinnnnnnnns
Parks and Recreation Trust Fund Grant........
Miscellaneous grants........ccccceeecvveeeeeeeccnnnnes

Total revenuUEs.....cceeeeeeeereeeeneeenteeeeneceeeeenenns

Expenditures
Professional Services.......ccocevvveerierneeenieennne.
Land purchase.....cccccoeeccuvieeeieeccciiieee e,
Capital outlay - buildings..........ccceeeevveeennenn.
CoNSEIUCTION. ...ciiiiiiiiieee et
Utility contstruction........ccceceveeevcveeeccieeennnen.
EQUIPMENT..cciiiiiiiriiiiein

Total expenditures..........cceeveeeeeennnnnneennnnnnnnn

Revenue over (under) expenditures.............

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for
capital improvements.........ccccceeeeeeennnnenn.
From Utility Fund for
capital improvements.........cccccceeeeeeennnnenn.
Installment purchase obligations
ISSUB.c.eveiiieeiieeie et

Total other financing sources (uses)...............

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses......................

Fund balance, July 1......cccooveeiiiiviieeeieees
Fund balance, June 30.........cccevreeucerrrrennnnnns
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Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)

102,758 145,142 S - 145,142 S 42,384
335,000 355,802 - 355,802 20,802
150,000 185,000 - 185,000 35,000
587,758 685,944 - 685,944 98,186
746,081 715,585 - 715,585 30,496

662,584 662,584 - 662,584 -
1,025,883 1,014,481 - 1,014,481 11,402
7,157,136 6,939,501 - 6,939,501 217,635
710,870 567,932 - 567,932 142,938
- 266,410 - 266,410 (266,410)
10,302,554 10,166,493 - 10,166,493 136,061
(9,714,796) (9,480,549) - (9,480,549) 234,247
3,091,326 3,082,617 - 3,082,617 (8,709)
793,470 567,932 - 567,932 (225,538)

5,830,000 5,830,000 - 5,830,000 -
9,714,796 9,480,549 - 9,480,549 (234,247)

- $ R R R $ -

$ R



Non-Major
Governmental Funds

Non-major governmental funds are those funds whose
revenues, expenditures/expenses, assets or liabilities
are less than 10% of corresponding totals for all
governmental or enterprise funds or less than 5% of the
aggregate amount for all governmental and enterprise
funds for the same item.

e The Mebane Mills Loft Community Development
Block Grant (CDBG) Special Revenue Fund - This
fund is used to account for all block grant funds
expended for the renovation of the old Dixie Yarns
Building into subsidized housing.

e (Capital Project Fund - This fund is used to account
for various General Fund capital expenditures that
are expected to be completed within one year.

e The Cates Farm Park Capital Project Fund - This
fund is used to account for the land purchase and
construction of the city park.






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2021

Statement B-1

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash......cccevcveeeeciee e,

Total @SSets....ccuirrreiriennirrennierennereennierenseeeennsenens

Liabilties and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable........cccceiiiiiiiii e,
Total liabilities

...................................................

Fund balances:
Restricted
Economic development..........cccvveeeeeeeinviennnnn.
Assigned
Capital improvements........cccocceeeevieeeecneeesnnnen.
Total fund balances.........ccccceeiiiiiiiiiiinnininiiinnnnnees

Total liabilities and fund balances......................

Special
Revenue Fund Capital Project Total
- CDBG - Capital Project Fund - Cates Nonmajor
Mebane Mills Fund - General Farm Park Governmental
Loft Fund Project Funds
S - S 632,121 S - S 632,121
127,459 - - 127,459
S 127,459 $ 632,121 S - S 759,580
S - S 65,270 S - S 65,270
- 65,270 - 65,270
127,459 - - 127,459
- 566,851 - 566,851
127,459 566,851 - 694,310
S 127,459 S 632,121 S - S 759,580
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Statement B-2

Revenues
Program reVenUE........c..ueeveeeeiiereeeneeeereeee e
Interest @arnings..........coeeeeeeeeeececccccccc
Impact Alamance grant.......ccccoeeccveeeeeeeeciiieeeeeeeens

TOtal FEVENUES....cceeueeeerrreeeneieereerenneeeereennseeeereennnnees

Expenditures
Capital outlay - other.......ccccveeciieicie e,
Capital outlay - equipment.......ccccccveeevieeeeciee e,

Total expenditures.........ccceeviiiiiiiiiinneeeennnneneeneennen.

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds.........ccccoeeciveieciee e,
Transfers to other funds.........cccceeeeeeiiieiiieciieee,
Appropriated fund balance..........cccccoeeiiieeiiiiciinne,

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)......cccccceeennnnne.

Net change in fund balances.........ccccoeeieevcciieeeeennn.
Fund balances - beginning........c..ccoccovvveeiieiiiiennnen.n.

Fund balances - ending........cccccceeiiiiiininininiceennnnnneees

Special
Revenue Capital Total
Fund - CDBG - Capital Project Fund- Nonmajor
Mebane Mills Project Fund - Cates Farm Governmental
Loft General Fund Park Project Funds
S 10,710 S - S - S 10,710
3,591 - - 3,591
14,301 - - 14,301
- 492,920 84,823 577,743
- 492,920 84,823 577,743
14,301 (492,920) (84,823) (563,442)
- 1,059,769 84,823 1,144,592
- 1,059,769 84,823 1,144,592
14,301 566,849 - 581,150
113,158 2 - 113,160
S 127,459 S§ 566,851 S - S 694,310
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Special Revenue Fund - CDBG - Mebane Mills Loft

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Statement B-3
Actual
Variance
Current Positive
Authorization Prior Years Year Total to Date (Negative)
Revenues
(01521 C USRS S 250,000 $ 250,000 $ - S 250,000 S -
Program revenue- principal receipts....... - 76,385 10,710 87,095 87,095
Program revenue- interest receipts........ - 35,095 3,216 38,311 38,311
Investment earnings......ccccccvveveveveieienennnn. - 1,678 375 2,053 2,053
Total revenues.......ceeceeereeeeeecierneeennceennennns 250,000 363,158 14,301 377,459 127,459

Expenditures

Pedestrian improvements....................... 56,700 56,700 - 56,700 -
Historic preservation........ccccceveeveeeeenennen. 145,645 145,645 - 145,645 -
Other actiVitiesS......vuveeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeieieeeeeen, 27,655 27,655 - 27,655 -
Administration......ccecvveeeeiiiiieeiee s 20,000 20,000 - 20,000 -
Total expenditures........cccceeeeeeveeeeeeeennnnnnns 250,000 250,000 - 250,000 -
Revenue over (under) expenditures......... - 113,158 14,301 127,459 127,459
Net change in fund balance...........c..coeu... S - S 113,158 14,301 S 127,459 S 127,459
Fund balance, July 1.........ccccooeiiiniinnnnnnn. 113,158
Fund balance, June 30.........ccccceeerrrrrreeeeee S 127,459
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual

Capital Project Fund - General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Statement B-4

Variance
Budget Positive.
Authorization Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual
Expenditures
Y o SRS S - S - S - S 18,090
Holt St Greenway........cccceeeeeeeviiieeee e 24,257 24,256 1 29,089
Foust Road widening.......cccceevvveeeeiieeeecnee e, 265,000 117,390 147,610 -
Bike and Ped maintenance.........cccvvvvvvvveveveeennnns - - - 6,662
3rd Street Alleyway- drainage maint................. - - - 121,575
Streets MainteNanCe........oovvvvvevveeeeeeeeeeeevrns 600,000 - 600,000 1,067,980
Sidewalk construction.......cccccvvveveveviiiiiiiiiininnn, 201,603 65,264 136,339 253,313
Public works vehicles.........cccveeeeeeieiiieiiiiiiiiinininn, 430,000 156,910 273,090 361,041
Inspections and planning building..................... 213,000 - 213,000 -
Fire vehicles.......ccccccoeiiiiiiieeeeee - - - 88,438
Capital Outlay - Lake Michael Dam.................... 350,000 129,100 220,900 -
Capital Outlay - Cates Farm Park.........cccccvveennns 2,555 - 2,555 3,500
Total expenditures........ccccerreeeenccerrieeenccenneeennnnens 2,086,415 492,920 1,593,495 1,949,688
Revenue over (under) expenditures................... (2,086,415) (492,920) (1,593,495) (1,949,688)
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for
capital improvements.........cccccceeeiieiciiiieee e, 1,406,739 1,059,769 346,970 827,566
Appropriated fund balance..........cccccevieeneeenni. 679,676 - 679,676 -
Total other financing sources (US€S)........ccceeeuvee... 2,086,415 1,059,769 1,026,646 827,566
Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses........cccccceveeeereennnnen S - 566,849 S  (566,849) (1,122,122)
Fund balance, July 1.......ccccceiioiiiiieeeeee, 2 1,122,124
Fund balance, June 30........cccccceererrrrreeeeeeeeeneennnnns S 566,851 S 2
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
Capital Project Fund - Cates Farm Park Project

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Statement B-5

Expenditures
Professional services........cccceeeeveeercveeesvennnne
Design and engineering.......ccccccoecvvveeeeeennnns
Construction administration...........ccceeuveee.n.
Construction........coeveeeeeieieccieeeee

Total expenditures..........cceeveeeeevnnnnnneeennnnnnnns

Revenue over (under) expenditures.............

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From General Fund for
capital improvements........c.ccceeeeeveeernenn.

Total other financing sources (uses)...............

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses......................

Fund balance, July 1.......ccoovveiiiiiieeeieeees
Fund balance, June 30.........cccovreeuecerrrreennnnns
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Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Total to Date (Negative)
888 § S - S - S 888
25,500 - - 25,500
18,250 - - 18,250
636,323 84,823 84,823 551,500
680,961 84,823 84,823 596,138
(680,961) (84,823) (84,823) 596,138
680,961 84,823 84,823 (596,138)
680,961 84,823 84,823 (596,138)
-3 - s - s .
$ R
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Proprietary Funds

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that
are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises, where the intent of the
government's board is that the costs of providing goods
or services to the general public on a continuing basis
be financed or recovered primarily through user
charges; or where the government's board has decided
that periodic determination of net income is
appropriate for accountability purposes.

e Water and Sewer Fund - This fund is used to
account for the operations of the City’s water and
sewer system.

e System Development Capital Reserve Fund - This
fund is specifically dedicated to setting aside
financial resources for long term or large-scale
capital projects for the proprietary fund. Revenue
generated from system development fees are used
as a funding source.

e Utility - Capital Project Fund - This fund is used to
account for various Utility capital expenditures that
are expected to be completed within one year.

e WRRF Renovation - Capital Project Fund - This
fund is used to account for the construction upgrade
of the City’s water resource recovery facility.

¢ WRREF 0.5 MGD Expansion - Capital Project Fund
- This fund is used to account for the construction
expansion of the City’s water resource recovery
facility.






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Comparative Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2021 and 2020 Statement C-1
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and EQUIVAIENTS........c.viiviiieieeeceeee ettt ettt ettt et ere et re s S 7,511,270 $ 7,586,901
(Y o T £ =]o [ o= 1] o TR 3,136,703 1,573,791
Accounts Receivable, net - billed........oeevvviviiiiiiiiiii 657,559 543,920
Accounts Receivable, net - Unbilled.......cooooeeeerreeere e 320,655 288,958
Other reCRIVADIES. ... bbb eeeeeeeeees 6,419 2,855
Due from other GOVEINMENTS.......cciciiie it eeae e e saaee s - -
YT 1o I =T o LSRR - -

B o] = oS T £=T 0 o Y=L £ T RUOPRPRPOPRNY 11,632,606 9,996,425

Non-current assets:
Capital assets:

Land and other non-depreciable assets.........cccceeiieiciiiiiieee e 1,122,119 877,922
Other capital assets, net of depreciation.........cccoveeeieeicciiiiee e 53,865,126 51,843,353
Total CAPItal @SSELS...ccuriiiiciie e it et e e et e et e e e e sraeeeas 54,987,245 52,721,275
TOTAl NON-CUIMENT @SSEES. . uuuururrrrirriiirierererererereeeeeeerrrerererrrrrrrrrrtetereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesesenens 54,987,245 52,721,275
TOtAl @SSOLS...ctuuuirrreirtenirrreirrenereresertesssreseserenssssenssessassssasssssenssssanssesensssssnssssanee 66,619,851 62,717,700
Deferred oUtflOWS Of F@SOUICES.....ccieuiiireieieniirteeieieniereneiereenerensseerenerennsessnnnns 971,957 692,831
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources.........ccccceeiiiiiiiinirrrneeeeeeecnssnsnnn. S 67,591,808 $ 63,410,531
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities..........cocvveeieieeieeieieeceee e S 323,697 S 583,206
Accrued interest Payable.. ... 36,135 40,063
DUE tO Other GOVEINMENTS....c..vvieeciie et et e e e e erre e e saae e e e nareeeeaes 262,325 -
Payable from restricted assetsS.......ccccuiiiiiiiiiiiiieiee e 671,341 602,881
CompPensated @DSENCES. .....c.uuii ittt e sree s 66,299 68,558
Long-term debt - CUITENT......ccviee e et e e 767,542 758,542
Total cUrreNnt llabilitieS....uuuueieieiieiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeee e 2,127,339 2,053,250
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated @DSENCES........uii et 12,690 7,518
Net Pension [ability.......c.eeeeiioi e 542,215 405,087
Other postemployment benefits........cocciieiiiiieciie e 1,494,607 1,061,570
Long-term debt - NONCUITENT......cviv i 5,957,950 6,725,492
Total noncurrent liabilities. ... 8,007,462 8,199,667
Total liabilities.....ccceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccereeeeen s sesese s e s e s s e e s e e e esessnnnnnssssssssssnns 10,134,801 10,252,917
Deferred INfIOWS Of r@SOUICES........ciieeiiiieirienirieeirtenireneseerenerennserensessessseseansens 94,556 111,730
Net Position
Net investment in capital @SSeTS.....ciuiiiiiciiiiiciie e e 48,261,754 45,237,242
Restricted for future system development........cccoeciiieeeiiiecciiieeee e 2,465,362 970,910
1Y T o Lot =T ISP 6,635,335 6,837,732
Total Net POSItION......ccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiirirrrrerrreeeeeeee s ssss s s s s s e e e s s s s s s e e sessssnnnnnssnnns: 57,362,451 53,045,884
Total liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and net position...................... S 67,591,808 $ 63,410,531

Page 81



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds - By Subfund

June 30, 2021 Statement C-2
System WRRF
Development Capital Renovation
Operating Capital Project Fund -  Capital
Fund Reserve Fund Utility Project Fund Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and equivalents.........ccccoeevevvveveeieeenneenne. S 6,705,454 S - S 708,576 $§ 97,240 $§ 7,511,270
Restricted cash......ccceeceeeeviieeccie e 671,341 2,465,362 - - 3,136,703
Accounts receivable, net - billed..................... 657,559 - - - 657,559
Accounts receivable, net - unbilled................. 320,655 - - - 320,655
Other receivables...........cccccvvviiiiiiiciiiiiiinnnne 6,419 - - - 6,419
Due from other governments..........ccceeevuvenne - - - - -
Prepaid items.......ccccuveeeieeiiieee e - - - - -
Non-capital eliminations...........ccccceeeeeieinnneeen. 510,821 - (510,821) - -
Total current assets......ccceveevceveeeecveeeeceee e 8,872,249 2,465,362 197,755 97,240 11,632,606
Non-current assets:
Capital assets:
Land and other non-depreciable assets........ 1,122,119 - - - 1,122,119
Other capital assets, net of depreciation...... 53,865,126 - - - 53,865,126
Total capital assets.......cocccvvvieeeieicciiieeeeees 54,987,245 - - - 54,987,245
Total NON-CUIreNt aSSetS.....uuvvvvrrrvereeieieieierereees 54,987,245 - - - 54,987,245
Total assets.....cccceerreieeeieeeeeeeeennnnnnnesseseeeeeennns 63,859,494 2,465,362 197,755 97,240 66,619,851
Deferred outflows of resources.......cccceereunnenee 971,957 - - - 971,957
Total assets and deferred outflows
Of FE@SOUICES...cceeiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeenneeneeeensssssnes S 64,831,451 $ 2,465,362 S 197,755 § 97,240 S 67,591,808
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities........ S 254,172 S - S - S 69,525 S 323,697
Accrued interest payable.........cccoveeeeeeennnnn.. 36,135 - - - 36,135
Due to other governments............cccceeeuvvrenneee. 262,325 - - - 262,325
Payable from restricted assets.........ccccuveeenne. 671,341 - - - 671,341
Compensated absences.........ccccecevvenercennnns 66,299 - - - 66,299
Long-term debt - current........cccceevcveeeecieeenns 767,542 - - - 767,542
Total current liabilities.........ccccoeeeivieeeieeinneen. 2,057,814 - - 69,525 2,127,339
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences..........ccecveeeeceveeenenenn. 12,690 - - - 12,690
Net pension liability.......ccccceeeiieiiieeeiceee, 542,215 - - - 542,215
Other postemployment benefits..................... 1,494,607 - - - 1,494,607
Long-term debt - noncurrent.........cccccvevenneen. 5,957,950 - - - 5,957,950
Total noncurrent liabilities........ccccccveveiiiiinnnnn. 8,007,462 - - - 8,007,462
Total liabilities.......ccccceeiiiiiiiiiiiniineeeeeeeeeennnnnnnn 10,065,276 - - 69,525 10,134,801
Deferred inflows of resources.........cccceervennenne 94,556 - - - 94,556
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets.........cccuueu... 48,261,754 - - - 48,261,754
Restricted for future system development..... - 2,465,362 - - 2,465,362
Unrestricted ......ccovveeeeiiiiieee e 6,409,865 - 197,755 27,715 6,635,335
Total net position........ccccceeiiiinniinininieeeeennnnneee. 54,671,619 2,465,362 197,755 27,715 57,362,451
Total liabilities, deferred outflows
of resources, and net position.........ccccue..... S 64,831,451 S 2,465,362 S 197,755 S 97,240 S 67,591,808
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds - By Subfund

June 30, 2021 Statement C-3

System WRRF

Development Capital Renovation
Operating Capital Project Fund -  Capital
Fund Reserve Fund Utility Project Fund Eliminations Total
Operating Revenues

Charges for services........cccoovevveeveeneenne. S 6,839,089 $ - S - S - S - S 6,839,089
Water and sewer taps........ccceceuvveeeennn. 37,002 - - - - 37,002
Connection fees.......ccoevvvvveeeeeeveeeeeenne 154,900 1,527,703 - - - 1,682,603
Miscellaneous........ccevvveveveveiiiiiiiiiiinnnnnn, 594,037 - - - - 594,037
Total operating revenues..................... 7,625,028 1,527,703 - - - 9,152,731

Operating Expenses

Administration, meters and billing....... 900,260 - - - - 900,260
Utility maintenance........cccceeeeveeevveenne 2,632,207 - - - - 2,632,207
ENgIiNEering.......ccocvvvvvvvevereieieeeieeeieeeeenn, 260,000 - - - - 260,000
Water resource recovery facility.......... 2,151,072 - - - - 2,151,072
Non-departmental.........cccccceeeennnnnen.n. - - - - - -
Depreciation.......cccccvvvvvvvviveiivininieienennns 1,626,168 - - - - 1,626,168
Total operating expenses..........ccceeunueee 7,569,707 - - - - 7,569,707
Operating income (l0sS)......cccceeveeeeennnee 55,321 1,527,703 - - - 1,583,024

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Interest and investment revenue......... 23,478 4,595 - - - 28,073
(014 1 1=1 (97,543) - - - - (97,543)
Interest eXPEeNnSe.......cceevveeeeeeeeeeciveeennnns (87,254) - - - - (87,254)

Amortization of bonds..........cccovvveeeenn. - - - - - -

Total nonoperating
revenues (eXpenses)......ccccceeeeeneeennnnens (161,319) 4,595 - - - (156,724)

Income (loss) before

contributions and transfers.................. (105,998) 1,532,298 - - - 1,426,300
Capital contributions...........cccceeeeennnneen. 2,890,267 - - - - 2,890,267
Expense transfer from projects.............. 904,279 - (487,846) (416,433) - -
Transfers iN....ooceeecceeeecee e, - - 487,846 - (487,846) -
Transfers out.......ccoeecveieeiiee e, (450,000) (37,846) - - 487,846 -
Change in net position.........cccececveeenis 3,238,548 1,494,452 - (416,433) - 4,316,567
Total net position - beginning................ 51,433,071 970,910 197,755 444,148 - 53,045,884
Total net position - ending................... S 54,671,619 $§ 2,465,362 S 197,755 § 27,715 S - S 57,362,451
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual

Water and Sewer Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement C-4
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual
Revenues
Charges for services:
Water SAleS. ..ot S 3,355,092 S 2,987,707
SeWer Charges......ccouveeeeciiee e 3,436,667 3,094,179
Water and sewer taps......cccccveevvveeeenciveeesscnnennn. 37,002 12,400
TOtAl e 5,933,600 6,828,761 895,161 6,094,286
Other operating revenues:
Other operating revenues..........cccceveevcvveeeeennnen. 748,941 610,285
TOtAl e 690,034 748,941 58,907 610,285
Other nonoperating revenues:
(0] 1 1= SRS (97,543) 16,655
Interest and investment earnings..........cccou..... 23,478 79,501
TOtAl e 49,000 (74,065) (123,065) 96,156
Total revenuUES.........ceuereeiieeiieeiereiereeereeceeneenenes 6,672,634 7,503,637 831,003 6,800,727
Expenditures
Administration, meters and billing:
Salaries and employee benefits..........cc.ue..... 707,312 673,566
SUPPHIES. ..ttt 24,946 23,621
Other operating expenditures.........ccccccevveeennns 157,221 134,557
TOtal et 1,046,159 889,479 156,680 831,744
Utility maintenance:
Salaries and employee benefits..........cc.uee..... 951,134 883,543
Chemicals......coooviiveeeiiee e 90,678 95,100
SUPPIIES. ettt 114,169 110,486
MaiNtENANCE.....vvveetiecccceeeeeeee e 166,120 195,843
Purchases of Water ........ccccevvvvvvvveeeieee i, 839,426 780,621
Highway 119 project expenses..........ccccuveeennes - -
Other operating expenditures.........ccccccevveeenns 318,816 311,473
TOtal et 2,890,602 2,480,343 410,259 2,377,066
Engineering:
City Engineer contracted services.................... 84,000 38,267
Other operating expenditures.........cccccccvveeennns 176,000 208,298
TOtAl e et 300,000 260,000 40,000 246,565
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement C-4
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual

Expenditures (continued)
Water resource recovery facility:

Salaries and employee benefits.........c.cveu..n.. S 697,614 S 690,736
Chemicals......coooviiveeeeiee e 99,026 82,754
SUPPHES. ..ttt 35,026 36,813
MaiNtENANCE....ovvvvvriiccceeeeeeee e, 481,343 460,814
Other operating expenditures.........cccccccvveeennns 236,084 245,428
TOtal et 1,905,333 1,549,093 356,240 1,516,545
Non-departmental:
Other operating expenditures.........ccccceeuveeeenns - 11,111
TOtAleeeieeeeit e 61,980 - 61,980 11,111

Debt Service:

Principal Retirement...........ccoceveeiiieeeeccieeeeeeine 945,543 758,542 187,001 751,542
Interest and other charges........cccccevecvveeevnneenn. 203,383 91,182 112,201 103,843
1o ] =] PO 1,148,926 849,724 299,202 855,385

Capital outlay:

Miscellaneous water........ccccueeeeeeeeiiiiiiiivneeineenns 763,401 423,017 340,384 709,605
Miscellaneous SEWEer........ceeveeeeeeeeiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeennn. 275,052 162,421 112,631 106,391
TOtAleeieieie e 1,038,453 585,438 453,015 815,996
Total expenditures........ccccceveeeeiiiniiinnneennesiicinnnnnn 8,391,453 6,614,077 1,777,376 6,654,412
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over eXpenditures.........ccceeveeeeeenennnneeeeeeeeeeennnnns (1,718,819) 889,560 2,608,379 146,315

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers iN......ioceee e - - - -

TranNSTers OUt...uuueeeiiieeeiiiieiiieieeeeeee e eeeenvee s (2,375,000) (450,000) 925,000 -
Total other financing sources (uses).................... (1,375,000) (450,000) 925,000 -
Fund balance appropriated........c.cccceeevverieeeiveene 3,093,819 - (3,093,819) -

Revenues and other sources over
expenditures and other uses..........ccceeeeereerneenn. S - S 439,560 S 439,560 S 146,315
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Water and Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement C-4
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual

Reconciliation from budgetary basis
(modified accrual) to full accrual:

Revenues and other sources over

expenditures and other uses........cccceeveeeerreeennne S 439,560 S 146,315
Reconciling items:

Principal retirement..........ccocveeeiiieeiccieee e, 758,542 751,542
Capital outlays......ccceeeeviieeiicieeeccee e 585,438 815,996
Increase (decrease) in receivable allowance....... 15,632 (7,881)
Increase (decrease) in unbilled receivables......... 31,696 45,411
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest

payable......ccccoiiiiice e, 3,928 3,637
(Increase) decrease in vacation pay (2,915) (7,522)
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows

of resources - PeNSIONS.......ccuveeeeecveeeeeecivieeeeennns (12,721) (508)
(Increase) decrease in net pension liability.......... (137,128) (72,708)
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows

of resources - PeNSIONS.......cueeeeeecvveeeeecveeeeeennns - 1,369
Increase (decrease) in deferred outflows

of resources - OPEB.......covvviiiiiiiiciiiiieeeeeeeeceeenen 291,847 167,727
(Increase) decrease in deferred inflows

of resources - OPEB.......covveiiiiiiiiciiieeeeeeeecceeenen 17,174 1,157
(Increase) decrease in OPEB liability (433,037) (242,031)
Depreciation.......ccueeeeccieee e (1,626,168) (1,551,766)
Amortization of deferred loss

on refunding......cccccveeiicieiiccee e, - -

Capital contributions.........ccccceeeeeciiiiicccieee e 2,890,267 5,400,880
Interest income from Water and Sewer

Capital Project Funds..........ccccoveeeeeiiieeccciieenn. 4,595 9,701
Capital asset transfers from

Other fuNdS......eeeviiiiiiiiiiieeeee e - 1,394
Restricted income from System Development

Capital Reserve Fund..........ccccceeecviveeeniienecennns 1,527,703 902,521
Net Transfers to (from) Capital Project funds...... (37,846) (510,821)
Total reconciling items........cccceevevieieivciieeecnnee 3,877,007 5,708,098
Change in net position........cccceeeeeeeevreeeeecreeneenne S 4,316,567 S 5,854,413
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
System Development Capital Reserve Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement C-5
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual
Revenues
Charges for services:
System Development Fees- Water...................... S S 392,211 S S 238,192
System Development Fees- Sewer...................... 1,135,492 664,329
TOtAl e 650,000 1,527,703 877,703 902,521
Other nonoperating revenues:
Interest and investment earnings..................... 4,595 9,701
o] - | OSSR 2,500 4,595 2,095 9,701
Total revVeNnUES.....cceeeecerreeeeeccerreeeenceeereennnseeeneeens 652,500 1,532,298 879,798 912,222

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures........ccccceeeiiiiiieeeeennneneeennssnnnes 652,500 1,532,298 879,798 912,222

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Utility Capital ReServe.......ccccevcveeevveeeecvee e, (477,500) - 477,500 -
Transfers to other funds:
Utility Capital Project Fund..........cccccveeeuvennnne. (175,000) (37,846) 137,154 (527,920)
Appropriated fund balance..........cccceeevvveeciennns - - - -
Total other financing sources (uses)................... (652,500) (37,846) 614,654 (527,920)

Revenues and other sources over
expenditures and other uses........ccccceveeeeeeernnes S - S 1,494,452 S 1,494,452 S 384,302
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget to Actual
Capital Project Fund - Utility

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020) Statement C-6
2021
Variance
Positive
Budget Actual (Negative) 2020 Actual
Expenditures
OVersizing SEWEr liNeS........ccveveereeeieieereeereeenens S S - S S 695,399
Meter changeout project........cccceecveeeecveeervenenne 487,846 510,821
Arbor Creek outfall.........cccoeeviiiiiiiiiieeeee, - -
WRRF floodwall........cccooeiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeieeeee, - -
Total expenditures........cccceeeeiiiiiiieeeceeeeeneneeeeennnns 859,601 487,846 371,755 1,206,220

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures........ccccviiiiiiiinieeeennnneseneennnnes (859,601) (487,846) 371,755 (1,206,220)

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in (out):
From Water and Sewer Fund for

utility capital improvements........ccccceecuvveeeenn. 450,000 450,000 - -
From Utility Capital Reserve Fund
for utility capital improvements...................... 175,000 37,846 (137,154) 527,920

To Water and Sewer Fund
for current expenditures.........ccoccevveeeeiiicnnnens - - - -
Appropriated fund balance...............cccceeeennenn. 234,601 - (234,601) -

Total other financing sources (uses)................... 859,601 487,846 (371,755) 527,920

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses.........cccceeeeeeeeeennne. S - S - S - S (678,300)
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

WRRF Renovation Capital Project Fund

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Statement C-7

Actual

Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Totalto Date (Negative)

Expenditures

Professional Services.....coeveveveveeeveveverenn. S 200,000 S - S - S - S 200,000
Design and engineering.........ccccceceeuveeenn. 530,000 138,852 416,433 555,285 (25,285)
Construction administration................... 530,000 - - - 530,000
CoNnStruCtioN.....ccovveevviiiiieeeeeeeeeeevieeee s 6,084,176 - - - 6,084,176
ContingencCy.....oooeeeeeeeeeeeececccces - - - - -
Total expenditures........cccceeeriieiiiiiiiinnnnes 7,344,176 138,852 416,433 555,285 6,788,891
Revenue over (under) expenditures....... (7,344,176) (138,852) (416,433) (555,285) 6,788,891

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for

utility capital improvements............... 583,000 583,000 - 583,000 -
Installment purchase obligations
[ UT=To PO 6,761,176 - - - 6,761,176
Total other financing sources (uses)......... 7,344,176 583,000 - 583,000 6,761,176
Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses................ S - S 444,148 S (416,433) S 27,715 S 13,550,067
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

WRRF 0.5 MGD Expansion Capital Project Fund

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Statement C-8

Actual

Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Totalto Date (Negative)

Expenditures

Design and engineering...........cceeeveeveenn.. S 900,000 $ - S - S - S 900,000
ContingencCy......ooeeeeeeeeieiecee 25,000 - - - 25,000
Total expenditures........cccerveeennieerreennnnnns 925,000 - - - 925,000
Revenue over (under) expenditures....... (925,000) - - - 925,000

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Operating transfers in:
From Water and Sewer Fund for
utility capital improvements............... 925,000 - - - (925,000)
Total other financing sources (uses)......... 925,000 - - - (925,000)

Revenues and other sources over (under)

expenditures and other uses................ S - S - S - S - $ -
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)
Special Revenue Fund - ARPA

From Inception and For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 Statement C-9
Actual
Variance
Positive
Authorization Prior Years Current Year Totalto Date (Negative)
Revenues
ARPA Grant Proceeds.......ccocueeeeeeeeeennnn.. S 2,380,000 S - S - S - S 2,380,000
Total revenues........ccooveeericnvuneeerisnnennnn. 2,380,000 - - - 2,380,000

Expenditures

Capital outlay - other........cccccceeeeennnneee.e. 2,380,000 - - - 2,380,000
Total expenditures........cccceeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnns 2,380,000 - - - 2,380,000
Revenue over (under) expenditures....... - - - - -

Revenues over (under)
expenditures and other uses................ S - S - S - S - S -
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Additional
Financial Data

This section contains additional information on property
taxes and interfund transfers.

e Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable
e Analysis of Current Tax Levy

e Schedule of Ten Largest Taxpayers






City of Mebane, North Carolina
Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

June 30, 2021 Schedule D-1
Uncollected Uncollected
Balance_ Collections Balance
Fiscal Year 6/30/2020  Additions and Credits 6/30/2021
2020-2021....c ittt et st e s sa e e s S - $ 11,273,675 §$11,233,082 S 40,593
2019-2020....cccteererrrerie e eeenereessee e esr e e s assaeen e s 36,720 - 23,366 13,354
2018-2019... ettt st e e s 32,228 - 19,380 12,848
2017-2018....c ettt s st s sr e s 3,922 - 939 2,983
2006-2017 . e e e e e eaees 3,422 - 1,142 2,280
2015-2016....cuuuuiiiiiiiiniriiiiirirrrrrrrrereee e e e e e e e e eeeeees 5,073 - 452 4,621
2014-2015.... e e e eeees 3,628 - (656) 4,284
2013-2014.... e e 5,058 - 554 4,504
2012-2013... e e e e e eeees 5,811 - 719 5,092
20070-2012..c e e e e e eeees 4,733 - 578 4,155
2000-201 1. e e e e e e e e eeees 6,604 - 6,604 -
S 107,199 §$ 11,273,675 S 11,286,160 94,714
Less: Allowance for uncollectible accounts (General FUNd)........cccccvvveecieiiiiiee e 11,815
Ad valorem taxes reCeivable - NET......ccccciiieeieieiirieeiirieeiereneietenertsesietesserssssssrsssessssssssanssssssssssanses S 82,899

Reconciliation with revenues:

Ad valorem taxes - GENEIal FUNG.......uuviiiiieiiiiiiieeeeeee ettt ettt e s e s e s s S 11,339,347
Add (subtract):
Penalties and interest, Net Of diSCOUNTS........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee e e (7,411)
Amount written off for tax year 2010-2011........c.ueeeiiiieeeeeie e ciee et e eere e eerre e e sere e e e ere e e snae e e sreeeees 6,604
Refunds and other adjuStMENTS........coocuiii i e e st eente e e e e enneas (52,380)
Total collections AN CreditS.......ciiieeiiieeiiieeirieniereeeiereeeieressseressseressessssssessssssssssssssassssssssssssssssane: S 11,286,160

Page 93



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Analysis of Current Tax Levy
City - Wide Levy

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 Schedule D-2
City - Wide Total Levy
Property
Excluding
Registered Registered
Total Property Amount of Motor. Motor_
Valuation Rate Levy Vehicles Vehicles
Tax levy:
Real Property .....eeeeveveeeveeeecieesieeeeeneen $1,754,545,319 0.47 S 8,246,363 S 8,246,363 S -
Personal property .....ccccceeeeviveeeeeeecnneennn. 602,823,617 0.47 2,833,271 1,992,136 841,135
Public service companies........ccceccveerunenn. 19,101,702 0.47 89,778 89,778 -
SUDLOLalS....eieeieeieecie e 2,376,470,638 11,169,412 10,328,277 841,135
Less: Homestead exemptions.................. (243,617) 0.47 (1,145) (1,145) -
Lo 1 - | £SO $ 2,376,227,021 11,168,267 10,327,132 841,135
Advertising, interest cost and
late filing fees...cccvvveiiniiiieeeieeee 13,294 13,294 -
GrosS leVY...coocuiiiieee et 11,181,561 10,340,426 841,135
Release and adjustments........cccccveeeneen. 92,114 92,114 -
Net leVY....ooccieeeeeeeeeee e, 11,273,675 10,432,540 841,135
Uncollected taxes
atJune 30, 2021...cceeeviieiieeiee e 40,593 33,158 7,435
Current year taxes collected.................. $11,233,082 $ 10,399,382 $§ 833,700
Current levy collection percentage........ 99.64% 99.68% 99.12%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Analysis of Current Tax Levy

City - Wide Levy

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 Schedule D-3

Secondary Market Disclosures:
Assessed Valuation:

Assessment Ratio (NOTE 1)....ccuiieecieiiiiieeeeiee e 100%
Current Year Rate Prior Year Rate
REAI PrOPEItY....viieeecteeti ettt ettt ete ettt et e eaeereesteeaeeanens S 1,754,545,319 S -
Personal Property......ueeee ittt 598,571,702 4,251,915
Public service companies (NOte 2).......cccceeeeiiieeciieeeciieeeeieeeeaas 19,101,702 -
Total Assessed Valuation......ccccccueverurerrveirieeeeeeeeeinieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenns 2,372,218,723 4,251,915
Tax Rate Per S100.......cocvuiieiiieieeeieeeecte ettt eaeens 0.47 0.47
11,149,428 19,984
LEVY vttt et et e et e e e et et ee et e et e en e et e e eeeaenns $ 11,169,412

Note 1: Percentage of appraised value has been established by statute.
Note 2: Valuation of railroads, telephone companies and other utilities
as determined by the North Carolina Property Tax Commission.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Ten Largest Taxpayers
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 Schedule D-4
Percentage
of Total
Assessed Assessed
Name Type of Enterprise Valuation Tax Levy  Valuation
GKN Automotive
ComMpPoNeNtS......euvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeerereenns Auto Components Manufacturing............. $103,007,774 S 484,137 4.33%
Wal-Mart......coooeeveieeeeiee e, Retail.eeeeeciiieeee e 96,268,596 S 452,462 4.05%
Liggett Group - One Hundred
Maple, LLC....ceeereeeeiee e, Tobacco Manufacturing........ccccceeeveeennenn. 72,599,434 $ 341,217 3.06%
Nypro, Inc. (a Jabil Company)........ Plastics Manufacturing...........cccceeecvveeennnenn. 48,851,275 $ 229,601 2.06%
Lotus Bakeries US LLC.................... Natural Snack Product Manufacturing....... 44,471,513 $ 209,016 1.87%
Tanger Properties LMTD Partner... Retail......cccccoceeeeviiieieiir e 43,885,868 S 206,264 1.85%
Keystone at Mebane Oaks, LLC...... Apartment CompleX......cceeuveeevreeeesieeenns 36,387,530 $ 171,021 1.53%
Cambro Manufacturing Co............ Restaurant Supplier........cccoeceveiiieeeecieeens 35,350,022 $§ 166,145 1.49%
Morinaga America Foods, Inc........ Japanese confectionery........ccccceeeveeernnenn. 31,928,071 $ 150,062 1.34%
Sandvik, INC...uvveeeeeeeiciieeeeeeeeinneen. Metal CUtting.....ccovcveeerieeeeeee e, 27,588,164 S 129,664 1.16%
$ 540,338,247 $ 2,539,589 22.74%
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Statistical Section

This part of the City of Mebane’s comprehensive annual
financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the
financial statements, note disclosures, and required
supplementary information say about the government’s
overall financial health.

e Financial Trends - These schedules contain trend
information to help the reader understand how the
government’s financial performance and well-being have
changed over time.

e Revenue Capacity - These schedules contain
information to help the reader assess the government’s
most significant local revenue source, the property tax.

e Debt Capacity - These schedules present information to
help the reader assess the affordability of the
government’s current levels of outstanding debt and the
government’s ability to issue additional debt in the
future.

e Demographic and Economic Information - These
schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to
help the reader understand the environment within
which the government’s financial activities take place.

e Operating Information - These schedules contain
service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the government’s
financial report relates to the services the government
provides and the activities it performs.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these
schedules is derived from the comprehensive annual financial
report for the relevant year.



City of Mebane, North Carolina
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 1
(Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Governmental activities 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Net investment in capital @ssets..........ccoeveveeerveerennene $ 26,347,904 S 28,863,807 S 33,039,857 S 32,011,821 S 34,801,671
RESLIICEEA. .. i 497,614 755,213 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616
UNrestricted......oooceeeecieeceee et 9,863,083 10,432,825 6,195,064 5,185,319 7,502,406
Total governmental activities net position................ $ 36,708,601 S 40,051,845 S 41,829,162 S 42,422,887 S 44,893,693
Business-type activities
Net investment in capital @ssets.........cccoeveeeeiveerennene $ 25,760,951 $ 29,700,671 S 31,622,606 S 33,155,614 S 34,178,396
[0S 1 T (=T S - - - - -
Unrestricted... 10,903,051 8,348,062 6,415,219 5,635,431 7,589,047
Total business-type activities net position................. $ 36,664,002 S 38,048,733 $ 38,037,825 S 38,791,045 S 41,767,443
Primary government
Net investment in capital @ssets..........ccoeveeeeireerennene $ 52,108,855 S 58,564,478 S 64,662,463 S 65,167,435 S 68,980,067
Restricted.......coovveeecieeeiieeeee, 497,614 755,213 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616
Unrestricted 20,766,134 18,780,887 12,610,283 10,820,750 15,091,453
Total primary government activities net position...... $ 73,372,603 S 78,100,578 S 79,866,987 S 81,213,932 S 86,661,136

Governmental Activities - Net Assets by Component
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 1
(Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Governmental activities 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Net investment in capital assets..........cccceeervevvereenenn $ 30,319,096 S 40,610,954 S 44,539,110 $ 48,932,506 $ 53,020,166
RESLIICLEA. .. evie e 2,615,433 2,757,579 2,844,468 2,535,935 3,005,430
UNrestricted......ooocveeeciee e 14,338,635 6,147,464 6,328,882 5,788,509 4,859,788
Total governmental activities net position............... $ 47,273,164 $ 49,515,997 53,712,460 $ 57,256,950 $ 60,885,384
Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets.........cccceeervevereennn $ 34,527,281 S 38,122,626 38,984,945 S 45,237,242 $§ 48,261,754
RESLIICLEA. .. i - - 586,608 970,910 2,465,362
Unrestricted... . 8,948,578 8,413,024 7,619,918 6,837,732 6,635,335
Total business-type activities net position............... S 43,475,859 S 46,535,650 47,191,471 S 53,045,884 S 57,362,451
Primary government
Net investment in capital assets..........cccceevevvevverenens S 64,846,377 S 78,733,580 83,524,055 $ 94,169,748 $ 101,281,920
Restricted.......coovveeecieeeieeeeee, 2,615,433 2,757,579 3,431,076 3,506,845 5,470,792
Unrestricted 23,287,213 14,560,488 13,948,800 12,626,241 11,495,123
Total primary government activities net position..... $ 90,749,023 $ 96,051,647 100,903,931 $ 110,302,834 $ 118,247,835

Notes:

(1) 2020 includes a prior period restatement of $427,347; 2018 includes a prior period restatement of $2,337,035;
2017 includes a prior period restatement of $15,099; 2016 includes a prior period restatement of $545,860;

2015 includes a prior period restatement of $(531,756).

Business-type Activities - Net Assets by Component
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Table 2

(Page 1 of 2)

Expenses
Governmental activities:
General GOVErNMENt... ..o
Public safety...
Public works...
Cultural and recreation
Economic and physical development.
Interest on lonNg-term debt.........cceciviririrenneninrner et

Total governmental activities exper

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Business-type activities:
Water and SEWET.......c.civiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e
Total Business-type activitie:

Total primary government expense:

Program revenues

Governmental activities:
Charges for services:

General government..
Public safety.

Public works.....
Cultural and recreation.
Economic and physical developmen
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and coNtribUtiONS. ......c..coveiiirinineciiiererereseeeees

Total governmental activities program revenue
Business-type activities:
Charges for services
Capital grants and contributions...

Total business-type activities program revenue

Total primary government program revenue

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental activities...
Business-type activities....

Total primary government net exp

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities:

Property taxes, levied for general purpose..
Other taxes
Grants and contributions not restricted
to specific programs.
Unrestricted investment earning
Miscellaneous..........ccoevvvuvureiiuennnne
Special item: Conveyance of land for economic development.
Transfers

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:
Unrestricted investment earnings...
Miscellaneous
TEANSTEIS. ..ttt

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Change in Net Position

Governmental CtIVITIES. ..o eirriirecrce et
BUSINESS-tYPE @CHIVILIES. .. eeiueieitieieeiiere et

Change in primary government net position

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
1,854,901 $ 2,143,420 $ 2,133,862 $ 2,130,084 $ 2,058,889
4,107,505 4,571,950 4,400,496 4,929,504 5,521,196
2,802,874 2,879,581 3,887,001 3,848,791 4,169,363
1,167,086 1,224,727 1,179,235 1,163,723 1,288,321
402,748 207,551 1,137,040 584,532 1,415,831
150,948 132,923 151,011 178,086 156,676
10,486,062 11,160,152 12,888,645 12,834,720 14,610,276
3,913,101 3,901,404 4,493,195 4,288,957 4,926,465
3,913,101 3,901,404 4,493,195 4,288,957 4,926,465
14,399,163 15,061,556 17,381,840 17,123,677 19,536,741

58,255 58,381 60,900 45,470 213,347
104,563 130,897 12,986 13,964 13,905
318,717 316,398 355,012 338,920 420,613
75,649 74,518 75,170 77,245 85,535

- - 222,071 287,110 374,248
338,677 397,732 667,594 498,060 448,823
858,449 2,013,681 912,272 2,157,849 972,045

1,754,310 2,991,607 2,306,005 3,418,618 2,528,516
4,322,571 4,732,814 5,041,627 5,316,218 7,399,492
284,300 1,051,250 203,400 196,230 1,376,780
4,606,871 5,784,064 5,245,027 5,512,448 8,776,272
6,361,181 8,775,671 7,551,032 8,931,066 11,304,788
(8,731,752) (8,168,545) (10,582,640) (9,416,102) (12,081,760)
693,770 1,882,660 751,832 1,223,491 3,849,807
(8,037,982) (6,285,885) (9,830,808) (8,192,611) (8,231,953)
7,376,275 7,640,328 8,054,225 8,572,861 8,859,077
2,973,118 3,297,348 3,519,938 4,105,041 4,188,891

3,045 4,000 7,000 4,500 12,509
14,422 11,943 2,096 4,083 6,399
10,293 40,670 (7,678) 60,600 41,404

_ _ - (2,691,591) -

(1,650,000) 517,500 784,376 393,092 965,000
8,727,153 11,511,789 12,359,957 10,448,586 14,073,280
31,212 9,706 5,801 259 2,244

1,760 9,865 15,835 15,559 22,773

1,650,000 (517,500) (784,376) (393,092) (965,000)
1,682,972 (497,929) (762,740) (377,274) (939,983)
10,410,125 11,013,860 11,597,217 10,071,312 13,133,297

(4,599) 3,343,244 1,777,317 1,032,484 1,991,520

2,376,742 1,384,731 (10,908) 846,217 2,909,824

2,372,143 $ 4,727,975 $ 1,766,409 $ 1,878,701 $ 4,901,344
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Table 2

(Page 2 of 2)

Expenses
Governmental activities:
General GOVErNMENt... ..o
Public safety...
Public works...
Cultural and recreation
Economic and physical development.
Interest on lonNg-term debt.........cceciviririrenneninrner et

Total governmental activities expense:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Business-type activities:
Water and SEWET.......c.civiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e
Total Business-type activitie:

Total primary government expense:

Program revenues

Governmental activities:
Charges for services:

General government..
Public safety.

Public works.....
Cultural and recreation.
Economic and physical developmen
Operating grants and contributions.
Capital grants and coNtribUtIONS. ......cc.coveirirerine it

Total governmental activities program revenue
Business-type activities:
Charges for services
Capital grants and contributions...

Total business-type activities program revenue

Total primary government program revenue

Net (Expense)/Revenue

Governmental activities...
Business-type activities....

Total primary government net exp

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities:

Property taxes, levied for general purpose..
Other taxes
Grants and contributions not restricted
to specific programs.
Unrestricted investment earning
Miscellaneous..........ccoevvvuvreiiuennnne
Special item: Conveyance of land for economic development.
Transfers

Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:
Unrestricted investment earnings...
Miscellaneous
TEANSTEIS. ..ttt

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

Change in Net Position

Governmental CtIVITIES. ..o eirriirecrce et
BUSINESS-tYPE @CHIVILIES. .. eeiueieitieieeiiere et

Change in primary government net position

Notes:

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
2,023,497 $ 2,227,259 $ 2,262,074 $ 2,508,794 $ 2,945,979
6,132,593 6,567,770 7,070,899 8,045,419 9,046,866
3,907,270 3,885,804 3,803,467 4,939,677 5,273,617
1,195,553 1,301,845 1,900,889 1,677,079 1,931,238
461,389 1,879,946 1,269,525 2,005,292 2,225,126
174,166 300,632 281,751 257,803 200,005
13,894,468 16,163,256 16,588,605 19,434,064 21,622,831
6,139,854 6,039,261 6,762,948 7,298,336 7,656,961
6,139,854 6,039,261 6,762,948 7,298,336 7,656,961
20,034,322 22,202,517 23,351,553 26,732,400 29,279,792
58,291 60,580 1,100 11,850 5,400
21,135 19,941 21,350 17,532 19,750
401,609 422,237 501,353 617,855 701,980
86,690 87,018 92,443 74,138 80,918
427,814 391,359 863,738 742,977 1,233,852
574,891 934,764 742,312 957,002 821,868
639,266 3,380,460 2,617,102 3,927,560 4,465,736
2,209,696 5,296,359 4,839,398 6,348,914 7,329,504
6,491,915 6,676,309 6,995,810 7,644,617 9,146,098
465,220 2,508,340 226,820 5,400,880 2,890,267
6,957,135 9,184,649 7,222,630 13,045,497 12,036,365
9,166,831 14,481,008 12,062,028 19,394,411 19,365,869

(11,684,772) (10,866,897) (11,749,207) (13,085,150) (14,293,327)
817,281 3,145,388 459,682 5,747,161 4,379,404

(10,867,491) (7,721,509) (11,289,525) (7,337,989) (9,913,923)
9,751,487 10,279,056 10,895,740 11,378,933 11,807,602
4,299,798 4,563,646 4,885,951 5,067,665 5,764,756

3,050 3,050 4,050 31,047 191,474
25,200 129,302 180,725 153,113 56,026
69,609 164,578 36,506 427,623 101,903

- (2,003) (57,302) (1,394) -
14,149,144 15,137,629 15,945,670 17,056,987 17,921,761
6,344 28,295 63,336 89,202 28,073
784,791 193,241 75,501 16,655 (90,910)

- 2,003 57,302 1,395 -
791,135 223,539 196,139 107,252 (62,837)

14,940,279 15,361,168 16,141,809 17,164,239 17,858,924
2,464,372 4,270,732 4,196,463 3,971,837 3,628,434
1,608,416 3,368,927 655,821 5,854,413 4,316,567
4,072,788 $ 7,639,659 $ 4,852,284 $ 9,826,250 $ 7,945,001

(1) 2020 includes a prior period restatement of $427,347; 2018 includes a prior period restatement of $2,337,035; 2017 includes a prior period restatement
of $15,099; 2016 includes a prior period restatement of $545,860; 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $(531,756).
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City of Mebane, North Carolina

Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 3
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
General Fund
NONSPENAAbIE.....cceiieieeieiece e e S - S - S 20,511 S 27,361 S 116,295
Restricted..... 497,614 755,213 2,566,389 5,183,933 2,533,840
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU....eiiiiiiieciiie ettt s 1,556,073 1,586,386 1,543,138 1,549,082 1,419,254
UN@SSIZNE.....iiiiiiiiiiiieeiieeeiee ettt ae e saree e 8,636,871 9,309,149 6,612,572 4,991,002 7,377,790
Total general fund $ 10,690,558 $ 11,650,748 S 10,742,610 $ 11,751,378 S 11,447,179
All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
RESTIICEE. c.uiii ettt et e - - 27,852 41,814 55,776
COMMILEEd.c..eiiieeriiieiieee e e - - - - -
1N T4 V=T (4,500) 316,850 1,925,422 1,181,066 640,198
UNQ@SSIZNEU......eiiiieieeieeeie et e see e see s erteesaeesaeesneeeeeens - - - - -
Total all other governmental funds.... S (4,500) S 316,850 S 1,953,274 $ 1,222,880 $ 695,974
Total Governmental Funds
NONSPENdAbIE.....ccuiieieeieiecieeeceeee e S - S - S 20,511 S 27,361 S 116,295
Restricted..... 497,614 755,213 2,594,241 5,225,747 2,589,616
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU....eiiiiiieciiie ettt e 1,551,573 1,903,236 3,468,560 2,730,148 2,059,452
UN@SSIZNE....iiiiiiiiiiiiieciiee ettt sbae e iree e 8,636,871 9,309,149 6,612,572 4,991,002 7,377,790
Total governmental funds................. $ 10,686,058 $ 11,967,598 S 12,695,884 $ 12,974,258 $ 12,143,153

Fund Balances - General Fund
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 3
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
General Fund
NONSPENAADIE.......eiieieeeeeee e S 51,005 $ 131,945 $ 46,552 S 168,052 $ 31,716
Restricted..... 2,545,731 2,673,951 2,658,975 2,422,768 2,877,971
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU....ei ittt 1,803,854 1,828,000 1,500,000 1,823,718 804,772
UN@SSIZNE....iiiiiiiiiiieecircecree ettt e s ae e eaee e 9,083,988 7,563,514 9,186,167 10,427,779 12,005,360
Total general fund S 13,484,578 $ 12,197,410 13,391,694 S 14,842,317 $ 15,719,819
All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable S - S - - S - S -
RESTIICEE. c.uiii ettt et e 69,702 83,628 98,182 113,160 127,459
COMMILEEd. c..eieieeiiieieeee e - - - - -

F X T4 VT 5,986,376 1,757,022 884,814 - 566,851
UNQ@SSIBNEU......eiiiieiieeieeeie et e seee s et e e e sneeeneens - - - - -
Total all other governmental funds...... S 6,056,078 S 1,840,650 982,996 S 113,160 $ 694,310

Total Governmental Funds
NONSPENAADIE.......iieeieeeeeece e S 51,005 $ 131,945 46,552 S 168,052 $ 31,716
Restricted..... 2,615,433 2,757,579 2,757,157 2,535,928 3,005,430
Committed - - - - -
ASSIZNEU...eei ittt e 7,790,230 3,585,022 2,384,814 1,823,718 1,371,623
UN@SSIZNE....uiiiiiiiiiieeciree ettt e e e sae e aaee e 9,083,988 7,563,514 9,186,167 10,427,779 12,005,360
Total governmental funds................... $ 19,540,656 $ 14,038,060 14,374,690 S 14,955,477 $ 16,414,129

Fund Balances - All Other Governmental Funds
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 4
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 1 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Revenues

Ad Valorem taXeS.....cooecvvvereeiieirieeeeeccirree e et e eearreeeeeen S 6,963,505 §$ 7,322,698 S 7,705,045 §$ 8,207,631 S 8,436,102

Other taxes and [ICENSES.......uueeiieeecveeiee e 19,253 189,355 199,935 190,058 795

Unrestricted intergovernmental...........cccceevveeiiieeiciieeccineen, 3,183,950 3,136,030 3,323,889 5,033,302 4,191,306

Restricted intergovernmental..........cccoeceeveevieecieecceeceeseenns 686,429 695,117 1,497,810 893,277 880,010

Permits and fEES.....ccuueiiieiireiee ettt 115,955 136,214 244,104 320,358 606,212

SalES ANA SEIVICES.....evveeie ettt 378,424 382,049 416,084 392,832 433,014

INVeStMeENt @arNiNgS......ccovvuiieiiiiiiiiieee e 14,422 11,943 17,190 1,746 6,363

Miscellaneous 86,011 112,033 94,753 260,119 155,294
Total revenues 11,447,949 11,985,439 13,498,810 15,299,323 14,709,096
Expenditures

General BOVEINMENT......ccueieerieeeesieesteeee e e e ae e eseeenns 1,676,324 1,950,508 2,087,742 2,094,055 2,151,509

PUDBIIC SAfety...cccvieieiiieciee et 3,872,971 4,157,723 5,091,637 4,901,955 5,414,023

PUDBIIC WOTKS...vveiieciieiiee et earae e e 3,102,904 2,818,822 3,708,213 3,708,075 3,733,538

Cultural and recreation........cccvveeeeeeiieeeeeeecieeeee e eeanes 1,152,466 1,110,864 1,195,637 1,318,029 1,466,564

Economic and physical development.........ccccvecceevverieeseeennen. 204,146 505,146 3,832,902 703,466 1,466,432

Debt service:

[ AT a Yol o TSR 613,255 426,667 426,667 833,854 835,083
Interest and other charges.........ccocvveeevieeiviie e, 155,859 135,000 119,484 182,646 161,067

Capital OULIAY....ccoiiiiciie e e 197,277 116,669 1,437,893 2,138,037 1,276,985
Total expenditures.........ccccceeeeecicciiriiiiiinsssssnssssnsssssssssssssssnns 10,975,202 11,221,399 17,900,175 15,880,117 16,505,201
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures........ccccvviiiiiiniiiiine 472,747 764,040 (4,401,365) (580,794) (1,796,105)
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers to other funds... (1,650,000) (245,000) (245,000) (1,450,000) (856,734)

Transfers from other funds. - 762,500 1,029,376 1,843,092 1,821,734

Issuance of debt.......cc......... - - 4,345,275 - -
Total other financing sources (uses)... (1,650,000) 517,500 5,129,651 393,092 965,000
Net change in fund balances..........ccccceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniicenens (1,177,253) 1,281,540 728,286 (187,702) (831,105)
Fund balances, beginning........ccccceeeieiviiieeiiie e 11,863,311 10,686,058 11,967,598 12,695,884 12,974,258
Prior period adjustment.........ccceocvieivcieeeniieeneeeee e, - - - 466,076 -
Fund balances, beginning as restated.........cccoccceeviiiiniieenneen. 11,863,311 10,686,058 11,967,598 13,161,960 12,974,258
Fund balances, ending..................... . $ 10,686,058 S 11,967,598 $ 12,695,884 S 12,974,258 S 12,143,153
Debt service as a percentage

of noncapital expenditures............... 7.7% 5.5% 4.6% 8.2% 7.0%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 4
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting) Page 2 of 2
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Revenues

Ad Valorem taXeS.....cooecvvvereeiieirieeeeeccirree e et e eearreeeeeen S 9,349,863 §$ 9,851,605 $ 10,413,402 $ 10,897,067 S 11,339,347

Other taxes and [ICENSES.......uueeiieeecveeiee e 960 1,005 1,030 955 955

Unrestricted intergovernmental...........cccceevveeiiieeiciieeccineen, 4,427,170 4,866,039 5,095,144 5,433,058 6,101,360

Restricted intergovernmental..........cccoeceeveevieecieecceeceeseenns 904,619 1,265,968 1,589,184 1,262,717 1,154,666

Permits and fEES.....ccuueiiieiireiee ettt 482,809 411,580 915,604 811,186 1,338,035

SalES ANA SEIVICES.....evveeie ettt 444,814 462,033 494,687 576,421 616,526

INVeStMeENt @arNiNgS......ccovvuiieiiiiiiiiieee e 25,200 129,302 180,725 153,113 56,027

Miscellaneous 270,538 322,138 167,614 524,824 262,594
Total revenues 15,905,973 17,309,670 18,857,390 19,659,341 20,869,510
Expenditures

General BOVEINMENT......ccueieerieeeesieesteeee e e e ae e eseeenns 1,997,039 2,244,898 2,179,611 2,265,058 2,540,663

PUDBIIC SAfety...cccvieieiiieciee et 6,171,044 6,526,581 6,544,785 6,888,994 6,818,514

PUDBIIC WOTKS...vveiieciieiiee et earae e e 3,268,769 3,400,679 3,113,625 3,048,385 3,888,863

Cultural and recreation........cccvveeeeeeiieeeeeeecieeeee e eeanes 1,056,609 1,828,941 1,445,320 1,343,057 1,293,315

Economic and physical development.........ccccvecceevverieeseeennen. 703,062 1,878,174 1,255,070 1,927,454 2,163,879

Debt service:

[ AT a Yol o TSR 836,338 1,316,286 1,347,620 1,272,748 1,239,573
Interest and other charges.........ccocvveeevieeiviie e, 139,372 306,592 285,412 264,189 211,159

Capital OULIAY....ccoiiiiciie e e 634,567 5,739,986 3,652,717 2,068,669 1,685,392
Total expenditures.........ccccceeeeecicciiriiiiiinsssssnssssnsssssssssssssssnns 14,806,800 23,242,137 19,824,160 19,078,554 19,841,358
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures........ccccvviiiiiiniiiiine 1,099,173 (5,932,467) (966,770) 580,787 1,028,152
Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers to other funds... (60,000) (1,726,812) (1,500,000) (1,183,857) (1,144,592)

Transfers from other funds. 60,000 1,724,810 2,067,932 1,183,857 1,144,592

Issuance ot debt.................. 6,298,330 431,873 735,468 - 430,500
Total other financing sources (uses)... 6,298,330 429,871 1,303,400 - 430,500
Net change in fund balances..........ccccceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniicenens 7,397,503 (5,502,596) 336,630 580,787 1,458,652
Fund balances, beginning........ccccceeeieiviiieeiiie e 12,143,153 19,540,656 14,038,060 14,374,690 14,955,477
Prior period adjustment.........ccceocvieivcieeeniieeneeeee e, - - - - -
Fund balances, beginning as restated.........cccoccceeviiiiniieenneen. 12,143,153 19,540,656 14,038,060 14,374,690 14,955,477
Fund balances, ending..................... . $ 19,540,656 S 14,038,060 S 14,374,690 S§ 14,955,477 S 16,414,129
Debt service as a percentage

of noncapital expenditures............... 7.4% 10.3% 10.2% 8.8% 8.0%

Notes:
(1) 2015 includes a prior period restatement of $466,076.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 5
Ratio of
Assessed
Total Value to
Less Tax- Direct Estimated
Fiscal Personal Public Service Exempt Total Taxable Tax  Estimated Actual  Actual
Year Real Property Property Companies Property Assessed Value Rate  Taxable Value Value
2012 1,101,391,678 400,790,237 20,894,610 (8,275,108) 1,514,801,417 0.47  1,481,995,824 102.2%
2013 1,138,480,584 417,965,044 22,126,189 (8,199,338) 1,570,372,479 0.47  1,489,959,352 105.4%
2014 1,163,814,338 476,296,137 22,343,241 (8,380,262) 1,654,073,454 0.47 1,574,895,032 105.0%
2015 1,171,969,829 498,060,858 22,232,490 (8,580,903) 1,683,682,274 0.49 1,603,949,005 105.0%
2016 1,215,674,661 511,076,370 23,926,263 (9,087,410) 1,741,589,884 0.49 1,648,732,865 105.6%
2017 1,355,230,856 550,037,154 20,701,422 (6,871,152) 1,919,098,280 0.49  1,919,559,215 100.0%
2018 1,519,215,965 576,423,148 21,265,042 (6,231,130) 2,110,673,025 0.47  2,165,774,122 97.5%
2019 1,572,394,043 593,126,106 19,041,041 (2,685,151) 2,181,876,039 0.47  2,238,905,875 97.5%
2020 1,627,662,514 648,540,774 19,264,439 (243,533) 2,295,224,194 0.47  2,449,836,538 93.7%
2021 1,755,206,176 602,162,652 19,101,600 (243,533) 2,376,226,895 0.47  2,542,954,665 93.4%
Sources:

Alamance County and Orange County Tax Departments.

Notes:

Assessed valuations are established by the Alamance County Board of Commissioners at 100% of estimated
market value. A revaluation of real property is required by the North Carolina General Statutes at least every
eight years. Property was last revalued in FY 2018.

Estimated actual taxable value is calculated using information provided in Alamance and Orange County's
Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports (ACFRs).

2,500,000,000

2,000,000,000

1,500,000,000

1,000,000,000

500,000,000

Assessed Value of Property
(Including Tax-Exempt)
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates
Last Ten Years

(Rates are Per $100 of Assessed Value) Table 6
Direct Rate Overlapping Rates Combined Tax Rate
City of Alamance  Orange Alamance  Orange
Fiscal Year Mebane county™  county? County County
0.47 0.520 0.858 0.990 1.328
0.47 0.520 0.858 0.990 1.328
0.47 0.540 0.858 1.010 1.328
0.49 0.530 0.858 1.020 1.348
0.49 0.580 0.878 1.070 1.368
0.49 0.580 0.878 1.070 1.368
0.47 0.580 0.838 1.050 1.308
0.47 0.590 0.850 1.060 1.320
0.47 0.670 0.868 1.140 1.338
0.47 0.670 0.868 1.140 1.338

Sources:
™ Alamance County Tax Department.
@ Orange County Tax Department.

Notes:

Overlapping rates are the county government rates that apply to property owners within the City of Mebane.
The City of Mebane is located in both Alamance and Orange counties. Not all overlapping rates apply to al
property owners, but at least one County overlapping rates applies to each property owner.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Principal Property Taxpayers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago Table 7
2021 2012
Percentage Percentage
of Total of Total
Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Value Assessed Taxable Assessed
Taxpayer E Rank Value Assessed Value Rank Value
GKN Automotive Components........ccecceeerueeeriieeennns S 103,007,774 1 4.33% S 97,526,716 1 6.40%
Walmart Stores INC....ccveeecveeeccieeeciee et eeve e 96,268,596 2 4.05% 16,620,399 7 1.10%
Liggett Group - One Hundred Maple.........ccccevuenen 72,599,434 3 3.06% 67,799,849 2 4.50%
Nypro, Inc. (a Jabil Company).......ccccceeeeriiriienniennne. 48,851,275 4 2.06% 14,571,775 8 1.00%
Lotus Bakeries US, LLC......v..crreveeeerrreereneeeeseerenenne 44,471,513 5 1.87% @
Tanger Properties LMTD Partner... 43,885,868 6 1.85% 34,813,065 4 2.30%
Keystone at Mebane Oaks LLC... 36,387,530 7 1.53% @
Cambro Manufacturing Co...... 35,350,022 8 1.49% @
Morinaga American Foods Inc . 31,928,071 9 1.34% @
SANAVIK INC.eneriecieeecee e e 27,588,164 10 1.16% 44,305,583 3 2.90%
Armacell LLC/Armstrong @ 20,708,854 5 1.40%
Mebane Packaging / Meadwestvaco.........cc.cceevevene @ 20,391,569 6 1.30%
SPFING FOIESt, LLCureoreereeeeeereeeseeeeseeeeeeeeseeeese s @ 13,251,550 9 0.90%
Fieldstone NC, LLC.......vvveeereveereeereeeseeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeees @ 12,757,055 10 0.80%
o) - | PO $540,338,247 22.74% $342,746,415 22.65%

Source:
Alamance County Tax Department.

Notes:
M Assessed valuation represents taxes assessed and due in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.

@ Not within top ten ranking.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 8
Fiscal Year of the Levy Total Collections to Date
Taxes Levied Collections in

forthe Fiscal ~ Amount  Percentage Subsequent Percentage

Fiscal Year Year ¥ Collected of Levy Years Amount of Levy
7,062,935 6,917,103 97.9% 118,501 7,035,604 99.6%
7,354,497 7,224,810 98.2% 141,096 7,365,906 100.2%
7,764,524 7,677,173 98.9% 123,667 7,800,840 100.5%
8,223,909 8,175,886 99.4% 79,316 8,255,202 100.4%
8,528,175 8,485,223 99.5% 104,352 8,589,575 100.7%
9,288,710 9,244,828 99.5% 36,394 9,281,222 99.9%
9,815,332 9,785,748 99.7% 56,185 9,841,933 100.3%
10,383,208 10,326,956 99.5% 43,405 10,370,361 99.9%
10,854,564 10,817,844 99.7% 23,366 10,841,210 99.9%
11,273,675 11,233,082 99.6% - 11,233,082 99.6%

Sources:
Alamance County Tax Department.

Notes:
™ Taxes levied for the fiscal year are not adjusted for discoveries in subsequent years but their collectior
is included in the total collections to date for the year in which they would have been levied.

Percentage of Levy

101.0%
100.5% ‘ﬁ/.\
100.0%

99.5% ——

99.0% f

98.5% /

98.0% /

97.5%
97.0%
96.5%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

==¢==Current Fiscal Year Collections === Total Collections to Date
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 9
Governmental
Activities Business-type Activities
General Percentage of
Installment Obligation Installment Personal
Fiscal Year Financing(z’ Bonds Financin_gﬂ Total Income Per Capita ™
2012 3,856,669 680,000 3,437,758 7,974,427 2.0% 666
2013 e 3,430,002 570,000 2,758,161 6,758,163 1.7% 557
2014 7,348,610 455,000 6,788,750 14,592,360 3.5% 1,180
2015, e 6,514,756 335,000 6,162,611 13,012,367 3.1% 1,032
2016 5,679,678 215,000 5,272,472 11,167,150 2.6% 874
A0 ) Nt 11,141,683 95,000 4,869,335 16,106,018 3.6% 1,141
2018..... 10,257,277 - 4,459,195 14,716,472 3.2% 983
2019..... 9,645,099 - 4,042,056 13,687,155 2.9% 878
2020..... 8,371,909 - 3,617,917 11,989,826 2.3% 737
A0 7 RNt 7,562,836 - 3,186,778 10,749,614 1.4% 615

Notes:
W' see Table 13 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal
income and population for the calendar year.

@ Details regarding outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Outstanding Debt Per Capita Outstanding Debt as a Percentage of
$1,400 Personal Income
4.0%
$1,200 2 5o;
$1,000 3.0%

$800 - 4% I \
$600 - 0% N \

1.5%

$400 - 1.0%
$200 - 0.5%
0.0%

$0 - °
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding
Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 10

Percentage of Actual

General Bonded Taxable Value of Per Capita Bonded

Fiscal Year Debt Property W Debt?

20021ttt ettt sttt saeenees 680,000 0.04% 57
A0 ) TSNS 570,000 0.04% 47
200ttt et st st naas 455,000 0.03% 37
X0 R TSNS 335,000 0.02% 27
2006 cuieieeienieeiente ettt sb et saeenees 215,000 0.01% 17
X0 PSS 95,000 0.00% 7
2018..cieieeieieetenie ettt sttt bt neas - 0.00% -
2019 - 0.00% -
2020, ettt sttt s st sbe e saeeaeen - 0.00% -
2021 - 0.00% -

' see Table 5 for Assessed Value of Taxable Property.

2 See Table 13 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal
income and population for the calendar year.

) Details regarding outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Per Capita Bonded Debt Bonded Debt as a Percentage of Actual

Taxable Value of Property
S60

0.1%
$50 - 0.0% \

I 0.0%
$40 - 0.0% \

' 0.0%
$30 - 0.0% ‘
0.0% \

$20 1 0.0%
0.0% \

0.0%
0.0%
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

As of June 30, 2021 Table 11
Estimated

Share of Direct

Estimated and

Debt Percentage  Qverlapping

Governmental Unit Outstanding Applicable™ Debt
Alamance County general obligation debt..........c.ccccoevuevevieiinicecieececee S 33,155,000 13.23% S 4,386,012
Orange County general obligation debt.........cccccvieeiiiiiiiiiiiiiieecee e 131,000,000 1.95% 2,558,627
Subtotal, overlapping debt........ccccovieeiecieeee e 6,944,639
City Of Mebane debt.........covvieiieiiereeee e 7,562,836
Total direct and overlapping debt..........coccvvviiiiiiiiniiiiiee e, S 14,507,475

Sources:

Alamance and Orange County debt outstanding provided by Alamance and Orange Counties.

Notes:

Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the
City. This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that
is borne by the residents and businesses of the City. This process recognizes that, when considering the
City's ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and
businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident
and, therefore, responsible for repaying the debt of each overlapping government.

™ For debt repaid with property taxes, the percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using
taxable assessed property values. Applicable percentages were estimated by determining the portion of
another governmental unit's taxable assessed value that is within the City of Mebane's boundaries and
dividing it by each unit's total taxable assessed value. Taxable assessed property values as of June 30,
2021 were used to determine the overlapping debt percentage.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 12

Total Net Debt

Legal Debt
Margin as a

Applicable to Legal Debt Percent of Debt
Fiscal Year Debt Limit Limit Margin Limit
121,184,113 8,311,706 112,872,407 93.1%
125,629,798 7,112,016 118,517,782 94.3%
132,325,876 14,748,774 117,577,102 88.9%
134,694,582 13,012,364 121,682,218 90.3%
139,327,191 11,167,150 128,160,041 92.0%
153,527,862 16,106,018 137,421,844 89.5%
168,853,842 14,716,472 154,137,370 91.3%
174,550,083 13,687,155 160,862,928 92.2%
183,617,936 11,989,826 171,628,110 93.5%
190,098,152 10,749,614 179,348,538 94.3%
Notes:
Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2021:
Assessed valuation.............. S 2,376,226,895
Statutory limit percentage 8.0%
Debt limit - 8.0% Of @SSESSEA VAIUE.......cccvveeeieeeiieeieee ettt eebaee e e eeeaaaees S 190,098,152
Gross debt:
Total boNdEd debt....c..eiieieiee et -
Authorized and UNISSUE DONAS.......cceiriiecieieriee e -
Lease fiNaNCING @BrEEMENTS. .....ccviieieeiieteereeeee e ete ettt et e s e ete e e e sseesneeenreenes 10,749,614
B e =14 o T3 =Y o 10,749,614
Less: statutory deAUCIONS. ... ..iiiiiieeiie ettt sttt e -
Total amount of debt applicable to debt limit (net debt).........cccceevveeiieveiniecieeceeceeeee 10,749,614
LEEAl DBt IMIArEiN....ccueeueeueereieeereereeeeeeeesseseessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessessassessens S 179,348,538
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Calendar Years Table 13
Median value of Median
owner -occupied Family Unemployment
Fiscal Year Population (1) housing (2) Income Median Age (3) Rate (5)
11,965 N/A * 51,675 354 6.5%
12,128 163,500 * 53,166 35.8 6.2%
12,366 161,000 * 52,586 35.8 * 6.3%
12,613 * 165,800 * 53,029 35.8 * 5.7%
12,774 * 172,400 * 53,029 35.8 * 4.7%
14,117 * 178,700 * 54,430 35.9 * 4.0%
14,973 * 185,700 * 56,037 35.8 * 4.0%
15,589 * 193,500 * 60,851 34.8 * 3.7%
16,262 * 195,800 * 54,157 34.2 * 4.4%
17,472 * 189,600 * 64,729 34.7 * 5.7%

Note: Many of these data elements are not published annually for cities. Data is estimated using the
ratio of Mebane to Alamance County from the 2020 census and the 2005-2014 American Community
Survey. That ratio was applied back to annual county data to estimate the data for the City of Mebane.

Notes:
(1) Office of State Management and Budget, NC Department of Revenue
(2) U. S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.
United States Census Bureau, Most recent available census data.
(3) American City Survey Fact Finder.
(4) N. C. Employment Security Commission, Local Area Unemployment Statistics
(5) N. C. Employment Security Commission, Local Area Unemployment Statistics

* Data not available - estimated based on trends.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Principal Employers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago Table 14
2021(1) 2012(2)
Percentage of Percentage of
Total Total

Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment
ABB (General Electric) 650 1 3.72% 315 4 5.5%
Walmart Distribution.......c.ccceceeeveeneenieniieniieeseenne 587 2 3.36% * 3)
[ PSS 547 3 3.13% 500 1 8.7%
AKG of America.... 372 4 2.13% 350 3 6.1%
Armacell ... 275 5 1.57% 250 7 4.3%
Liggett Group LLC........ovveiiiviiieeiiriiiieeecriieeee e 272 6 1.56% 299 6 5.2%
JAbIl (NYPrO).eeeeeecee e 250 7 1.43% 250 8 4.4%
SPOrts ENA@AVOIS....cuviieiiiieeiieecieee e esiaee e 200 8 1.14% 311 5 5.4%
MOFINAZA «.eeeeieeeece e 194 9 1.11% * 3)
SANAVIK. .o 113 10 0.65% * 3)
Prescient......ooee e 112 * 0.64% * 3)
Carrier (Walter Kidde).......ccvvevveecreeieeceeereeveene, 107 * 0.61% 114 10 2.0%
(0711101 o] ' TSR 106 * 0.61% * 3)
KiNGSAOWN...ccviiiiiiiecciieecee et 90 * 0.52% 150 9 2.6%
UPI (Universal PersevaChem INc).........ccccoeeeeveennnns 30 * 0.17% * 3)
West Rock (Meadwestvaco).......cccceveeveeeveesreesnnenns * 400 2 6.9%
TOtAl et 3,905 22.35% 2,939 51.1%

Sources:

(1) Human Resource Directors- Phone or Email

(2) Alamance County Area Chamber of Commerce data for closest year available
3) Not available

* Not in top ten this year
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Full-time-Equivalent Employees by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 15
Function / Department 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
General Government:
Mayor & City Council......ceeeuveecreerieecieeinenne, 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
City ManN@ger....cueieeiieeiiiiiiieeeee e erirrreee e 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
City ClerK. .o, 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Finance............... 2.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 5.0
Human ReSOUICES........ccvvuvriiiieeiieeeiiieieeeeen, 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Tax Collector....ccuiiireieceeceecee e 2.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 - - - - -
City AtLOINEY. ..o 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Information Technology........cccoeeveecieccenennnen. - - - 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0
Public BUildings......cceeeveeiieeiieerieeieecreeeiee s 2.0 2.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0
Public Safety:
Police Department 30.0 31.0 31.0 32.0 35.0 35.5 40.0 40.0 40.0 41.0

Fire Department..........ccoeiviiiviinniiiiiiciiicnnnn, 16.0 16.0 16.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 28.0 29.0 29.0

Economic and Physical Development:

Planning...cc.ueecee e e, 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 3.0

INSPECLIONS...eeviiiiieeiiieeeeeeee e, 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 4.0 4.0 5.0 6.0
Public Works:

SEFEEES..eitiiieeee e 7.0 9.0 - - - - - - - -

Sanitation. ... 5.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0

PUBIIC WOPKS....vviieeeiieecteee e, 5.0 5.0 12.0 12.0 12.0 13.0 12.0 14.0 14.0 12.0

Culture and Recreation:
ReCreation......cccccveeecciiee et 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 8.0
Arts and Community Center 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0

Water and Sewer:
Billing and Metering........ccceeeeevcieenieecveeinenns 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Water distribution and maintenance............. 3.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 5.0 5.0 7.0

Waste Collection and Treatment:

Pretreatment - industrial monitoring............. 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Wastewater Treatment Plant... 6.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Laboratory.....cccoeceeecieecieeeeeee e 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Sewer mains and lift stations.........cc.ccceeeueennis 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
[ o] 7 | PRSP 106.5 109.5 110.5 1225 1285 131.0 136.5 1455 1475 1525

Sources:
City of Mebane staff

Notes:

A full-time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation and sick leave).
Full-time-equivalent employment is calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2,080.
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Operating Indicators by Function

Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 16
Function 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
General Government
Finance Department
Vendor checks iSSUEM........c.c.cueueureneeececieerirenenenes 2,675 3,003 2,952 3,029 3,095 3,104 3,299 3,668 3,613 3,621
Human Resources
Workers' compensation lost time (days)............ 155 52 122 - - - - 23 - -
Employee turnover rate.........coeoveeeeeenirernnenens 3% 7% 3% 5% 9% 5% 9% 4% 6% 12%
Public Safety
Fire Protection
Incident calls 1,812 732 823 773 840 909 918 921 919 939
Structure fires... 168 303 211 15 19 26 34 21 25 36
INSPECLIONS....vvveveeereiereretereree et eeessenes 103 177 190 186 394 363 250 545 233 188
Child passenger seat inspections............cc.evvenee 197 242 191 154 204 193 237 190 217 107
Police Protection
Physical arrests 552 653 568 501 377 438 482 506 436 274
Citations issued.... . 1,073 1,489 1,226 1,028 926 1,585 1,522 1,846 1,720 970
Response to calls/officer initiated activity.......... 13,163 15,363 14,942 14,685 16,968 16,363 17,220 19,764 21,718 20,932
Traffic aCCidents.......ccueueeririnccieirerceeeieeis 593 583 528 491 620 790 628 809 642 767
Public Works
Street resurfacing (miles) 3.19 0.54 2.67 1.48 1.48 1.51 1.32 2.20 1.56 4.15
Refuse collected (tons annually).. 3,200 3,267 3,390 3,585 3,880 4,073 4,278 4,594 4,950 5,459
Homes receiving service 4,581 4,522 3,965 4,756 4,527 4,717 5,354 4,965 5,243 5,538
Recyclables collected (tons annually) 946 1,063 1,112 1,100 841 862 864 831 1,265 792
Economic & Physical Development
Inspections
Residential inspections conducted..................... 3,247 3,460 5,914 5,212 6,477 7,348 4,765 7,032 7,357 11,159
Commercial inspections conducted...........c.c...... 490 332 785 1,462 8,499 9,710 5,449 5,291 2,761 2,214
Total inspections conducted...........c.coeeurereneees 3,737 3,792 6,699 6,674 14,976 17,058 10,214 12,323 10,118 13,373
Certificates of occupancy issued... 136 125 131 154 166 216 102 206 207 285
Building permits issued 245 277 228 155 191 143 171 196 259 348
Cultural & Recreation
Recreation
Athletics participants........ccceveeeverniniieenenenens 2,458 3,140 2,693 2,653 2,744 2,679 2,679 2,923 1,623 1,846
Water Distribution
ACCOUNTS.....vviiieiieiisietieee ettt e 4,302 4,454 4,566 4,744 4,934 5,227 5,471 5,717 5,972 6,008
Average daily consumption (mgd)........cccceevrvrurenn 1.150 1.290 1.350 1.400 1.510 1.880 1.760 1.710 1.707 1.911
Wastewater Treatment
ACCOUNTS.....vviitecieietet ettt 3,974 4,125 4,263 4,424 4,587 4,898 5,034 5,170 5,395 5,564
Average daily treatment (Mgd)......cccovvvvvrrrvererenenen 1.000 1.100 1.340 1.202 1.359 1.373 1.290 1.690 1.570 1.770

Sources:
Various City departments

Notes:
"NA" indicates "not available"
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City of Mebane, North Carolina
Capital Asset Statistics by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years Table 17

Function 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Public Safety
Fire Protection

Stations....ooo i 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Fire trucks.....occeevveeeennieenienieeieeseeee, 12 12 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13
Police Protection
SEAtiONS.c.eveieiiieeieecc e 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Patrol units.......cccoeeeeeeeeeiiec e 30 32 32 30 29 31 39 36 36 36
Public Works
Miles of streets.......cccoeeeeiieeecieeecieeens 51.0 52.2 52.4 54.0 54.3 54.7 56.6 58.0 60.1 62.4
Maintenance vehicles.................. . 58 56 56 58 58 51 45 29 31 32
Miles of sidewalks (linear feet)............. 42.9 43.0 43.0 50.1 50.8 54.2 55.3 57.5 59.8 63.6
Refuse collection trucks.........ccceevueenee. 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Cultural & Recreation
Number of parks .......cccceeeveercieecnineens 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 8 9 9
Park acreage......cccoceveveveeseesieeceesenne 275 275 275 275 275 308 308 328 328 362
Trails (Miles)....cceeveeecreeceeceeereereeeieans 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 5 5 5
Playgrounds.......cccceevevveeeceeneenieesieenen, 5 5 5 5 5 5 3 4 5 5
Baseball/softball diamonds................... 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Soccer fields.......ooocveeeciieecieceieeee 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 7 7 7
Water and Sewer
Miles of gravity sewer lines................... 88.1 88.7 89.1 94.3 97.8 98.6 100.1 1134 1188 122.1
Miles of water lines.......cceceevveerveneenne. 100.1 103.1 104.6 1113 111.3 1149 117.2 117.8 122.2 1258
Miles of sewer force mains...........c....... 17.3 18.7 18.5 18.3 21.9 18.3 18.5 24.2 27.8 27.8

Miles of storm sewer 57.0 57.0 57.6 58.5 61.1 61.8 64.9 65.0 67.6 71.5

Source:
Various City departments

Notes:
"NA" indicates "not available"
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Compliance Section

This section contains compliance reports for the City’s
Governmental Compliance.

Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To The Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Mebane

Mebane, North Carolina

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the
United State of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States, the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information
of the City of Mebane, North Carolina, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprises the City of
Mebane's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
November 10, 2021.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Mebane's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the City of Mebane’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by
those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that
we consider material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not
been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Mebane’s financial statements
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Stour Sueer M%owea £ 06, LLP

Burlington, North Carolina
November 10, 2021
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* Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) Highlights
e Governmental Funds

* Water and Sewer Funds

 Capital Reserve Fund

 Capital Projects

e Debt Portfolio



1%( ACFR Highlights

e “Clean” Audit Opinion
 Assets exceeded liabilities by $118,247,835 (net position)
* Total net position increased by $7,945,001 from the prior year

* Combined ending fund balances of $16,414,129, an increase of
S1,458,652 over the prior year
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Governmental Funds

Governmental Funds - FY21 Results Amended Budget FY21 Actuals

than budgeted:

Sales Tax

Cares Act Award

Planning and inspection fees
Sanitation User fees
Miscellaneous grants
Investment earnings

* Overall, expenditures came in
lower than budgeted:

Retirements and lapsed salaries
Capital project delays
Did not take on anticipated debt

* Fund balance increased

Property Taxes

Permits and Fees

Sales and Services
Miscellaneous

Other taxes and licenses
Restricted Special Revenue
Investment earnings
Operating Revenues

Debt Proceeds

Fund Balance Appropriated
Total Revenues

Personnel & Benefits
Operating Expenses
Capital Expenses
Debt Payments
Transfers

Total Expenses

Net Gain/(Loss)

S 11,036,912
S 5,120,543
S 886,000
S 881,798
S 570,450
S 147,600
S 1,000
S -

S 20,000
$ 18,664,303
S 1,939,070
S 3,747,641
$

24,351,014.00

S 12,700,797
S 6,107,542
S 3,753,012
S 1,699,663
S 90,000
$ 24,351,014

11,339,347
6,101,360
1,154,666
1,338,035

616,526
251,884
955

14,300
52,436
20,869,509
430,500

21,300,009.00

10,252,428
6,452,803
1,600,571
1,450,732

84,823

19,841,357

1,458,652

% of Collected/Spent
103%

119%

130%

152%

108%

171%

96%

262%
112%
22%
0%



Governmental Funds

		Fiscal Year 2020-2021

		Governmental Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Property Taxes		$   11,036,912		$   11,339,347		103%

		Unrestricted Intergovernmental		$   5,120,543		$   6,101,360		119%				Increase is due to sales tax which came in 19% higher than budgeted $801,057

		Restricted Intergovernmental		$   886,000		$   1,154,666		130%				Increase primarily due to the Cares Act Award for 187,904 that was not budgeted.		ABC law enforce 18,978 ABC Sur 13,270, state fire contribution 13,184, fed equitable sharing 18,880, Cares Act Award $187904																														ERROR:#VALUE!

		Permits and Fees		$   881,798		$   1,338,035		152%				Almost across the board all inspection and planning fees came in higher than budgeted with inspection fees coming in 66% higher than budgeted.

		Sales and Services		$   570,450		$   616,526		108%				Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous		$   147,600		$   251,884		171%				Due to several small miscellaneous grants totaling $34,570 came in.

		Other taxes and licenses		$   1,000		$   955		96%

		Restricted Special Revenue 		$   - 0		$   14,300						Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund

		Investment earnings		$   20,000		$   52,436		262%				Earnings were better than anticipated.

		Operating Revenues		$   18,664,303		$   20,869,509		112%

		Debt Proceeds		$   1,939,070		$   430,500		22%				Debt for the Holt Street Greenway was included in the original budget, but the project was put on hold 

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   3,747,641		$   - 0		0%

		Total Revenues		$   24,351,014.00		$   21,300,009.00



		Personnel & Benefits		$   12,700,797		$   10,252,428		81%				Lapsed salaries.

		Operating Expenses		$   6,107,542		$   6,452,803		106%				Maintenance

		Capital Expenses		$   3,753,012		$   1,600,571		43%				Delays

		Debt Payments		$   1,699,663		$   1,450,732		85%				Did not take on as much debt as anticipated.

		Transfers		$   90,000		$   84,823		94%				Cates Farm Park Project Ordinance

		Total Expenses		$   24,351,014		$   19,841,357		81%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   1,458,652









		Unrestricted Intergovernmental
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Water and Sewer Funds

		Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for services		$   5,933,600		$   6,828,761		115%		Water and sewer charges and taps

		Other operating revenues		$   690,034		$   748,941		109%		Surplus property, development fees, fire flow test fees

		Operating revenues		$   6,623,634		$   7,577,702		114%

		Non-operating revenues		$   49,000		$   (74,065)		-151%		Revenue sharing contra and investments and interest

		Transfers 		$   175,000		$   37,846		22%

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   2,578,420		$   - 0				Excess rev over exp plus budget in cap fund

		Total Revenue		$   9,251,054		$   7,541,483		82%



		Personnel & Benefits		$   2,679,929		$   2,356,060		88%

		Operating Expenses		$   3,524,145		$   2,822,855		80%

		Capital Expenses		$   1,898,054		$   1,073,284		57%

		Debt Payments		$   1,148,926		$   849,724		74%

		Total Expenses		$   9,251,054		$   7,101,923		77%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   439,560





















Capital Reserve Fund

		System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for Services		$   650,000		$   1,527,703		235%

		Other nonoperating revenues		$   2,500		$   4,595		184%		Interest and investment earnings

		Total Revenues		$   652,500		$   1,532,298		235%



		Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds		$   652,500		$   37,846		6%

		Net Gain/Loss				$   1,494,452



























Cates Farm Park

		Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent



		Cates Farm Park

		Transfer from General Fund		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Expenditures		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Fund Balance				$   - 0



		WRRF Renovation 

		Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund		$   583,000.00		$   583,000.00		100%

		Debt Proceeds		$   6,761,176.00		$   - 0		0%

		Total financing sources		$   7,344,176.00		$   583,000.00		8%

		Total Expenditures		$   7,344,176.00		$   555,285.00		8%

		Fund Balance				$   27,715.00
















W

e Overall, operating

Water and Sewer Funds

Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results Amended BucFY21 Actuals % of Collected/Spent

Charges for services

revenues came in h|gher Other operating revenues

than budgeted due to

growth.

* Overall, expenditures
came in lower than

budgeted.

e Revenue bond debt was
delayed until FY22.

* Capital projects were

Operating revenues
Non-operating revenues
Transfers

Fund Balance Appropriated
Total Revenue

Personnel & Benefits
Operating Expenses
Capital Expenses
Debt Payments

delayed. Total Expenses

Net Gain/(Loss)

$ 5,933,600
S 690,034
$6,623,634
S 49,000
S 175,000
$ 2,578,420
$9,251,054

$ 2,679,929
S 3,524,145
$ 1,898,054
$ 1,148,926
$9,251,054

$ 6,828,761
S 748,941
$7,577,702

S (74,065)

S 37,846
S -
$7,541,483

$ 2,356,060
$ 2,822,855
$ 1,073,284
S 849,724
$7,101,923
$ 439,560

115%
109%
114%

-151%

22%

82%

88%
80%
57%
74%
77%




Governmental Funds

		Fiscal Year 2020-2021

		Governmental Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Property Taxes		$   11,036,912.00		$   11,339,347.00		103%

		Unrestricted Intergovernmental		$   5,120,543		$   6,101,360		119%				Increase is due to sales tax which came in 19% higher than budgeted $801,057

		Restricted Intergovernmental		$   886,000		$   1,154,666		130%				Increase primarily due to the Cares Act Award for 187,904 that was not budgeted.		ABC law enforce 18,978 ABC Sur 13,270, state fire contribution 13,184, fed equitable sharing 18,880, Cares Act Award $187904																														ERROR:#VALUE!

		Permits and Fees		$   881,798		$   1,338,035		152%				Almost across the board all inspection and planning fees came in higher than budgeted with inspection fees coming in 66% higher than budgeted.

		Sales and Services		$   570,450		$   616,526		108%				Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous		$   147,600		$   251,884		171%				Due to several small miscellaneous grants totaling $34,570 came in.

		Other taxes and licenses		$   1,000		$   955		96%

		Restricted Special Revenue 		$   - 0		$   14,300						Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund

		Investment earnings		$   20,000		$   52,436		262%				Earnings were better than anticipated.

		Operating Revenues		$   18,664,303		$   20,869,509		112%

		Debt Proceeds		$   1,939,070		$   430,500		22%				Debt for the Holt Street Greenway was included in the original budget, but the project was put on hold 

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   3,747,641		$   - 0		0%

		Total Revenues		$   24,351,014.00		$   21,300,009.00



		Personnel & Benefits		$   12,700,797		$   10,252,428		81%				Lapsed salaries.

		Operating Expenses		$   6,107,542		$   6,452,803		106%				Maintenance

		Capital Expenses		$   3,753,012		$   1,600,571		43%				Delays

		Debt Payments		$   1,699,663		$   1,450,732		85%				Did not take on as much debt as anticipated.

		Transfers		$   90,000		$   84,823		94%				Cates Farm Park Project Ordinance

		Total Expenses		$   24,351,014		$   19,841,357		81%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   1,458,652









		Unrestricted Intergovernmental
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Water and Sewer Funds

		Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for services		$   5,933,600		$   6,828,761		115%		Water and sewer charges and taps

		Other operating revenues		$   690,034		$   748,941		109%		Surplus property, development fees, fire flow test fees

		Operating revenues		$   6,623,634		$   7,577,702		114%

		Non-operating revenues		$   49,000		$   (74,065)		-151%		Revenue sharing contra and investments and interest

		Transfers 		$   175,000		$   37,846		22%

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   2,578,420		$   - 0				Excess rev over exp plus budget in cap fund

		Total Revenue		$   9,251,054		$   7,541,483		82%



		Personnel & Benefits		$   2,679,929		$   2,356,060		88%

		Operating Expenses		$   3,524,145		$   2,822,855		80%

		Capital Expenses		$   1,898,054		$   1,073,284		57%

		Debt Payments		$   1,148,926		$   849,724		74%

		Total Expenses		$   9,251,054		$   7,101,923		77%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   439,560





















Capital Reserve Fund

		System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for Services		$   650,000		$   1,527,703		235%

		Other nonoperating revenues		$   2,500		$   4,595		184%		Interest and investment earnings

		Total Revenues		$   652,500		$   1,532,298		235%



		Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds		$   652,500		$   37,846		6%

		Net Gain/Loss				$   1,494,452



























Cates Farm Park

		Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent



		Cates Farm Park

		Transfer from General Fund		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Expenditures		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Fund Balance				$   - 0



		WRRF Renovation 

		Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund		$   583,000.00		$   583,000.00		100%

		Debt Proceeds		$   6,761,176.00		$   - 0		0%

		Total financing sources		$   7,344,176.00		$   583,000.00		8%

		Total Expenditures		$   7,344,176.00		$   555,285.00		8%

		Fund Balance				$   27,715.00
















\ g System Development Capital Reserve Fund

e Revenues came in higher
than budgeted due to
growth.

System Development
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results Amended Budget FY21 Actuals % of Collected/Spent
Charges for Services S 650,000 S 1,527,703 235%

* Transfers were lower than
expected due to higher
revenues in the Water and

Soroaer Tl Other nonoperating revenues S 2,500 S 4,595 184%
_ Total Revenues 652,500 $1,532,298 235%
e Statutorily, the use of
systemtd.e}c/e(ljorl)ment feels Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds $ 652,500 S 37,846 6%
AR N\t Gain/Loss $ 1,494,452

the fees can be used to
fund future water or
sewer capital projects.



Governmental Funds

		Fiscal Year 2020-2021

		Governmental Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Property Taxes		$   11,036,912.00		$   11,339,347.00		103%

		Unrestricted Intergovernmental		$   5,120,543		$   6,101,360		119%				Increase is due to sales tax which came in 19% higher than budgeted $801,057

		Restricted Intergovernmental		$   886,000		$   1,154,666		130%				Increase primarily due to the Cares Act Award for 187,904 that was not budgeted.		ABC law enforce 18,978 ABC Sur 13,270, state fire contribution 13,184, fed equitable sharing 18,880, Cares Act Award $187904																														ERROR:#VALUE!

		Permits and Fees		$   881,798		$   1,338,035		152%				Almost across the board all inspection and planning fees came in higher than budgeted with inspection fees coming in 66% higher than budgeted.

		Sales and Services		$   570,450		$   616,526		108%				Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous		$   147,600		$   251,884		171%				Due to several small miscellaneous grants totaling $34,570 came in.

		Other taxes and licenses		$   1,000		$   955		96%

		Restricted Special Revenue 		$   - 0		$   14,300						Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund

		Investment earnings		$   20,000		$   52,436		262%				Earnings were better than anticipated.

		Operating Revenues		$   18,664,303		$   20,869,509		112%

		Debt Proceeds		$   1,939,070		$   430,500		22%				Debt for the Holt Street Greenway was included in the original budget, but the project was put on hold 

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   3,747,641		$   - 0		0%

		Total Revenues		$   24,351,014.00		$   21,300,009.00



		Personnel & Benefits		$   12,700,797		$   10,252,428		81%				Lapsed salaries.

		Operating Expenses		$   6,107,542		$   6,452,803		106%				Maintenance

		Capital Expenses		$   3,753,012		$   1,600,571		43%				Delays

		Debt Payments		$   1,699,663		$   1,450,732		85%				Did not take on as much debt as anticipated.

		Transfers		$   90,000		$   84,823		94%				Cates Farm Park Project Ordinance

		Total Expenses		$   24,351,014		$   19,841,357		81%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   1,458,652
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Water and Sewer Funds

		Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for services		$   5,933,600		$   6,828,761		115%		Water and sewer charges and taps

		Other operating revenues		$   690,034		$   748,941		109%		Surplus property, development fees, fire flow test fees

		Operating revenues		$   6,623,634		$   7,577,702		114%

		Non-operating revenues		$   49,000		$   (74,065)		-151%		Revenue sharing contra and investments and interest

		Transfers 		$   175,000		$   37,846		22%

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   2,578,420		$   - 0				Excess rev over exp plus budget in cap fund

		Total Revenue		$   9,251,054		$   7,541,483		82%



		Personnel & Benefits		$   2,679,929		$   2,356,060		88%

		Operating Expenses		$   3,524,145		$   2,822,855		80%

		Capital Expenses		$   1,898,054		$   1,073,284		57%

		Debt Payments		$   1,148,926		$   849,724		74%

		Total Expenses		$   9,251,054		$   7,101,923		77%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   439,560





















Capital Reserve Fund

		System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for Services		$   650,000		$   1,527,703		235%

		Other nonoperating revenues		$   2,500		$   4,595		184%		Interest and investment earnings

		Total Revenues		$   652,500		$   1,532,298		235%



		Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds		$   652,500		$   37,846		6%

		Net Gain/Loss				$   1,494,452



























Cates Farm Park

		Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent



		Cates Farm Park

		Transfer from General Fund		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Expenditures		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Fund Balance				$   - 0



		WRRF Renovation 

		Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund		$   583,000.00		$   583,000.00		100%

		Debt Proceeds		$   6,761,176.00		$   - 0		0%

		Total financing sources		$   7,344,176.00		$   583,000.00		8%

		Total Expenditures		$   7,344,176.00		$   555,285.00		8%

		Fund Balance				$   27,715.00
















Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results Amended Budge FY21 Actuals

Cates Farm Park

Transfer from General Fund S 680,961.00
Expenditures S 680,961.00
Fund Balance

WRRF Renovation

Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund S 583,000.00
Debt Proceeds $6,761,176.00
Total financing sources $7,344,176.00
Total Expenditures $7,344,176.00
Fund Balance

S 84,823.00
S 84,823.00

S -

$583,000.00
S -

$583,000.00
$555,285.00
S 27,715.00

% of Collected/Spent




Governmental Funds

		Fiscal Year 2020-2021

		Governmental Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Property Taxes		$   11,036,912.00		$   11,339,347.00		103%

		Unrestricted Intergovernmental		$   5,120,543		$   6,101,360		119%				Increase is due to sales tax which came in 19% higher than budgeted $801,057

		Restricted Intergovernmental		$   886,000		$   1,154,666		130%				Increase primarily due to the Cares Act Award for 187,904 that was not budgeted.		ABC law enforce 18,978 ABC Sur 13,270, state fire contribution 13,184, fed equitable sharing 18,880, Cares Act Award $187904																														ERROR:#VALUE!

		Permits and Fees		$   881,798		$   1,338,035		152%				Almost across the board all inspection and planning fees came in higher than budgeted with inspection fees coming in 66% higher than budgeted.

		Sales and Services		$   570,450		$   616,526		108%				Primarily Sanitation User Fees

		Miscellaneous		$   147,600		$   251,884		171%				Due to several small miscellaneous grants totaling $34,570 came in.

		Other taxes and licenses		$   1,000		$   955		96%

		Restricted Special Revenue 		$   - 0		$   14,300						Mebane Mills Loft Special Revenue Fund

		Investment earnings		$   20,000		$   52,436		262%				Earnings were better than anticipated.

		Operating Revenues		$   18,664,303		$   20,869,509		112%

		Debt Proceeds		$   1,939,070		$   430,500		22%				Debt for the Holt Street Greenway was included in the original budget, but the project was put on hold 

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   3,747,641		$   - 0		0%

		Total Revenues		$   24,351,014.00		$   21,300,009.00



		Personnel & Benefits		$   12,700,797		$   10,252,428		81%				Lapsed salaries.

		Operating Expenses		$   6,107,542		$   6,452,803		106%				Maintenance

		Capital Expenses		$   3,753,012		$   1,600,571		43%				Delays

		Debt Payments		$   1,699,663		$   1,450,732		85%				Did not take on as much debt as anticipated.

		Transfers		$   90,000		$   84,823		94%				Cates Farm Park Project Ordinance

		Total Expenses		$   24,351,014		$   19,841,357		81%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   1,458,652









		Unrestricted Intergovernmental
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Water and Sewer Funds

		Water and Sewer Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for services		$   5,933,600		$   6,828,761		115%		Water and sewer charges and taps

		Other operating revenues		$   690,034		$   748,941		109%		Surplus property, development fees, fire flow test fees

		Operating revenues		$   6,623,634		$   7,577,702		114%

		Non-operating revenues		$   49,000		$   (74,065)		-151%		Revenue sharing contra and investments and interest

		Transfers 		$   175,000		$   37,846		22%

		Fund Balance Appropriated		$   2,578,420		$   - 0				Excess rev over exp plus budget in cap fund

		Total Revenue		$   9,251,054		$   7,541,483		82%



		Personnel & Benefits		$   2,679,929		$   2,356,060		88%

		Operating Expenses		$   3,524,145		$   2,822,855		80%

		Capital Expenses		$   1,898,054		$   1,073,284		57%

		Debt Payments		$   1,148,926		$   849,724		74%

		Total Expenses		$   9,251,054		$   7,101,923		77%

		Net Gain/(Loss)				$   439,560





















Capital Reserve Fund

		System Development 
Capital Reserve Fund - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent

		Charges for Services		$   650,000		$   1,527,703		235%

		Other nonoperating revenues		$   2,500		$   4,595		184%		Interest and investment earnings

		Total Revenues		$   652,500		$   1,532,298		235%



		Transfers to the Water and Sewer Funds		$   652,500		$   37,846		6%

		Net Gain/Loss				$   1,494,452



























Cates Farm Park

		Capital Project Funds - FY21 Results		Amended Budget		FY21 Actuals		% of Collected/Spent



		Cates Farm Park

		Transfer from General Fund		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Expenditures		$   680,961.00		$   84,823.00		12%

		Fund Balance				$   - 0



		WRRF Renovation 

		Transfer from Water and Sewer Fund		$   583,000.00		$   583,000.00		100%

		Debt Proceeds		$   6,761,176.00		$   - 0		0%

		Total financing sources		$   7,344,176.00		$   583,000.00		8%

		Total Expenditures		$   7,344,176.00		$   555,285.00		8%

		Fund Balance				$   27,715.00
















FY21 Outstanding Debt

e Debt Portfolio remains well within
legal limits

* Governmental Activities $7.5 M
* Business-Type Activities $3.2M

* FY20 General Fund issued
S430,500 of debt for rolling stock

m Governmental Activities B Business-Type Activities




Thank you

The 6/30/21 ACFR is available on the City’s website at the following link:

www.cityofmebane.gov/city-financial-information/

Daphna Schwartz
Finance Director
Daphna.Schwartz@cityofmebane.com
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AUDIT PRESENTATION
TO THE CITY COUNCIL

For Year Ended June 30, 2021

December 6, 2021
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AUDIT HIGHLIGHTS

- Mebane’s 11" Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (CAFR)

» Unmodified Opinion
« An Audit is:

— Consideration of the system used to capture financial data
— Consideration of the Internal Controls
— Testing of Internal Controls

« Internal Control - No Findings
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COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

City of Mebane
Belmont

Elon

Graham
Fuquay Varina
Hillsborough

A Comparison of Fund Balance to
Sim”ar MuniCipalitieS (based on most recently

available statistics)

% of General

Fund Net

Expenditures
Unassigned Fund to Fund

Population Balance Balance
17,797 10,332,231 50.63%
15,010 3,976,994 29.42%

11,336 7,248,318 102.20%

17,157 9,138,317 66.00%
34,152 18,533,498 59.80%
9,660 6,438,825 59.96%
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Thank You to the Mebane City Council,
Chris Rollins, Preston Mitchell, Daphna
Schwartz, and their staff
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